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Chapter 1 – The Day Before - Wednesday, July 14,
 2010[bookmark: _Toc350174863]


 


Mistah B poured another cup of coffee and
returned to perusing the documents laid out on the kitchen table while sipping
the strong, black brew. It was a simple plan, practically child’s play, which
is what made it ingenuous. None of these complex, high-tech intricacies as seen
in big budget action flicks; no grappling hooks or sliding along taut cables
suspended from fancy pulley contraptions under the cloak of night, no
underground tunnels and precision drilling amidst invisible laser beam alarm
switches. This plan was a straight-forward, get in, get the stash, get out and
disappear kind of plan which Mistah B was certain could work flawlessly; as
long as none of the bumbling idiots on the crew screwed up.


To be fair, none had ever been involved in this
kind of job before but what they lacked in specific experience, most seemed to
make up in enthusiasm and determination. Though none were geniuses, some were
brighter than others and, despite the fact that a few had an attitude, all
seemed dedicated to get this project completed successfully. Money had a
tendency to motivate people like those in the crew, especially easy money.


A glance at the clock on the wall confirmed that
it was time to head to the day job. Most of the crew members would be busy
today, working on one task or another, acquiring or putting together what would
be needed for the big day and, hopefully studying the plan on their own as
well. They would all be gathering that evening for a final review and to
complete the last preparations because the job was going down in the morning.


 


* * * *


 


Louie ‘Bull’ Pellini awoke with a groan,
shielding his eyes with an arm from the fierce sunlight which streamed in
through the window.


“Why’s it so fucking bright in here?” he
muttered to the empty apartment.


Squinting, he realized that he had neglected to
close the blinds when he had gotten in around four o’clock that morning. Feeling
clammy and queasy, he took a couple of deep breaths then propped himself up on
both elbows to a semi-seated position. The room tilted somewhat as his stomach
lurched and his head spun and throbbed.


“Jesus fucking Christ,” the tall, stocky Italian
moaned, dropping back down to a horizontal position.


He broke out into a sweat and closed his eyes
again, not too tightly because that was painful, and resumed his deep breathing
in hopes that the waves of nausea would pass. They did, after several minutes,
and he made a second attempt, more successful this time, of sitting up on the
bed. Following a few more minutes, the room was barely moving at all and he
slowly turned and brought his feet to the floor, realizing that he was still
fully clothed, right down to the Frye boots he favoured.


Peering towards the nightstand, he noticed that
the clock radio was missing and vaguely remembered slapping it earlier when it
had gone off. His cell phone was handy, however, and he used it to verify the
time, 11:47. Damn, he’d been
sleeping for nearly eight hours and was not only hung over, he was still drunk.


Carefully standing as the room wavered once
again, he stumbled to the bathroom and washed down a half dozen Tylenol
caplets, slurping water from the tap. He then staggered back into the bedroom,
closed the blinds, crawled onto the mattress and took a much needed nap.


 


* * * *


 


Bill ‘Wheels’ Gallagher slowed the flatbed
tow-truck and turned onto the grounds of the Hilton Laval, heading directly to
the parking lot on the far side of the hotel. Once there, he drove at a crawl
between the rows of parked cars, scanning the vehicles to locate the one he was
looking for. Into the third row, he spotted it, a red Chevy Malibu with an Enterprise rental decal on the
rear bumper.


Wheels had grown up around cars. His father had
been a fourth rate, self-proclaimed mechanic with a dream of becoming a world
famous stock car driver. He had spent his adult working days in various auto
repair shops and service centres, mostly doing oil changes and patching flat
tires since he had never gotten around to getting any recognized training and
certification as a qualified mechanic. Evenings and weekends had been devoted
to working on junkers, attempting various engine modifications to boost horsepower
then entering them in small town track races where the engine invariably blew
following a few laps.


His father’s car mania had struck Wheels at an
early age but in a different fashion. By the time Wheels was sixteen, there
wasn’t many a vehicle which was safe from theft if he was intent on stealing
it. As auto manufacturers improved anti-theft systems, Wheels kept right up
with them and, eight years later, the five foot nine, wiry Irishman was still
devising methods to by-pass whatever new and improved security devices Detroit,
Japanese and European technology threw at him. Not willing to get too involved
in the major leagues, the vehicles he lifted ended up in chop shops or with
high-end exporters with Wheels receiving a fraction of their value.


He drove past the Malibu and stopped then shifted into reverse,
positioning the truck behind it. Hopping out, he got to work and five minutes
later, he was pulling out onto the road with the Malibu secured on the flatbed.


As he took the on-ramp from the Laurentian
Autoroute service road to Autoroute 440 eastbound, he activated the name-dial
function on his Bluetooth and said, “Julien Roy”. Following two rings, his call
was answered.


“Juice, I’ve got the cars,” he informed Roy. “A Dodge Caravan, a
Ford Fusion and a Chevy Malibu, all 2010s. Do your stuff.”


 


* * * *


 


Twenty-eight year old Julien ‘Juice’ Roy had had all the
opportunities in the world to study in a field of his choosing, obtain
employment in whatever field he chose and earn revenue commensurate to his
efforts and desires. His father was a successful lawyer, a partner with a large
firm for many years while his mother was the managing director of a profitable,
mid-sized accounting firm. Both had encouraged their son to decide what he
wanted to do in life and then to work hard to attain his goals.


Juice, though bright, was lazy and, having been
brought up in a household where whatever he wished he received, had never felt
the desire much to work hard at anything. This, with time, had led his parents
to forcefully suggest that Juice go out on his own as his days of milking them
was over. Juice, outraged by his parents’ attitude, had disowned them and
gravitated towards a life of non-violent petty crime, mostly in the
street-level marijuana and hashish market, where little effort usually
generated sufficient cash to pay for his share of the crappy apartment he lived
in with a couple of roommates plus the beer and dope he enjoyed.


He now strolled through the long-term parking at
Montreal’s Pierre Elliott Trudeau International Airport. Wearing khakis and a
dress shirt with a sports jacket draped over an overnight bag hanging from his
shoulder, the tall, lanky twenty-eight year old attracted no attention, looking
like a young manager returning from a business trip, in search of his car.


Within minutes, he spotted his first target, a
2010 Ford Fusion, parked in the next row. He casually scanned the area as he
sauntered over and confirmed that there was nobody close by or paying any
attention to him. Crouching down behind the Ford, he extracted a compact,
cordless screwdriver, attached the appropriate hex socket and quickly removed
the license plate.


“One down, two to go,” he said under his breath
as he slipped the plate into his bag and resumed his search.


 


* * * *


 


Gustavo ‘Goose’ Despada punched in the numeric
code and waited for the door to roll upwards then drove his dark green Mazda 3
Sport into the carwash.


Born in Toronto, shortly after his parents had immigrated to Canada from Portugal, Goose was the youngest
of three brothers and clearly the most troublesome. Run-ins with the law had
started in his early teens and had continued to occur on a regular basis, even
after he had completed training as a car-painting specialist and obtained
full-time employment in a reputable body shop. Four years earlier, at the age
of twenty-five, he had hastily resigned his job and moved to Montreal following a
particularly brutal bar brawl, fearing that he might actually end up in prison
for his actions. Thanks to some connections, he had since been practicing his
trade, both legally and illegally, in a number of body shops and chop-shops
around the city.


Over the next few minutes, the automated washing
system did its thing, sudsing the car and rinsing it with its high pressure jets.
Once the process was complete, Goose pulled out of the carwash, parked off to
one side and climbed out to inspect the vehicle which was now its original
attractive shade of gunmetal blue.


‘Works like a charm,’ he thought with a grin as
he slid his hard, stocky form back behind the wheel and drove away.


 


* * * *


 


Sam ‘Sparks’ Cohen clicked print and his HP
Color LaserJet 9500N started whirring then printed the first of two 11 x 17
inch banners on electrostatic film. Taking it from the tray, the short and
slender Sparks crossed the room and
pressed the banner against the window to test the quality of its adhesiveness.


“Perfect,” he murmured in approval. “That’ll
even stay on while we’re driving.”


Demonstrating high intelligence as a child, Sparks had dismayed his
parents when he had opted for trades, especially electronics, during his last
two years of high school. He had refused any further formal studies following
graduation, though he devoured endless quantities of information on his own
regarding all things technical. At the age of twenty-four, he now eked by with
a variety of free-lance jobs of both the legal and not so legal variety, often
related to computers and electronics.


He printed the second banner then got busy
making the ID tags, complete with official company logos, after which he
planned to review the wiring blueprints and photos one more time.


 


* * * *


 


Twenty-four year old Alain ‘Ben’ Benoit had
grown up in a tougher sector of Montreal North and, from a young age, had dabbled in
dope and cash running. Though not a member of the gang, partly due to the race
factor, he did have some ties with the local Korean Krew and was involved in
the occasional gang confrontation as a loyal wannabe who didn’t shy away from
violent situations; he was considered somewhat of a small-time tough guy. He
was also a likable one, however, and had gotten to know a number of mini-bosses
in the neighbourhood, enjoying the status boost it gave him when he was seen
chatting with one or another.


He left Gino’s Pizzeria through the back door,
carrying a jumbo pizza box, and hurried to his car parked next to Gino’s in the
alley. After popping the trunk and shoving the box inside, he hastened into the
car, fired up the engine and sped away, buckling his seat belt as he drove.


He began to relax a little more after a few
minutes as he got further away from the Italian’s place of business. Although
he had never had any problems with Gino, he had heard stories of the mobster’s
double crossing on occasion, especially if he got angry during a deal. Ben had
just tried some last minute haggling and had not enjoyed the way Gino had
looked at him, nor his explosive commentary.


Better safe than sorry, he continued to keep an
attentive eye on his rear view mirror but nothing indicated that anyone was
following him for a potential ambush. Nevertheless, he was pleased when he made
it home with the six Beretta Px4 Storm Compact pistols he had just purchased
without incident.


 


* * * *


 


Christine ‘Krystalle’ Lambert was in the middle
of her three song set when twenty-nine year old Shawn ‘Shade’ Williams entered
the Kitty Klub and chose a table just off the stage. He ordered a beer and
watched in amusement as Krystalle performed on stage through her final song,
demonstrating athletic abilities worthy of a professional gymnast much more
than that of a stripper. The twenty-four year old had, in fact, excelled in
high school gymnastics, but had not had the courage or emotional energy to
pursue her dreams, all of that being sapped by her sickly, alcoholic mother.


Dangling upside-down from the top of the pole
using only her legs, she finished her number by slowly sliding down to the
floor where she curled up in a foetal position. She rolled to her feet,
gathered her clothing then left the stage amidst raucous applause from the two
dozen patrons and headed to the dressing room. Minutes later, she emerged, clad
in a very short, very tight t-shirt and g-string, her work attire of the day
and made her way directly to Shade’s table.


Krystalle had met the ever-smiling, small-time
cannabis dealer, thief and scammer eighteen months earlier when he had
sauntered into the club during her set one night and they had seen each other
almost every day since.


“Howya doing, sugar?” the well-muscled Jamaican
asked after she kissed him rather intimately before sitting down. “Damn, you
look great up there. You should be working for the Cirque du Soleil instead of
in this dive. You’d be a star, girl.”


“Don’t I wish,” Krystalle grinned shyly then
answered his question. “I’m okay, I guess, but I’m kinda nervous about the job
tomorrow.”


“No reason to be nervous, baby. It’ll be a piece
of cake,” Shade reassured her. “We’ll review the plan one more time tonight and
then tomorrow, it’s gonna be in and out and a whole lot richer before you know
it. You’ll see.”


“I hope you’re right,” said Krystalle. “I just
have this uneasy feeling that something will screw up.”


“That’s just nerves, baby,” Shade smiled.
“You’ve seen the plan. What could go wrong?”


 


* * * *


 


“Hey there, sweetie,” said Chris Barry when his
wife answered the phone back home in Knowlton. “I wasn’t sure if you’d be there
or at the gallery.”


“No, it’s such a beautiful day that I decided to
let Andrea run the show,” Sandy replied. “In fact, I called Cathy and Dave is on vacation
so they’re on their way here for a few days.”


“Is that right?” Chris laughed. “I was going to
call the captain and his lovely wife to see if they were free for dinner
tonight.”


“Beat you to it,” Sandy teased. “How are your meetings going?”


“Very well, which is what I was expecting,”
Chris admitted. “Imperial National isn’t considered the top Canadian bank for
nothing. I’ve got one more meeting tomorrow morning at the main branch in Laval
and then I’ll be coming back home.”


“Will you be back for lunch?” Sandy asked. “We can wait for
you.”


“My meeting’s at nine thirty and should last a couple of hours so
I’ll most likely have lunch with Ian Howard afterwards,” Chris replied. “I’m
guessing I should be home by three.”


“Alrighty, I’ll see you then,” said Sandy. “Love you, honey, and
do stay out of trouble.”


“Love you back,” Chris grinned, “And, what kind
of trouble could I possibly get into?”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 2 – Plan Review – Wednesday
evening, July
 14, 2010[bookmark: _Toc350174864]


 


Bull exited off Autoroute 440 heading south on Industrial Boulevard and turned left onto Cunard Street in the heart of Laval’s main industrial park.
The warehouses and factories along the way were dark, the parking lots
deserted, except for the Provigo distribution centre where the evening shift
was busy loading dozens of semis for overnight deliveries to the grocery
chain’s supermarkets.


Cunard ended at Francis-Hughes Avenue where the
thirty-two year old Italian turned right, driving slowly as he searched in the
dimming light for the building where he was meeting the others. Mistah B had
clearly explained where it was located but Bull had not been paying close
attention, as was often the case when the obnoxious Mistah B spoke. A little
further on, a realtor’s sign came into view which somewhat jogged Bull’s
memory. Maybe, he had been paying attention a little after all.


Turning into the vacant building’s lot, he
examined the property as he drove at a crawl towards the rear. The windows at
the front had all been boarded up to keep vandals and other unsavoury
characters out. However, this had not had any deterring affect on local
graffiti artists who had used most of the visible walls and plywood as their
canvas over time. The pavement which covered the lot was cracked and potholed
and determined weeds had sprouted in victory through crevices everywhere.


He reached the back of the building and found
two elevated shipping docks as well as a regular garage door at ground level.
He rolled to a stop in front of the door as he pulled his cell phone from a
pocket and speed dialled a number.


“Yo, it’s me,” he announced when the call was
answered. “I’m at the back. How do I open the fucking door? - Okay.”


He flipped the phone shut and a moment later,
the door rolled upwards, allowing him access to the wide, empty interior of the
abandoned warehouse. He drove quickly inside and the heavy door rumbled back
down behind him.


“Just so you know, Mistah B’s pissed at you,
bro. You’re late,” Shade warned Bull as he climbed out of the Mitsubishi
Eclipse GT. “Nice wheels, by the way, brutha. Bet you B will be pissed about
that too.”


“Ask me if I give a fuck, Shade,” Bull sneered
at his dreadlocked friend. “The Mistah’s always pissed about something anyway.”


“It’s just that B had suggested we get
inconspicuous cars is all I’m saying,” Shade shrugged as he gestured towards
the Caravan, Fusion and Malibu parked in the
warehouse, some of the windows and chrome already masked with newspaper and
tape.


“Too fucking late now,” Bull grinned and winked.
“At least I’ll be driving something with balls under the hood. Ain’t nobody
gonna catch us, brutha.”


He followed the Jamaican towards a door leading
to some offices located at the front of the building and they soon entered a
large room which might have been an executive’s office or conference room in a
previous life. The others, seven of them, stood or sat around chatting, some
sipping from bottles of beer as they waited.


“If I remember correctly, I had said eight o’clock,” said Mistah B who sat
behind a folding card table on a matching chair.


“You should consider wearing boxers, Mistah B,”
Bull shot back with a grin. “The briefs you wear are squeezing your cojones and
making you too uptight.”


Mistah B stared at the tall, stocky Italian for
a moment before resuming in a quiet tone. “You think you’re fucking funny,
Bull? Can you hear everyone laughing at your brilliant wit? Everybody else was
here at least half an hour ago, you goddamned prima donna. We have work to do
and plans to go over in order to be certain that we’re ready for tomorrow. None
of us has ever done a job like this before, ever, and that definitely includes
you, Mister fucking comedian. I don’t want any fuck-ups and your fucking
attitude might very well result in precisely that, a fuck-up. This is a fucking
team effort and everybody has to pull their weight, and that also definitely
includes you. Capisce, Bull?”


Bull glared back at Mistah B then glanced around
the room at the others. Some looked back at him while others gazed off into
space with bored expressions but none were smiling.


“Okay, sorry, everyone,” Bull raised his hands
in surrender. “I’m sorry for being late and for trying to lighten up the mood.
Not to worry, there won’t be any fuck-ups because of me tomorrow. There won’t
be any fuck-ups, period. By the way, where are the big boys? Are they late
too?”


“As I told the others before you got here,
Maurice and Christian decided that this was a little too heavy for them.
Besides, I think that the eight of you will be enough to do the job. In fact,
ten people would be too many.” Mistah B replied. “Should we suddenly need
Maurice and Christian’s help for something, they’ll be on stand-by and will do
whatever we need them to do for much less than an even cut. Any other questions
that I might have answered before you arrived or can we get started?”


“Nah, I’m good,” said Bull as he cranked open a
beer.


“Pleased to hear it,” Mistah B responded with
sarcasm then stood and started pacing. “First things first, I’ve received
confirmation of the Brink’s delivery in the morning at nine, one hour before
the bank opens.”


“Do you know how much it’ll be?” asked Krystalle.


Mistah B turned slowly to look at each of the
eight others in room with a smile, ending with Krystalle. “How does two point
five million sound?”


“Two point five million dollars?” Sparks exclaimed. “Jesus
Christ, that’s more than twice what you had originally estimated.”


“The original number I had suggested was back in
the spring,” Mistah B explained, still smiling. “Now, we’re right at the peak
of the summer vacation period and tomorrow’s payday with tens of thousands of
people going off on vacation on Friday. That translates into a lot of required
cash.”


Mistah B let the amount sink in with the others
for a moment then returned to the card table.


“Okay, people, you now know what the prize we’re
aiming for is so, let’s keep going. We have a plan to review as we want no
mistakes.”


The eight others approached as Mistah B unfolded
a large scale satellite map of their area of concern and laid it out on the
table.


“Let’s start with equipment,” Mistah B
continued. “Guns?”


Ben reached back for a pizza box and opened it
with a flourish, proud of his acquisition.


“Voilà,” he said as he displayed the contents to
the others.


“You’ve only got six,” stated Mistah B with a
cold gaze.


“I don’t mind not having one,” Krystalle
offered.


“Same here,” Juice agreed without hesitation.


“Everyone has got to have a gun and everyone is
going to have one,” insisted Mistah B. “How the hell do you plan to intimidate
anyone otherwise? Through persuasive conversation?”


“Relax, there are guns for everybody,” explained
Ben. “Bull and Goose told me they’d supply their own.”


Mistah B turned to Goose and Bull. “You two are
good with guns?”


Both men nodded and Mistah B continued. “Good. Next,
the bomb.”


“I’ve got it in the car,” Bull confirmed. “Want
me to go get it?”


“Not unless you feel you need an opinion,” Mistah
B replied.


“I worked with Louie to put the thing together,”
Sparks spoke up. “It’ll work.”


“What do you mean by, ‘It’ll work’?” asked Ben
with concern. “Do you mean it might blow up?”


“It’s a dud, Ben, a fake,” Bull laughed. “It
just looks very convincing. Take it easy, dude. Killing ourselves is not part
of the plan.”


“Moving on to the subject of cars,” Mistah B
stepped in and forged ahead. “I commend you for an excellent inventory
selection, Wheels.”


Their car theft expert nodded and smiled at the
compliment. “You said reliable and invisible so that’s what you got.”


Mistah B turned to Bull. “You did look after
getting the fourth car?”


Bull nodded and Shade smirked.


“Is something funny?” snapped Mistah B. “Do
share because I’d like to know what it is.”


“Ain’t nothing funny about a fucking
glow-in-the-dark-orange Eclipse, right Bull?” Shade snorted, causing at least
half the group to smile, however involuntarily.


“It’s not fucking glow-in-the-dark-orange,” Bull
mimicked as Mistah B glared at him once again. “It’s more like bright copper.
Anyhow, it won’t even be that once we’ve painted the damned thing. You’ll
hardly notice it.”


Mistah B stared up at the ceiling for a moment
before continuing. “Next on the list is paint and plates.”


“All set with paint,” said Goose. “One hundred
percent water based and it comes off really nicely in your regular high
pressure car wash even after a couple of days. I tested the three colours;
charcoal, dark green and brown and they all cover perfectly and come off well.”


“And we’re covered for plates,” added Juice. “At
least for the cars that Wheels got us. I lifted plates from same model cars at
the long-term parking at Trudeau Airport.”


“We’re good for the Eclipse too,” said Bull in
an attempt to redeem himself. “I switched plates with another Eclipse after I
stole the one I got.”


“Glad that you’re thinking sometimes,” muttered Mistah
B before addressing the group once more. “Next are disguises. Cameras will be
off once you’re inside the bank but there will be witnesses so, change your
appearances but don’t come in looking like clowns.”


“We’re on it, boss,” Shade grinned. “I’m gonna
be a white boy.”


“Last item is keys,” said Mistah B, ignoring the
comment and associated chuckles while reaching into a pocket to pull out a
handful of keys for distribution. “When you enter the bank, you’ll lock the
doors behind you but, be careful. My guy sawed through these keys a bit so that
they’ll snap more easily. On the way out, you’ll be relocking from the outside
and snapping the keys in the lock. Good so far?”


All nodded and Mistah B moved on. “Now, I want
to hear about the plan, in chronological order. The floor is yours.”


“Krystalle and I will be arriving at around nine
to make sure we get a parking spot here near the front door,” said Goose,
tapping the location on the map. “That’s the door we’ll be using to go in at ten.”


“Me and Ben will be doing the same thing as far
as parking goes,” Wheels volunteered, “But we’ll be going in through the mall
entrance to the bank.”


“And Shade and me will be parking here at
Carrefour Laval,” said Bull, pointing on the map to the major shopping complex
across the street, “But we’ll be cutting through the mall to come in by the
back door of the bank when it opens.”


“So far, so good,” Mistah B nodded. “Sparks?”


Sparks stepped forward. “Juice and I will be using the
Caravan. I’ve got electrostatic decals for the van that will go on and come off
real easy. I also made ID tags for both of us and even got us some work shirts
and pants at Walmart. I also thought of making these this afternoon. We can
slap these suckers in the doors once we’re in, to handle any curious
customers.”


He handed Mistah B three eight and a half by
eleven inch electrostatic films on which, below the bank’s logo, was printed,


 


Temporarily closed due
to network problems.


We apologize for any
inconvenience.


 


“Good thinking, and very professional work,” Mistah
B nodded in approval. “Go on.”


 “We’ll be parking right here behind the
building, near the back door,” Sparks continued. “It’s an area restricted to visitors,
maintenance contractors and delivery vehicles dealing with the bank. I’ll be
going in with Juice at nine
 forty-five
to look at the faulty A/C in the computer room which is also where the telecom
and alarm lines come in. I looked over the blueprints and the pics and it’s a
no-brainer as long as they’re expecting us at the bank.”


“Everything is set,” Mistah B confirmed. “I’ve
arranged for the A/C to malfunction in there and you’re listed on the
maintenance roster for an appointment between nine-thirty and ten.”


“Then it’s easy,” Sparks smiled. “At ten, just as the doors are
opening, all communication and security lines will be cut.”


“What’s next?” Mistah B quizzed the group.


“We each come in by our assigned door,” Bull
took the lead as he spread a floor plan of the bank on the table. “While one of
us blocks the view, the other one relocks the door and puts up those signs
Sparks made. Then one person stays closer to each of the doors while the others
move to the customer service area. I pull out the bomb and say my spiel while
the others gather everyone inside together. Sparks and Juice will make sure
that anyone in the back comes up front and Goose and Wheels will go up to empty
the management offices on the mezzanine level. We’ll be asking everyone for
their cell phones.”


“It’s sounding pretty smooth to date,” said Mistah
B. “How are you going to get the vault open?”


Bull grinned at the group as he tapped on the
floor plan. “Ian Howard, the bank director’s office is here and Simon Chase,
the assistant director’s is the next one, here. Once everyone’s together
downstairs, these two guys will open the vault, we take the money and the job
is done. The bomb stays with a warning that we’ll set it off if anyone tries to
mess with it or tries to leave the bank in the fifteen minutes after we leave.
Everybody goes out by the door they came in through except Shade and me. We’ll
be going out through the front door with Goose and Krystalle. We lock the doors
on our way out and snap the keys in the locks.”


Bull put the floor plan aside and indicated on
the map once more. “Once we’re in our cars, Shade and I will head north on
Daniel Johnson to the 440, Goose and Krystalle go south; Sparks and Juice go west on
Carrefour and Wheels and Ben head east. If any of us has a chance to run
through a carwash quick along the way, we do it, otherwise, we’ll pressure wash
the cars here. Any questions?”


“What if it rains?” Shade taunted.


“Nothing but clear skies in the forecast,” was Mistah
B’s curt response.


“What about other customers who are there for
the opening?” asked Wheels.


“Customer traffic is usually light at that
time,” Mistah B replied. “However, any such customers who might get in will
simply have an exciting story to tell over dinner tomorrow night. Anything
else?”


The question was answered by indifferent shrugs
and the shaking of heads.


“Excellent. Now, we’ve got some cars to paint.
Let’s go.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 3 – Thursday morning, July 15, 2010[bookmark: _Toc350174865]


 


With a population of approximately three hundred
seventy thousand, the city of Laval is the third largest municipality in the province of Quebec and Montreal’s largest suburb,
located directly north across the Des Prairies River. Though Laval does not have a downtown core per se, anyone’s
guess would be the quad delimited by Autoroute 440 to the north, Autoroute 15
to the east, St-Martin
  Boulevard
to the south and Chomedey
  Boulevard
to the west. Within and in close proximity to this sector, an estimated
thirty-five thousand or more were employed in various office towers, hotels,
car dealerships, restaurants, not to mention Carrefour Laval, a sprawling three
hundred plus store shopping complex as well as several municipal and provincial
office buildings, a couple of high schools and numerous warehouses and
manufacturing plants.


To the west of Carrefour Laval, across Daniel Johnson
  Boulevard
which bisected the quad north to south, was the city’s main branch of the
Imperial National Bank where Chris Barry had a nine thirty meeting with its director, Ian Howard.


Barry had made his fortune some thirteen years
earlier when his employer, a solid and progressive firm in the field of
computer security development, had been acquired in a friendly takeover
transaction. As Chief Operating Officer and second in command, his holdings of
company stock and options had translated into over half a billion dollars once
the deal was complete. Though only thirty-five at the time, Chris had decided
not to take on subsequent employment or start up any type of going concern. He
had however remained active and respected in the world of business, sitting on
the boards of a number of well-known corporations and other organizations.


Having recently been elected to serve on the
Imperial National Bank’s board of directors, Chris had booked one-on-one
meetings with the heads of several of Imperial National’s major branches across
the country in order to get a better sense of the bank at the operations level.
His meeting with Howard was his last in the Greater Montreal area before a two
week cross-Canada trip to Toronto, Winnipeg, Regina, Edmonton, Calgary and Vancouver.


With more people off on vacation at the height
of the summer, traffic was light as Chris made his way from Nun’s Island on Montreal’s south side, where he
and Sandy kept a penthouse condominium as a place to stay when in the city.
What often would have been an hour’s drive to cross Montreal on Autoroute 15
took under half and hour and, as a result, Chris was pulling his Lexus LFA
sports coupe into a visitor’s slot of the reserved parking area behind the bank
at nine fifteen.


“Quite an impressive set of wheels you have
there, Mister Barry,” someone called out as Chris was climbing out of the car.


He turned towards the voice and recognized Ian
Howard whom he had met at a corporate function a few weeks earlier. “Hi Ian.
Yeah, one of my weaknesses, I guess. Some people like opera, others, football.
As for me, I like sports cars. My wife cringes when I mention some new model I
like because I invariably end up buying it.”


They chatted about the vehicle for a couple of
minutes while Howard, a car aficionado himself, examined it in detail then
headed into the bank. Having ushered Chris into a conference room on the second
floor mezzanine, Howard went off to the bank’s staff lunch room to get them a
requisite cup of coffee after which they started to discuss their official
business.


 


* * * *


 


“I have to admit that this baby is a blast to
drive,” said Shade as he parked the now dark brown Eclipse in the shopping mall
parking lot across from the bank.


“Yeah, well gimme the keys now,” Bull demanded,
“Cuz I’m driving when we get the fuck outta here.”


“I don’t know that you really should be driving,
dude,” was Shade’s response. “After all the beer you were drinking last night,
you’re probably still drunk.”


“Aww, gimme a break, will you?” Bull muttered as
he pulled out a hip flask and took a swig. “I’m fine, I didn’t drink that much
and I slept it off, okay?”


“Whatever you say, bro,” Shade sighed as he
shook his head and handed the keys over. “Just go easy on the sauce this morning,
will you?”


“Yeah, yeah,” Bull scoffed. “I told you that I’m
fine so lay off with the damned advice.”


“Fine, Bull, but you just better not fuck up in
there,” Shade warned. “And fix your goddamned moustache. It’s stuck on
crooked.”


 


* * * *


 


The previously blue, now dark green Ford Fusion
backed into the closest parking spot to the bank’s front door.


“Best seat in the house,” Goose joked as he cut
the engine.


“This is a handicapped spot,” mentioned an
uneasy Krystalle. “We don’t want to attract any more attention to us than we
have to. What if we get towed while we’re in the bank?”


“Ta-Dam,” Goose sang as he pulled out a handicap
permit and hung it on the rear-view mirror. “Now, I’m handicapped. You’re
shaky, eh, kiddo?”


“This is scaring the crap out of me, Goose,” Krystalle
admitted. “How can we be sure that we thought of everything? What if something
goes wrong?”


“What could go wrong?” Goose challenged. “We go
in, they give us the money and we get the hell away from here. End of story.”


“But, how can you be so sure?” Krystalle
insisted. “You’ve never done anything like this. None of us have.”


“I may have never robbed a bank, sweetie,” Goose
replied with confidence, “But I’ve done some shit that was a lot riskier than
this job for a lot less. We had all the information we needed to plan this
right and Mistah B is sure we’ll pull it off. Just relax, okay? This’ll be easy
as pie.”


Krystalle gave him a nervous smile. “If you say
so.”


“I say so,” he confirmed with a wink, “And, by
the way, you’re a knockout as a blonde.”


 


* * * *


 


“Goose and Krystalle are here already,” Ben
noticed as Wheels pulled the brown Malibu into the front parking lot. “The fucker got a
handicap permit.”


“Big fucking deal,” Wheels shot back as he
backed into a regular spot, two away from the Ford Fusion. “So, we’ll have to
walk an extra fifteen feet.”


“Whoa, easy,” Ben replied, raising his hands in
mock surrender. “I wasn’t bitching or nothing. I think that was smart of Goose,
that’s all. What are you so fucking uptight about?”


“We’re about to take a bank for two and a half
mil,” said Wheels. “Yeah, I’m a little edgy.”


He turned off the engine and was gazing through
the windshield to where the Eclipse was parked in the lot across the street
when he heard the flick of a cigarette lighter, followed by the pungent odour
of marijuana smoke.


“Want a toke?” Ben offered the joint.


Wheels waved it away. “I want to keep my head
straight.”


“Suit yourself,” said Ben before pulling another
lungful of smoke then rasping, “But this shit would really take that edge off.”


 


* * * *


 


It was nine forty-six when the charcoal Dodge Caravan from VenTech,
with Juice at the wheel, rolled to a stop in the reserved parking near the rear
entrance of the Imperial National Bank.


“Pull up into that spot there,” suggested Sparks as he pointed to a
Lexus LFA. “Next to that sports bomb.”


“What difference does it make?” Juice muttered,
his nerves affecting his usual easy-going demeanour.


“If you park there,” Sparks explained, “Nobody can
park in front of you. It’ll make getting out of here that much easier. You
cool, man?”


Yeah, just jittery, I guess,” Juice admitted as
he moved up to the suggested spot. “Did you notice if the other cars were there
when we drove by in front?”


“They were, all three,” Sparks confirmed. “We’re all set
to go with this, Juice. Don’t start freaking on us now.”


“Don’t worry, dude,” Juice smiled bleakly. “It’s
all gonna be good.”


Sparks eyed his partner for a moment then grinned. “Alright,
then. Let’s go investigate that A/C problem. But come and check out this car
first. I’ve never seen this kind of Lexus before. It’s kick-ass.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 4 - 10:00 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174866]


 


“Right through here,” said IT Coordinator, Eric Robillard
as he entered the computer room followed by Juice and Sparks, “I’m not sure what the
problem is but I’m thinking it might be the thermostat because the compressor
seems to be working fine.”


Sparks turned towards the short, thin, bespectacled
man and snorted. “Are you an A/C expert? If you are, why didn’t you just fix
the damned thing yourself?”


In reaction to Sparks’ words, Robillard started to reply.


“Well, uh, no but, now listen here for a minute.
Wha…” he managed to say before a heavy blow to the back of the head knocked him
to the ground, unconscious.


“Shut the fuck up. We know what we’re doing,”
muttered Juice as he tossed the heavy pipe wrench back into the toolbox before
looking at Sparks with determination.
“Cut those wires, dude. Let’s get this over with before I puke.”


 


* * * *


 


“… Which represents an increase in gross
earnings of… Oh, what happened there?” said a puzzled Howard.


He had been showing Chris a PowerPoint
presentation from the intranet of the last quarter results and the screen had
suddenly gone blank save for a message indicating that there was no
connectivity to the network. After unsuccessfully trying to refresh the page a
couple of times, he verified the wireless router in the corner of the room and
found only the power indicator lit; all the WAN and LAN indicators were off.


“I’m sorry, Chris. We seem to have lost our
connection to the network,” he explained as he reached for a phone on the
conference table. He opened a line then replaced the receiver as he shook his
head. “That’s strange. The phones are down too. Let me go see what’s going on.
I’ll be back in a minute.”


“No problem,” Chris agreed, reaching for a
report to review while he waited.


Howard exited the conference room, leaving the
door ajar an inch or two and went down to the main floor to investigate.


 


* * * *


 


“Good morning, Sweets,” said Leslie Robb as she
strode into the lunch room. “Great, you made coffee.”


“Hi, Les,” Gina Tomasso smiled. “No, Mister
Howard made the coffee this morning.”


“Isn’t he the nicest boss you’ve ever had?”
Leslie commented. “I just love working for that man.”


“So do I,” Gina agreed, “Though Simon thinks
Mister Howard is too soft.”


“That’s cuz Simon has a permanent dildo up his
butt,” Leslie whispered.


“Sshhh, Les,” Gina giggled. “Simon could walk in
and hear you.”


“I doubt that very much,” Leslie grinned. “The
man only hears himself.”


“You’ve got a point,” Gina agreed before
changing the subject. “So, are you still game for some fun at the beach in
Tremblant this weekend?”


“Actually, I had another thought last night and
took some liberties to make sure we got a spot,” Leslie replied. “We’re going
to Plattsburgh instead. They still
have the campground right on the beach so I booked us for tomorrow and
Saturday.”


“That sounds great. I haven’t been…” Gina
started then stopped suddenly as she stared behind Leslie, her eyes open wide.


Leslie turned around to see a short, thin man
wearing blue work clothes, a baseball cap and large, horn-rimmed glasses
standing in the doorway with a pistol in his hand.


“Would you ladies come with me?” Sparks asked, “Immediately,
please.”


 


* * * *


 


Like clockwork, Head Customer Service Associate,
Sara Bergeron, inserted the Medeco key at precisely ten o’clock and unlocked the front
door of the Imperial National Bank, Daniel Johnson branch, for another day of
business. While she was performing this activity, Customer Service Associates
Louise Cyr and Annette Laurier were doing likewise at the mall entrance and
rear door. As each of the three were returning to the main customer service
area, a pair of customers entered by each of the three entrances, all lingering
for a moment before one from each of the twosomes moved into the bank while
their partners stayed back closer to the doors.


Of the three who made their way into the
customer service area, one walked up to a central island counter, normally
intended for customer use for cheque endorsement and deposit slip completion,
on which he deposited a gym bag. He proceeded to open the bag and withdrew an
object, a steel pipe of sorts, some eighteen inches long and four inches in
diameter. The pipe was capped at both ends and several wires protruding from
holes drilled into the pipe were connected to a small black box affixed to the
contraption with electrical tape.


“Good morning, ladies and gentlemen,” Bull
stated in a loud, clear voice. “Can I have your attention please? I have a very
important announcement to make.”


As he spoke, the other five people who had
entered, one woman and four men, each withdrew a hand gun which they pointed
casually in the general direction of the customer service associates who had
clustered by the service counter.


“What I have here is a pipe bomb,” their
spokesperson continued, holding up the explosive device before setting it on
the counter. “As you may have already guessed, this is a bank robbery. We don’t
want anyone to get hurt but we do intend to pull this off successfully. For
that to happen, all you have to do is behave yourselves and do what we ask. If
you follow those simple rules, we’ll be out of your hair before you know it.”


“What the hell is going on here?” Ian Howard
bellowed, taking in the scene as he rushed down the stairs from the mezzanine.


Krystalle, who was closest to the stairs, turned
her pistol on him and ordered, “Get over there with the rest of them.”


In the meantime, Sparks and Juice appeared through a doorway on
the opposite side of the customer service counter, preceded by two women who
were helping support a small man. All three were visibly shaken and the man had
blood splatters on his shirt. The two gunmen ushered the three through a gate
leading to the customer side of the service counter. While this was taking
place, Goose and Wheels were heading up the stairs to the mezzanine level to
check the management offices and other rooms above.


“I would ask everyone to line up along the
counter and to get out any cell phones or pagers,” Bull instructed. “I don’t
suggest that anyone try to keep any kind of communication device hidden
somewhere cuz that will just make me angry. Just all play nice, cooperate and
we’ll be on our merry way in no time.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 5 - 10:02 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174867]


 


As Chris reviewed the bank branch’s performance
report, he became aware of loud voices from the floor below. Crossing the room
and glancing out from the slightly opened door, he saw two men hurrying up the
stairs across the way, both with guns in their hands. Dropping the report on
the table, he looked around for some place to hide and hastened across the room
to a large wooden armoire. Opening the doors, he was relieved to see that it
was mostly empty. He stepped inside, pulled the doors closed and waited.


 


* * * *


 


As much as Chris was revered in the corporate
world, there existed a darker side to him of which very few people were aware.
A victim of physical abuse by the hand of a violent stepfather as a child,
something had finally snapped at the age of ten when he had secretly witnessed
the man raping his fifteen year old sister. The rage had smouldered beneath the
surface, intensifying over the years until it screamed for release.


Barry, by then a successful management
professional approaching his mid-thirties, had controlled this fury and channelled
it by night, his victims, solely violent offenders who somehow had always
managed to remain under the radar of law and justice. A kind of
self-administered therapy, he had performed these duties of judge, jury and
executioner for a time, each activity of vengeance for the pain of others
helping to lessen the firmly rooted distress within him.


His major spree of vigilantism had ended about
seven months after it had started, following a couple of final events. The
first was the death, by Barry’s hand, of Jean Picard, the violent ex-stepfather
who had beat him and raped his elder sister years earlier. The second was
somewhat more complex and was executed over a lengthy period of time, all
planned to reach the desired culmination point.


Through careful orchestration, Barry had framed
Carl Denver, one of his employees, for the series of Vigilante killings. As a
teenager, Denver had been involved in
the murder of the father of Chris’ wife, Sandy, so the punishment was deemed to
fit the crime. As his arrest became imminent, Denver, who had been embezzling
funds on a grand scale through a computer networking scheme, committed suicide,
never knowing of Barry’s set-up against him.


Though the Vigilante case had been officially
closed, with Denver clearly the culprit,
one person had subsequently shown interest and had unofficially reviewed the
investigative files to determine that Chris had most likely been the true
killer. That person was Jonathan Addley, a high level government official who
headed a clandestine group known by very few as ‘Discreet Activities’.


Following his investigation, Addley had
approached Barry in hopes of recruiting him, having recognized the man’s
impressive skills as an asset for the type of work his organization was
involved in. Chris had accepted the unusual employment offer and, as a result,
the two men had worked together on countless covert assignments for more than
thirteen years, in addition to becoming close friends.


 


* * * *


 


The first office, that of Ian Howard, was empty,
but Goose found Assistant Director, Simon Chase, in his office in a meeting
with Senior Loans Officer, Erin Ramsey. As he escorted the two distraught
managers out at gunpoint, Wheels continued along the mezzanine, shoving open
doors as he went but finding the other offices to be deserted. He reached the
last room and could see through the crack in the doorway that the lights were
on. Pushing the door open with his foot, he stepped inside but saw no one.


As he was about to leave, he noticed the open
laptop as well as two of the chairs which had been pulled away from the table
at the far end. Scanning the room once more, his gaze came to rest upon a large
wooden cabinet on the wall opposite the door. Taking no chances, he crossed the
room without a sound and yanked open one of the cabinet doors but found it
empty. He pulled the other door open with his foot and doubly confirmed that no
one was hiding in there. Satisfied, he turned around just in time to receive a
solid punch right between the eyes, knocking him out cold.


“Good thing I opted out of the closet and hid
behind the door, eh, buddy?” Chris murmured as he slipped the man’s gun into
his jacket pocket.


He glanced out the doorway, confirming that no
one else was nearby before closing the door anew. Hurrying back, he crumpled up
a couple of sheets of paper which he stuffed into the bandit’s mouth then
grabbed an extension cord out of the cabinet and tied the man’s hands behind
his back. With nothing suitable to bind the robber’s ankles, he untied the
man’s work boots and knotted the laces of both tightly together before stuffing
him into the cabinet. He secured the cabinet doors shut by wrapping an Ethernet
cable through the two door handles.


Glancing out onto the mezzanine again, he pulled
out his cell phone and speed dialled a number. “Jon, it’s Chris and we’ve got a
problem.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 6 - 10:06 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174868]


 


“François Duguay,” announced the Regional
Commander of the Quebec Provincial Police as he answered the phone.


“Hi François, Jonathan Addley. I just got a call
from an associate who’s at the Imperial National Bank on Daniel Johnson in Laval. There’s a robbery in
progress but the robbers don’t know he’s in there.”


“Do you have any details?” asked Duguay, waving
his assistant into his office.


“So far, all I know is that my associate has put
one of the robbers out of commission,” Jon replied. “He had no further details
but he’ll be working at finding out more and will be keeping me posted.”


“I’ll contact our Laval detachment and the Laval police headquarters,”
Duguay informed him. “I’ll let you know who’s running the show as soon as I
can. Keep me posted until then if you here anything else.”


“Will do, François,” Addley confirmed. “I’m
heading over there now. You can reach me on my cell.”


“Very well, Jon,” Duguay agreed. “Tell your man
to be careful.”


“I’ll pass on your message, but he can look
after himself,” was Addley’s response.


 


* * * *


 


“So, it’s all pretty simple, gentlemen,” Bull
addressed Ian Howard and Simon Chase. “You open the vault, we take what we need
and leave, you wait fifteen minutes and then you can break the windows to get
out of here for all I care.”


“Over my dead body,” Chase snarled, almost
foaming at the mouth in rage.


“Be careful what you wish for, tough guy,” Goose
warned as he raised his gun.


“Take it easy, Simon,” Howard cautioned his
subordinate. “I don’t want anyone to get hurt here. The bank has insurance.”


“And what are these morons going to do if we
refuse?” Chase barked at his superior. “Blow us up, and themselves in the
process?”


“We can always shoot you, asshole,” Goose
snorted back, his large revolver still trained on Chase.


“Go ahead,” the assistant director challenged.
“If you do, I’ll be sure you can’t get into the vault, asshole.”


“I’m sure that we can get you to change your
mind, Mister Chase,” said Bull before turning to Goose. “Go see what the hell
is holding Wheels up, will you? I’ll deal with our stubborn little friend
here.”


As Goose stomped off towards the stairs,
muttering under his breath as he went, Bull reached out and grabbed customer
service head, Sara Bergeron, by the arm, yanking her close to him as he pulled
his gun out.


“Turns out that you’re right, Mister Chase,” he
said as he pressed the gun barrel against Sara’s temple, his arm now locked
around her neck. “Shooting you would not serve our purpose at all because we do
need both you and Mister Howard here to get into the vault. Now, this fine
lady, on the other hand, is really of no use to us, is she? No use at all. That
means I could blow her brains out and you’d still be here, alive and well, to
open the vault for us. Am I right? So, what do you say?”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 7 - 10:08 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174869]


 


Having looked into the other offices and finding
them all empty, Goose reached the conference room and peered inside, noting
that it vacant as well. Puzzled, he scanned the room and was about to leave but
stopped suddenly as he noticed the wire wrapped around the handles of the
cabinet doors.


“What the fuck is that about?” he murmured as he
headed towards the cabinet to investigate.


He had made it halfway across the room when
something whipped down across his face and wrapped tightly around his neck.
Dropping his gun by reflex, he clawed at his neck, trying to relieve the
choking pressure but to no avail. He tried to kick out backwards but failed to
make contact with whoever was garrotting him. As panic and lack of oxygen
started to take their toll, he viciously jabbed an elbow backwards and made
solid contact with his attacker’s ribs.


“That hurt, you bastard,” his assailant grunted
before crooking a leg in front of Goose’s ankles and sweeping his feet
backwards from under him, pitching him forward.


As the carpeted floor came rushing at his face,
Goose felt an incredible snapping pain in his neck for a fraction of a second
and then felt nothing at all.


 


* * * *


 


“Fuck,” Chris muttered as he pulled his necktie
from around the man’s neck and checked his pulse, finding none.


He hadn’t intended to kill the robber, just
incapacitate him, but the strain to the neck had proven to be too great as the
man fell.


‘That’s two down but how many left to go?’ Chris
wondered. ‘I’ll have to find out somehow but it’s time to make myself scarce
for a while.’


 He climbed onto the table, pushed an acoustic
tile aside and peered into the gloom beyond. As he had hoped and expected in
such a multi-level, commercial structure, a decent crawl space existed between
the suspended ceiling and the concrete slab above and enough supporting steel
beams were present to allow him to circulate within amidst the ventilation
ducts and various cables. Grasping onto one such beam, he hoisted himself into
the ceiling and out of sight.


 


* * * *


 


A dozen officers rushed out into the parking lot
at the City of Laval
  Police Headquarters
located at the north end of Chomedey Boulevard. Within seconds, with engines gunning and tires
screaming, they were on their way to the Imperial National Bank, located some
two minutes away, as other officers poured from the building in a rush to join
their departing colleagues.


 


* * * *


 


As the call from dispatch came through, Quebec
Provincial Police unit 6161 was heading south on Autoroute 15 near the Dagenais Boulevard overpass. The car
accelerated and changed lanes to the right for the upcoming exit onto the
service road. By cutting through the parking lot at Carrefour Laval, the unit
would reach the bank within a couple of minutes.


At the same time, Q.P.P. unit 6219 was heading
east on Autoroute 440 approaching the Chomedey Boulevard exit. The vehicle sped
along the off-ramp with lights flashing but no siren and onto Des Bois Avenue at twice the posted
speed limit. It would be at the bank in less than a minute.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 8 - 10:10 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174870]


 


“So, what will it be, Mister Chase?” asked Bull
as he caressed the trigger of his revolver, the muzzle still pressed firmly
against Sara’s temple. “And, don’t forget that there are others after this
one.”


Sara Bergeron remained completely motionless in
Bull’s grip, her face etched in fear as she stared wide-eyed at her bosses.


“That’s blackmail, you lousy bastard,” Chase snarled.
“You’re nothing more than a two-bit terrorist. I’ll cooperate and open the
damned vault but I hope that you rot in hell.”


“I knew that we could reach an agreement,” Bull
replied with a grin.


“Uh-oh, I think we have a problem,” Krystalle
called out from where she was posted near the front door.


Bull’s smile disappeared as he glanced over then
released Sara, shoving her back towards the other hostages before approaching
the bank’s front entrance. Two Laval police cars were haphazardly parked in front of the bank,
their occupants already out, donning Kevlar vests and readying firearms. As he
watched, another two cars, these from the Q.P.P., pulled up on the opposite
side of the boulevard. Glancing north then south, he could see more cruisers
getting into position to block traffic along Daniel Johnson in front of the
bank.


“What the fuck is that about?” he yelled,
dumbfounded as to how the cops could have been alerted so quickly.


“Ah, shit, man,” Shade bellowed from the rear
door. “We have cops back here.”


“Here too,” Ben reported from his entrance. “A
shit-load of them are coming into the mall.”


“Close the blinds,” Bull ordered. “Jesus Fucking
Christ.”


He stomped back to the hostages, glaring at them
as he approached. “Who fucking tipped off the cops?”


He stared at each of them in turn with his arm
outstretched, pointing his revolver at their faces, but no one replied.


“Who was it?” he screamed in frustration then
turned to Juice. “Frisk them. If anyone of them still has a cell phone on them,
blow their fucking brains out.”


“He is not touching the ladies,” Simon Chase
barked. “That’s for hell sure.”


“You are really starting to get on my nerves,
Mister,” Bull growled, aiming his gun at the assistant director’s face once
again.


The two men stood in a visual face-off for a
moment until Bull lowered the gun.


“Juice, search the men,” he ordered as he glared
at Chase. “Krystalle, come over here and frisk these broads.”


He paced a couple of steps, enraged then kicked
a waste paper basket across the vast room and shouted, “And where the fuck are
Goose and Wheels?”


“I’ll go find them,” offered Sparks as he bounded up the
stairs to the mezzanine in search of his missing colleagues.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 9 - 10:14 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174871]


 


The Imperial National Bank as well as the office
tower above it was a steel beam and reinforced concrete construct as required
by government building codes for multi-storey structures of its size. The
concrete floors of each level were supported by thirty-six inch high, steel
warren trusses welded to massive, vertical I-beams. At regular intervals, two
inch steel support beams were spot-welded perpendicularly to the underside of
the warren trusses, creating a grid to which ductwork, cabling and suspended
ceiling systems were affixed


Chris had made his way inside the mezzanine
ceiling along the steel support beams easily enough once his eyes had adjusted
to the dim light and then down within the back wall one storey by shimmying
along a vertical I-beam, using lateral beams as foot and hand-holds. Based on
what he had seen of the bank’s lay-out, he was reasonably sure that he was
somewhere in the cluster of offices and utility rooms beyond the customer
service area. His problem was that he had no idea how many people were involved
in this bank heist and where exactly anyone of them might be at any given time.


His phone vibrated on his belt and, after
glancing at the display, he answered the call in a whisper. “Hi, Jon.”


“Can you talk?” asked Addley.


“Yeah, I’m inside a wall somewhere in the bank,”
Barry replied. “What’s the status from your end?”


“I have confirmation that the bank is surrounded
by cops from both Laval and the Q.P.P. A
Captain Edgar Leblanc of the Laval force is in charge of the operation,” Jon told him. “Do you
have any further information that might be useful?”


“Nothing yet,” Chris admitted. “I’ve taken two
of them out now, one permanently, I’m sorry to say. I have no clue of how many
others there are for now but I was planning on trying to find out.”


“Are you armed, Chris?” Addley enquired with
concern.


“I wasn’t when I got here but, as it turns out,
I recently acquired a .357 Magnum and a sweet, little nine millimetre Beretta,”
Chris whispered. “I felt that the previous owners didn’t really need them
anymore.”


“That’s good, but be careful, Chris,” Jonathan
advised. “Like I told you, the place is swarming with cops. There’s no need to
get involved if you’re putting yourself in any danger.”


“No worries, Jon,” Chris replied. “If there’s a
man on the inside that they don’t know about who can help, why not put that man
to good use? I believe you’d do the same.”


“You’ve got me there,” Addley agreed. “Stay in
touch. I’m heading over your way to get a better view.”


“I’ll let you know as soon as I know more
myself,” said Chris before cutting the connection.


 


* * * *


 


Sparks came running down the stairs from the upper
level, his face pale, his expression grim.


“Goose is dead in a conference room up there,”
he blurted as he reached Bull. “And I can’t find Wheels.”


“What do you mean, Goose is dead?” Bull retorted
in shock. “Dead how? And Wheels didn’t just disappear so where the fuck is he?”


“How the fuck should I know?” Sparks shot back, his
adrenaline still pumping. “Goose is just fucking dead, man. And Wheels is not
upstairs anywhere. I checked all the offices. Go see for yourself if you don’t
fucking believe me.”


“Jesus Christ, what a screw-up,” exclaimed Bull.
“Is he shot dead or stabbed or what?”


“There’s no blood, man,” Sparks replied. “He’s just
lying there dead. Maybe he tripped and busted his neck or something. Maybe he
had a goddamned heart attack or a stroke. How the hell should I know? I’m not a
fucking doctor, man.”


Bull turned to the hostages, all of whom were
still alive as none of them had been found in possession of a cell phone or any
other communication device. “Is there anybody else in here that we don’t know
about? You’d better fess up now cuz this whole thing is really turning to crap
and that pisses me off. If I find out different later, someone’s gonna pay big
time.”


Most just remained immobile, staring at Bull or
at the floor. Chase just shrugged and shook his head but Howard replied, “All
of our staff, everyone who should be here, is here.”


“Are you sure you’re not bullshitting me?” Bull
insisted. “There’s not a lot of you here to run this bank.”


“And there a bunch of offices upstairs and out
in the back,” Spark added. “Somebody must work in those?”


“It’s the middle of the summer,” Howard
explained. “We have several people off on vacation. I can show you the
schedules if you want.”


“So, that’s it?” asked Bull as he glared at the
director. “This is your whole crew?”


“Like I said before,” Howard repeated, “Everyone
who should be here is here.”


Inwardly however, he questioned, ‘Where the hell
is Chris Barry?’







 


 


 


 


Chapter 10 - 10:22 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174872]


 


Following careful consideration, Chris had
decided that in order to assist in bringing the bank robbers down, he would
have to start by getting a handle on how many people were involved, where they
were and what was going on. To do so, he had accessed the ventilation system
through a maintenance port and was now snaking his way through the tight maze
of ducts in the ceiling above the bank’s ground floor. He had already
established that the back offices, kitchenette and computer room were empty and
was now approaching a first grill which opened up above the main customer
service area.


Edging closer, he caught a first glimpse of some
people below. He inched forward a little more and could make out a group of
people, nine of them including Ian Howard, clustered in a corner by the
customer service counter. Logically, the robbers would have assembled all the
hostages so nine should be the definitive number. Thankfully, some staff were
probably off on vacation at this time of year, reducing the potential hostage
count. Two men holding handguns were keeping an eye on the group while a third
stood by a high central table or counter on which lay what seemed to be a pipe
bomb. How many others were there, if any, and, were they willing to blow
themselves to bits if the situation became too bleak?


Following another moment of observation, Chris
slid back away from the grill through the duct system until he was far enough
to avoid detection, pulled out his cell phone and speed dialled Jonathan
Addley.


 


* * * *


 


“What’s going on out there?” Bull demanded an
update.


Krystalle peeked through the vertical blinds for
a moment. “There are a lot of cops but they aren’t doing anything right now.
They’re just keeping cover behind their cars and watching the bank.”


“They’ve cleared the mall and there are at least
a dozen cops scattered around in there.” Ben reported.


“Same over here,” Shade called out from the rear
door. “Lotsa cops in vests with guns, just waiting and watching. We’re screwed,
man.”


“We’ve put way too much into this to be
screwed,” Bull argued. “We’ll start by letting them know what they’re dealing
with and then we’ll figure something out.”


He reached out, randomly selecting one of the
cell phones they had collected from the bank employees, and dialled 911.


“Hi, I’m calling from the Imperial National Bank
on Daniel
  Johnson Boulevard
which is in the middle of a robbery involving hostages. Have somebody in charge
call me back at the number I’m calling from.”


He ended the call and addressed Sparks and Juice. “You two
might as well go to the vault and start getting the money together. Once we
figure out how we’re gonna get out of here, I want us to be ready to go.”


Turning to Ian Howard and Simon Chase, he
continued. “You’re obviously going with them. If you don’t completely cooperate
or if you try anything funny, one of your people here dies. Got it?”


Howard nodded in silence while Chase muttered,
“You’ll pay for this one way or another,” before heading off to the vault. 







 


 


 


 


Chapter 11 - 10:27 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174873]


 


Chris looked down through the ventilation grill
into the room below, apparently a combination filing/photocopy/mailroom, and
confirmed that it still was unoccupied though the door was open. It was one of
the further rooms in the back office from the customer service area where the
hostages were being held but he had no idea if any of the robbers were
patrolling in any fashion. Although they were most likely certain that they had
all of the bank personnel under supervision, they had to be questioning the
death of one accomplice and the disappearance of another, two facts of which
they had to be aware by now. Surely, they were considering the possibility that
someone was lurking somewhere within the bank.


He unclipped the grill and laid it flat inside
the duct then crawled past the opening in order to get his feet through first.
He lowered himself until his feet touched the top of some filing cabinets
below, well aware of his momentary vulnerability then dropped to the carpet
behind them in hiding as he tried to formulate the next steps of his
non-existent plan.


 


* * * *


 


“Why aren’t those fuckers calling back?” Bull
muttered as he stared at the cell phone in his hand.


“Something’s going on out front,” Krystalle
announced. “There’s a big Q.P.P. truck pulling up. Holy shit, it’s the bomb
squad.”


“The bomb squad?” Bull repeated as he approached
the door to have a look for himself. “How the fuck could they even know about the
bomb? What the fuck is going on here?”


“I don’t know but this is getting worse by the
minute,” Krystalle wailed. “Are you sure that the security cameras aren’t
working? Maybe we cut the wrong wires or something and they’re watching us
right now.”


In response, Bull looked up and located the
three cameras set along the walls near the ceiling. Raising his revolver, he
took careful aim and shot each one of them out in turn amidst shrieks and gasps
from the hostages.


“I doubt it but, if that was the case, the
problem is fixed,” he snarled. “What I think though is that somebody’s in here
somewhere, watching us and reporting outside. Ben, come over here. Shade, keep
an eye on both doors.”


Ben came jogging over, looking determined and
grinning in anticipation. “What’s up?”


Bull looked at his colleague’s smirk and broke
into a grin. “You’re stoned, dude.”


“Just enough to hype me, bro,” Ben winked. “You
wanna hit?”


“It might help take edge off a bit,” Bull
admitted.


Ben pulled out a pack of cigarettes from which
he extracted a half-smoked joint. Lighting it, he pulled in a solid toke before
passing it to Bull who did likewise.


“So, what did you want?” Ben rasped before
expelling a blue cloud of smoke.


“I want you to go around the back and make sure
that there’s nobody hiding anywhere, and I mean anywhere,” Bull ordered,
sucking on the joint again before continuing. “The cops are getting inside
information and I want to know who the fuck is responsible.”


For show, Ben ejected the clip from his pistol,
examined its full load then slapped it back into place. “Trust me, dude. If
there’s anybody back there, they’re gonna regret that they got up this
morning.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 12 - 10:29 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174874]


 


Although Chris was armed with two fully loaded
handguns, they weren’t his first choice of weapon in the current situation.
Given the loudness of the gun shots he had heard coming from the front of the
bank a minute earlier, he didn’t want to give away his existence or position by
using the firearms unless he had no choice. He needed something more silent
and, after scanning the room he was in, he had found a very viable possibility.
On a table in one corner was a paper cutter with a two foot blade. Once removed
from its flat gridded base, the blade became a rather decent machete, very
sharp, complete with a firm-grip handle.


As he hefted his impromptu sword to get a feel
of its weight, he heard a door open then close at the far end of the hallway
leading from the customer service area. Stepping out of sight behind the open
door, he peered through the slight space between the door and jamb, listening
to the sounds of one door then the next being opened and closed as someone
pursued their search, most likely for him. He glimpsed a shadow approaching in
the hallway outside the mailroom, raised the blade in readiness and waited.


 


* * * *


 


The cell phone in his hand rang, startling an
increasingly rattled Bull. The THC had yet to lessen the edge and might have,
in fact, increased it.


“It’s about fucking time,” he answered. “Yeah,
I’m in charge, who are you?… Yeah, Captain Leblanc, you heard shots but nobody
was hurt. We were just shooting out those annoying security cameras cuz you
guys seem to know a hell of a lot more about what’s going on in here than you
should… Don’t interrupt me, just listen. We’re gonna have to work out some deal
though, if you don’t want any of these people in here to end up getting hurt… I
don’t know exactly what kind of deal yet but the end result will be getting us
out of here and away… Damned straight, I’m in a position to negotiate. We’ve
got a bunch of hostages and, as you seem to be aware, we also have a bomb.
Let’s get the ball rolling with my first demand… No, you listen. If you have
somebody hiding in here and feeding you information, you better get him or her
the fuck out of here real quick because otherwise, that’ll be your first body.
We’ll talk more later, Captain, once I’ve decided what we plan to do. I’ll call
you back when I’m ready.”


With that, he ended the communication and turned
off the phone as he muttered to himself, “Find the son of a bitch, Ben.”


 


* * * *


 


Ben reached the doorway to the mailroom, feeling
mellow and confident as the joint took effect, and peered inside. As he scanned
the room, he noticed the open vent in the ceiling and smiled as he stepped in
closer.


“Did I find your hiding place, motherfucker?” he
murmured as he raised his gun towards the opening, He never heard the large
blade whipping towards the back of his neck.


 


* * * *


 


“Sorry, buddy,” said Chris to the body lying at
his feet in a growing pool of blood. “It was you or me and I preferred the
first option.”


He picked up the man’s gun, another Beretta PX
Storm Compact, identical to the one he had obtained from the first robber who
was now locked in the cabinet upstairs. Lighter, smaller and loaded with a
fifteen round clip each, the two guns were the logical choices for him to carry
versus the Smith & Wesson .357 Magnum he’d obtained from the dead guy
upstairs, which was simply too heavy and bulky. Slipping the second Beretta
into a side jacket pocket after confirming its clip was full, he then pulled
the large revolver from where it was wedged in his belt, broke open the
cylinder and emptied out the bullets. These he dumped in a pants pocket while
the gun went into the paper tray of the photocopy machine.


With his makeshift machete, he sliced off a
piece of cardboard from the top of a case of photocopy paper which he folded up
and taped to make a sheath of sorts for the blade. After taping the sheath to
his thigh, he climbed back on top of the filing cabinets and pulled himself up
into the duct system, replacing the grill before going off to call Jonathan
Addley and figuring out what to do next.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 13 - 10:35 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174875]


 


“Addley,” Jonathan answered as he sped along
Autoroute 15 into Laval.


“How’s your day going so far?” Chris whispered
from within the ventilation duct.


“Better than yours, I’m sure,” Jon replied with
a chuckle. “I’ll be there in a couple of minutes. What’s your status?”


“Somebody is going to owe me for a huge
dry-cleaning bill,” Chris replied. “And I’m doing a great job at cleaning out
the ventilation ducts.”


“I’ll buy you a new suit,” Jonathan laughed. “Any
more news?”


“I took out another one,” said Chris. “I’m not
certain how many are left but it’s at least three because this guy wasn’t one
of the three I’ve seen so far. They’re going to know for sure that someone’s in
here once they find this one because the guy obviously didn’t die of a heart
attack. Also, I heard some shots fired five to ten minutes ago but I don’t know
what that was about. I’m on my way up front to have another look.”


“Alright, Chris, just stay out of sight,”
Jonathan sighed as he roared westbound on Carrefour Boulevard towards the roadblock
located south of the bank on Daniel Johnson Boulevard. “And watch yourself. I’ll be with
Captain Leblanc in a minute or two. Stay alive and I’ll bring you up to speed
as soon as possible.”


 


* * * *


 


“Krystalle,” Bull waved Christine over. “Ben’s
been gone for nearly ten minutes. You want to go check and see what’s going
on?”


“I don’t know, Bull,” she whispered, her tone
more than a little shaky. “This whole thing’s just royally screwed up and I
have a bad feeling that someone nasty is in here somewhere, just waiting to
take us out one by one. Wheels disappeared, Goose is dead and now you’re
worried about Ben. Why don’t you go?”


“Because I’m running this fucking show,” Bull
hissed through clenched teeth. “That’s why. Things are fucked up enough as it
is and we don’t need these people seeing us arguing and getting ideas that
we’re falling apart. Now, go.”


“I’m scared, Bull. Don’t you get that?” Krystalle
argued. “Or you just don’t give a shit.”


“With the cash you’re gonna make on this job,
baby, you gotta do your share, whether you’re scared of not,” Bull retorted.
“That’s what I give a shit about. Get going.”


“Nothing better happen to me,” she spat back as
she turned towards the open gate in the customer service counter.


“If you see anyone back there,” Bull added,
“Don’t ask questions. Just shoot them.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 14 - 10:38 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174876]


 


On his way once again through the duct leading
to the customer service area, Chris stopped suddenly as he heard a door opening
somewhere in the hallway below him, his face lined up directly with one of the
ventilation grills. He held his breath as muted steps approached on the
carpeted floor, hoping that whoever it was did not look upwards.


She didn’t. Chris watched as the young, shapely
woman passed slowly beneath him, holding her pistol, seemingly another Beretta
like the two he had acquired, with both hands in front of her. She continued
out of sight and Chris heard her opening then closing the door of a nearby
office. A moment later, he heard her gasp then retch and knew that she had
found her dead accomplice in the mailroom.


He waited for a moment to see if the woman would
immediately go back the way she had come to report what she had found but the
hallway below him remained deserted. As quickly and quietly as he could, he
crawled backwards until he reached the juncture where a perpendicular duct led
to the office the woman had checked a minute earlier. Thankful that he had
heard her re-close the door, he hastened his way towards the office’s
ventilation grill.


 


* * * *


 


François Duguay of the Q.P.P. had briefed
Captain Leblanc as to Jonathan’s identity, describing him as a high level
official of the Ministry of Defence who was not a stranger to violent offenders
and with vast experience in delicate police operations. Leblanc had also been
informed of Jonathan’s impending arrival and the latter was quickly allowed
past the road block and directed to the mobile command post where Leblanc
filled him in on the latest details.


 “I spoke to the perp in charge just under ten
minutes ago. It was our first direct communication which he originally
initiated by calling 911 on what appears to be a bank employee’s cell phone.
The number was referred to me and I made the call. My impression is that he’s
already in a near state of panic because of the way things have turned out and
that scares me. Shots were fired earlier, apparently to shoot out the security
cameras which weren’t even transmitting since they seem to have cut the
communication cables. From what he told me, none of the hostages have been hurt
to date but he clearly stated that this could change if things don’t go to his
liking.”


“Did anything he said lead you to believe they
suspect my associate is inside?” Addley enquired.


“He was definitely suspicious and alluded to
someone being inside and feeding us information,” Leblanc replied. “But he
wasn’t sure. However, his first and only demand so far has been that we get
whoever might be in there out, or else.”


“What’s your current plan of action?” asked
Jonathan.


“I’m concerned about the hostages, especially
since, as per your colleague’s information, they have a bomb in there,” the
captain explained. “We have enough manpower to storm the place and easily
outnumber them. However, that means putting a lot of lives at risk, even more
so if explosives actually are involved. I’ve contacted the bank’s security
director and he’ll be heading over with blueprints and specs to see if we can
get in some way quietly and take these people by surprise. In the meantime,
it’s simply intimidation by numbers while we wait.”


 


* * * *


 


“I might as well finish what I came back here
for,” Krystalle muttered to herself as she took one last look at Ben before
leaving the mailroom.


As she moved along the hallway, which veered
ninety degrees at the mailroom, she was surprised to realize how unshaken she
felt following the grisly scene she had just witnessed. She would have thought
that seeing a dead body, half decapitated and laying in a pool of blood, would
turn her stomach and, knowing that somebody somewhere might do the same to her,
would put the fear of God into her. Rather, she felt grounded and determined to
find and deal with the person responsible for Ben’s death. Bull was right. They
had put too much into this and the stakes were too high to let anyone even try
to stop them.


With her newfound confidence firmly in place,
she reached the next door, turned the knob and pushed hard, causing the door to
swing almost a full one hundred eighty degrees before banging against the wall.
She swept the office with her eyes and confirmed that it was empty. The
following door was open and led to the computer room which was also vacant. A
large conference room across the hallway proved to be deserted as well as were
the final two rooms, a kitchenette and an archives storage area.


Puzzled and a bit disappointed, she retraced her
steps, pausing briefly to glance at Ben one last time before turning the corner
and heading back towards the customer service area. As she passed the second
office she had looked into, she suddenly stopped and listened. Had she heard
something, a slight metallic clang, or was it her imagination?


‘Better safe than sorry,’ she thought as she
reached for the door knob with one hand, her pistol at the ready in the other.


 


* * * *


 


Chris crouched on a steel support beam above the
doorframe, peering down through the two by four foot opening he had created by
sliding the ceiling tile out of position. He heard the door knob squeak a
little then saw the door slamming into the wall as it was pushed forcibly open.
Within a few seconds, her gun appeared in his field of vision then her hand and
forearm and finally, she stood directly below him.


Grasping a warren truss which ran a couple of
feet before him, Chris pulled himself upwards as he brought his knees to his
chest then let himself drop, cannonball style, crashing onto the woman’s head,
shoulders and upper back. As she crumpled to the floor with a grunt of pain, he
brought a fist down hard on the wrist of her gun hand and sent the pistol
skidding across the carpet, out of reach, before delivering a solid blow to the
side of her head.


The woman went limp and he closed and locked the
door. After recouping her gun, he hastened to bind her arms behind her back,
using a roll of packing tape he had found in the mailroom. After doing likewise
with her ankles and applying a strip of tape across her mouth, he dragged her
off into one corner then hurriedly emptied a two door, upright, metal cabinet
of its contents before laying it flat on the floor against the door. Opening
both of the cabinet’s doors, he returned to the now stirring woman, picked her
up and placed her flat on her back, none to gently, into the cabinet.


“Wake up,” Chris whispered gruffly as he slapped
the woman’s cheek a few times to revive her.


Her eyes blinked several times before staying
open, gazing at Chris with a dull expression for a moment as she tried to make
sense of what was going on. Realization set in and her eyes widened in fear as
she watched the man standing over her, well dressed in an albeit very dusty
suit, pull out a long steel blade from a cardboard sheath taped to his pants
leg.


“I have some questions to ask you,” Chris told
her. “Do you understand?”


“The woman nodded, the movement almost
imperceptive, as she continued to stare at the curved steel.


“I’ll remove the tape from your mouth so that
you can answer,” Chris continued, “But if you try to scream, you won’t get far
and it will be the last thing you ever do. Do you understand that?”


The woman nodded once again and Chris crouched
back down, laying the cold blade flat across the woman’s throat before roughly
peeling off the tape from her mouth.


“You’re a dead man,” she hissed in anger. “You
have no way of getting out of here and the others will find you.”


Chris smiled at her for a moment then glanced at
his watch before replying. “By my count, you’re the fourth one I take down in
about forty minutes and, as you know, at least two of them are dead. Now, why
would you think I’d be impressed by your threats?”


“Who are you?” the woman asked, fear creeping
into her voice as she realized how unfazed this man seemed to be by the murders
he had just admitted committing.


“I’m a guy who just happened to be at the right
place at the right time,” Chris replied as his eyes grew colder. “But, enough
about me. Let’s talk about you and your friends. How many of you were in on
this job?”


He stared into her eyes without blinking as she
processed the question and deliberated her answer.


“Six,” she replied after several seconds,
staring back at him in defiance.


“Six,” Chris repeated thoughtfully before
delivering a rapid elbow jab to her solar plexus, knocking the breath out of
her. “Wrong answer, lady, and I don’t have time to screw around. In case you
misunderstood, I’ll ask again. How many, in all, were in on this job?”


“Eight,” the woman gasped as she tried to regain
her breath.


“Male, female?” Chris demanded.


“All male,” she croaked, “Except for me.”


“Now we’re getting somewhere. It’s so much
easier when everyone cooperates.” Chris continued. “Where are the other four
now?”


“I don’t know,” the woman rasped then winced as
Chris scowled and raised his fist. “Wait. Don’t hit me. There are two with the
hostages in front and two at the vault with the managers.”


“What about the bomb?” asked Chris. “What’s the
plan?”


“All I know is that if everyone behaves, the
bomb won’t go off,” she answered.


“Tell me more. Is there a timer?” Chris
insisted. “How would it be detonated?”


“Uh, one of the guys has a remote,” she replied
with uncertainty. “Bull, I think, or Sparks. I’m not sure.”


“The way things are turning out,” Chris mused,
“Are you all willing to get blown up?”


“Uh, that’s not what, uh, we had in mind,” the
woman stammered. “I don’t think that will happen.”


“Let’s hope it doesn’t,” said Chris. “Because I
can guarantee that you guys aren’t leaving this bank with the money. It’s
hopeless. The place is surrounded so, either you’re going to die or you’re
going to jail but you’re not going free.”


He gazed at her, less harshly now, as he watched
the look of defeat wash over her face. “If you guys can’t get away with the
money, are you planning to detonate the bomb?”


“The bomb’s a dud,” she whispered as her eyes
watered.


“You’re sure?” asked Chris. “You’re not just
bullshitting me?”


“I didn’t build the damned thing but, yeah, I’m
sure,” the woman replied. “This is the first time anyone of us does something
like this and none of us want to die.”


“Unfortunately, some already have,” said Chris.
“What about your getaway plan?”


“We have cars,” she answered vaguely, torn
between her loyalty to the others and her desire to get out of this alive.


“Look, we’ve been getting along nicely, right?”
Chris growled. “The more information you can give me so that we get this all
done without anyone else getting hurt, the better chance you have for some
leniency once you get out of here. I’ll make sure that the police and the court
know how helpful you were.”


The woman stared at him in silence as she
considered his words.


“There’s also the fact that if you don’t answer
my questions,” Chris added after a moment, “I’ll start seriously hurting you
until you do.”


“Ford Fusion and a Chevy Malibu, first and third
slots out front,” she droned with a dull look in her eyes. “Eclipse across the
street in the shopping mall parking lot. Chrysler mini-van in back in the
bank’s reserved lot.”


Chris crossed the short distance to the window,
looked out through the semi-sheer vertical blinds and noted a chocolate brown
Mitsubishi Eclipse parked at Carrefour Laval across the street beyond the mass
of police vehicles and officers.


“I’ve never seen an Eclipse of that colour,” he
commented as he turned back to the trussed up woman lying in the cabinet. “And,
I know cars. Special paint job?”


“The cars are done with a water-based paint,”
she said wearily. “It’ll come off in a carwash or with a pressure washer.”


“Where did you guys get your information?” Chris
pressed on. “You seemed pretty organized for people who’ve never pulled a bank
job. Who’s on the inside?’


“Uh, nobody,” she replied.


“You’re lying to me,” said Chris as he stared at
her. “Who’s in this on the inside?”


“I swear to you, I’m not lying,” she argued.
“Bull was getting the information from somewhere but I don’t think it was
someone from the bank.”


“Is there anything else you can tell me?” Chris
asked after a moment, glancing at his watch again.


“No,” she replied, still thinking of Mistah B
but deciding to keep an ace up her sleeve in case things somehow turned around.
“That’s all I have but, I’ll ask you once again. Who the hell are you?”


“I’m the guy who let you live,” Chris replied
before knocking her unconscious, re-taping her mouth and securing the cabinet
doors.


He made sure the cabinet was pressed up firmly
against the door then climbed onto it and hoisted himself back into the
ceiling. After returning the ceiling tile to its original position he went off
for another stroll within the ceiling and walls to find a secure spot to give
Jonathan a call.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 15 - 10:51 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174877]


 


Jonathan Addley cut the connection and turned to
Captain Edgar Leblanc inside the mobile command post.


“Here’s the latest from our buddy inside. He’s
neutralized a fourth of apparently eight people involved. He interrogated her,
the only woman in the group, and she’s who this information is coming from so
he can’t be sure that it’s accurate.”


Leblanc nodded and listened as Addley repeated
what he had just learned from Chris. A quick glance from their position
confirmed the existence of the three alleged getaway vehicles parked by the
bank and across the street. He barked out orders and, a moment later, they
watched as a couple of cops ran to the cars armed with water bottles and rags.
Little effort was required to quickly reveal the true colours of the vehicles
under the water-based paint.


“Okay, so the captive was honest about that,”
said Leblanc.


“Are you going to get the cars towed?” asked
Jonathan.


“Not just yet,” replied the captain. “These guys
are getting hit with hang-up after hang-up, thanks to your associate, so they
need some time to digest them. If we tow their cars now, they just may start
shooting people in there.”


“Fair enough,” Jonathan nodded though he was
used to hitting hard in his line of dealing with criminals.


“Now, back to this lady,” said Leblanc, “I just
don’t know if she bullshitted about anything else. How good is your man at
getting information?”


“He’s probably my best,” Jonathan replied. “But
he’s not in the best circumstances to thoroughly question someone in there. If
the girl was straight with him, it’s still four against one and anyone of those
four could potentially take Chris out. The girl knows that and might have lied
about any number of things to try to lull him into a false sense of security.”


“I’m especially concerned about the bomb,”
Leblanc admitted. “Armed robbers and hostages is one thing but a blast could
take out everyone in there and some of the cops out here. If I was certain that
bomb was a fake, I’d be giving the orders to storm the place right now.”


“Well, Chris was off to try to confirm more of
what the girl told him,” Jon responded. “I’d suggest giving him a little time
to see what he comes up with.”


“Mister Addley, whether I like it or not,”
sighed Leblanc, “That’s the only choice I have for now.”


 


* * * *


 


Chris slowly inched a little further and the
customer service area came into view once again through the ventilation grill.
Leaning over to one side, he could still make out the huddle of bank employees
in the same corner as before but a quick headcount revealed seven, all female
but one. The two managers were missing, probably gone to the vault as the woman
had stated.


Pacing back and forth near the central counter
where the bomb lay was one of the robbers Chris had seen earlier, Bull, he
presumed, who seemed to be in charge. As Chris looked on to try to spot any of
the other robbers, the one below suddenly called out, “Shade,” towards the
back. A few seconds later, a muscular, black man appeared and the two engaged
in a hushed but apparently increasingly agitated discussion.


‘I guess I’m starting to annoy them,’ Chris
thought with a smile as he watched on.


 


* * * *


 


“How long has she been gone?” Shade asked with
concern.


“Ten, maybe fifteen minutes,” Bull replied, well
aware of his friend’s relationship with Krystalle.


“And you sent her back there alone?” Shade
growled, his anger growing. “Why didn’t you go yourself, you fucking wuss?”


“Shade, calm down,” Bull hissed, pausing as he
pulled his flask out for a quick nip. “Krys is part of the team and she’s
entitled to an equal share so there’s no giving her any fucking special
treatment just cuz she’s a girl.”


“Equal share of shit,” Shade spat back. “All
we’re gonna share is death or jail time. This is all fucked up and if you still
don’t realize it, you’re even dumber than I thought. Maybe you should stop
drinking that shit and get your head straight.”


“My head is fine and we’ll get out of here
somehow,” Bull argued. “There’s gotta be a way.”


“Yeah, there’s a way,” Shade sneered. “In a
fucking body bag.”


“No, not in a body bag,” Bull disagreed. “We’ve
got hostages. The cops will want them back alive. We’ll negotiate our way out
of here.”


“Yeah, right,” the black man scoffed. “I’m going
to find Krystalle while you negotiate your shit.”


“Hang on a second,” Bull ordered. “They must be
nearly done with the cash in the vault. Let’s get everyone back in here and
then you can go.”


Shade glared at Bull but stayed put as their
ringleader pulled out his own cell phone and speed-dialled a number.


“Sparks, how long are you guys gonna still be back
there for?... Good, get back here. We’ve got some talking and planning to do.”


He cut the connection and addressed Shade.
“They’re done packing the money and they’re on their way back.”


A moment later, Ian Howard and Simon Chase came
through a doorway on the opposite side of the customer service counter with two
heavy duffel bags each slung on their shoulders, followed by Sparks and Juice with their
guns drawn. They made their way to the gate leading through the counter and
crossed to the customer side where Howard and Chase dropped the bags to the
floor with a thud.


“You’re wasting your time and ours,” uttered
Chase with contempt. “You morons will never get out of here with that money. I
hope they shoot you down when you leave. At least then, we won’t be wasting tax
dollars to keep you in jail for the rest of your life.”


Bull walked over to the assistant director and
gazed at him for a few seconds then suddenly swung his gun upwards, striking
the man on the side of the head and sending him sprawling to the floor amidst
gasps and screams from the other hostages.


“I’m already pissed off, Mister banker-man.”
said Bull as he stood over Chase. “I don’t need you to piss me off some more.
Now, shut the fuck up or you’ll be the first one to get shot.”


“What do you mean, the first to get shot?” Ian
Howard stepped in. “You told us that nobody would get hurt.”


“That was before everything got screwed up
because somebody in here called the cops somehow,” Bull replied. “What was a
simple in and out bank robbery has turned into a goddamned hostage taking and
if we have to hurt some of you to show we’re not fucking around, that’s how
it’s going to be. Now, you and the mouth here get over with the others.”


While Howard helped the dazed Chase to his feet
and went to join the rest of the bank staff, Bull turned to the remaining team.


“Goose is dead, Wheels, Ben and Krystalle have
disappeared and we’re surrounded by an army of cops so there’s obviously
someone in here that’s fucking around with us. Sparks and me are gonna stay here to keep an
eye on these idiots. Juice and Shade, I want you to go around this place and
search every fucking corner to find the others and especially to find the
asshole who fucked everything up for us. Go. Find him.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 16 - 10:57 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174878]


 


Chris watched as two of the robbers, the black
one and a scared looking, tall, gangly twenty-something white kid, passed below
his ventilation grill, obviously off to search the back office area once more.
He quietly crawled backwards through the ductwork, heading in the general
direction that the two men were going. He was now pretty sure that the girl had
not lied, that four of them remained. He’d be careful but, if he had the
slightest opportunity with these two, he’d reduce that number even more. He’d
also have to find another moment to give Jonathan an update soon.


 


* * * *


 


Juice and Shade found the door of the first
office unlocked and the room empty but the second door down the hallway closed
and locked. They moved on to the corner room, the mailroom, where they, as Krystalle
had, also made the grisly discovery of Ben’s body lying in a pool of blood. A
quick search revealed that their dead friend’s gun was missing, adding to their
growing fear and tension. They quickly checked the remaining rooms to find them
all vacant before returning to the one with the locked door.


“Fucker just might be in here and probably has Krystalle
with him,” Shade murmured as he pressed the muzzle of his pistol against the
door plate of the knob. “Stand back, bro.”


He fired two shots which shattered the thin
metal plate and blew the knob to the floor. Stepping back, he then charged into
the door, slamming it solidly with his shoulder but bounced off, nearly falling
to the ground.


“Jesus Christ,” he swore as he winced, rubbing
his shoulder to lessen the pain.


“Something’s jamming it,” said Juice, pointing
to the quarter inch opening which had appeared between the door and jamb.


“Yeah, something fucking heavy,” Shade agreed.
“Help me push.”


Both men put their weight against the door and,
following a couple of minutes of effort, managed to get the door open enough to
enter the room. Shade poked his head through the space, noting that nobody was
inside and that a metal cabinet lying on the floor had been blocking the door.
He slipped through the opening with Juice following close behind.


“Looks like you killed some stationary,” Juice
chuckled as he looked at the two bullet holes punched through the cabinet
doors.


“It would be great if that fucker was hiding in
there,” Shade laughed as he twisted the handles and flung the cabinet doors
open. “Aw, fuck, nooooo!”


Both men stared down in disbelief at Krystalle
and her two bloody chest wounds as her lifeless eyes gazed back at them.


Shade dropped to his knees and grasped the woman
by the shoulders, shaking her in an attempt to revive her but soon realized
that she was not coming back.


“I fucking shot Krystalle, man,” Shade wailed as
tears streamed down his cheeks as he stood. “I killed my baby.”


“Dude, get a grip,” Juice said as he clasped the
black man’s shoulder in an attempt to comfort him. “She was probably dead
already. The fucker already killed Goose and Ben. Why wouldn’t he kill Krys
too?”


“Why would he tape her up if she was dead?”
Shade snapped back in anger. “I killed her, Juice, but that mother-fucker put
her in there.”


He got to his knees and bent over Krystalle, his
tears raining on her face as he gazed at her for a moment before kissing her
lips in a gesture of farewell.


“Baby, I’m gonna find this bastard and he’s
gonna die slow and painful,” he vowed as he closed the doors of her makeshift
coffin. “That’s a promise that I’m gonna keep.”


 


* * * *


 


A sense of sadness washed over Chris as he
watched the two men leave the room. He had heard their conversation from where
he lay in the ventilation duct and couldn’t help but feel that there was some
truth in what the black man had said. Had the woman, Krystalle, they had called
her, not been in the cabinet, and he had put her in there, she would still be
alive. Yet, he felt no remorse for the two men he had killed less than an hour
ago.


Perhaps it was a gender issue as he realized
that he had never taken a woman’s life over the years. If faced with a
cold-blooded, female killer, he wouldn’t hesitate to take her out, would he? Of
course, he wouldn’t. No, he hadn’t killed Krystalle because he hadn’t felt that
she deserved to die. He had somehow sensed that she had ended up tangled in
this situation, one that was way over her head, by mistake and deserved a
second chance.


‘Enough of this psycho-analysis crap for now,’
he reasoned after a moment as he moved back further into the duct, on his way
to update Jonathan once again. ‘Any which way, the four that are left are male
so, no problem.’







 


 


 


 


Chapter 17 - 11:06 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174879]


 


Jonathan and Captain Leblanc sat in stoic
silence as they watched the bank from the mobile command post, waiting to learn
more of the two gun shots they had heard moments earlier. Leblanc had tried to
contact the robbers’ spokesman several times since they had first spoken over
half an hour earlier but always got the voicemail for someone named Louise.


Somewhat of an expert in hostage negotiations,
he had hoped to be able to talk to the man regularly and early on, in order to
establish a rapport before irrational thoughts started setting in as time went
by. However, with all other means of communication down and the cell phone off,
Leblanc had no choice but to wait until the robber called back.


As the captain mulled these thoughts over,
Jonathan’s phone chirped.


“Chris, I’m with Edgar Leblanc,” he answered
after looking at the call display. “Let me put you on speaker.”


“Pleasure to meet you, Captain,” said Chris,
barely over a whisper. “I wish it was under better circumstances but we’ll make
up for it later.”


“You’re a brave man, Chris, and I look forward
to meeting you when this ordeal is over,” replied Leblanc. “Do you have
anything new for us? Do you know anything about the latest gunshots we heard?”


“As it happens, I was witness to those shots.
Two of our guys were searching the back offices, most likely for me, and shot
through a locked door,” said Chris. “Unfortunately, that was where I had left
the girl and the bullets got her. She’s dead.”


“Hazards of the profession,” said Jonathan. “Do
you have a better idea about how many are left?”


“I think the girl was straight with me so I’m
pretty sure that they’re down to four,” Chris replied, “As long as they don’t
find the guy locked in a cupboard upstairs. They have the money out of the
vault now but I have no idea what they’re planning next.”


“Any idea on how they’re feeling?” asked
Leblanc. “Do they seem under control?”


“Their ringleader is getting pretty antsy,”
Chris opined, confirming what the captain already suspected. “He’s pacing like
hell and his fuse is short. He smacked one of the manager’s earlier for
mouthing off at him. I also think that he’s drinking. I saw him taking a swig
from a flask and I doubt it was water. One of the others, a black guy, is the
one who shot the girl and that seemed to rip him apart. I got the impression
that she was his girlfriend.”


“Jesus,” Leblanc muttered. “Goddamned idiots.”


“I’m with you on that,” Chris continued, “But
now this guy’s planning to go on a rampage to find me because her death is my
fault.”


“Watch yourself in there, Chris,” Jonathan
warned.


 “I doubt that I’m in any more danger than I was
before, Jon,” Chris rationalised. “The two others seem calm enough to date but
I haven’t really seen them much. My impression from what I have seen though is
that they’re nervous and scared. As I had mentioned earlier, the girl told me
this was their first time on a job like this and I tend to believe it. These guys
seem to have zero experience with robbing banks and dealing with the pressure
once things screw up. I’m getting more concerned about the hostages because now
our friends have the cash ready but can’t go forward with their plan which is
to get the hell out. It’s going to get tenser in here.”


“Which means that I should be hearing from them
soon?” hoped Leblanc.


“Either that or they’ll come out with hostages
to leave in their cars,” Jonathan countered. “I don’t think that you want that
to happen.”


“It might be time to tow the cars now,” Leblanc
acknowledged.


“I think you should,” Chris agreed. “That will
reduce the chance of them using hostages as shields. I doubt they’ll leave the
bank without a sure means of transport. This will rattle them up a bit more and
hopefully, generate a call to you, Captain.”


“Then, that’s the next course of action,”
Leblanc decided. “What are you planning, Chris?”


“I’m pretty sure that they’ll be staying in the
customer service area now that the cash is out since that’s where the exits
are,” Chris replied, “So I’ll make my way back there through the air ducts and
keep an eye on what’s going on.”


“We’re going to owe you big time for your
efforts, Mister Barry,” said the captain.


“As it stands, Jonathan owes me a suit, Captain”
Chris replied. “You might want to pitch in.”


“I’ll throw in a shirt and tie,” Leblanc
chuckled. “Be careful in there.”


“Always, Captain,” said Chris.


 


* * * *


 


Bull looked up as Shade came slamming through
the door from the back offices with Juice trailing behind him, looking forlorn.


“What the fuck’s going on?” he asked as Shade
came barrelling towards him. “What were those shots?”


“She’s dead, you son of a bitch,” Shade hissed,
his face inches from Bull’s. “You sent her back there and now she’s goddamned
dead.”


“Aw, fuck, Shade,” Bull murmured as he looked
into his friend’s tear-filled eyes. “I’m sorry, bro. We have to find out who’s
doing this.”


“Someone’s in here, that’s for sure,” Shade
rasped with rage as he choked back a sob. “We found Ben. The fucker killed him,
nearly chopped his head off. Then he caught Krystalle, taped her up and stuck
her in a cabinet behind a locked door. I shot the lock out and the slugs killed
her, man.”


“Jesus Fucking Christ,” Bull growled in
frustration. “All this shit is really starting to piss me off. Did you get
their guns?”


Shade shook his head. “Their guns were gone,
bro.”


“We gotta find this bastard,” Bull muttered. 


“Hey, Bull,” Juice called from where he stood
near the front door. “They’re lining up to tow our cars, man.”


“What?” Bull shouted as he headed to the window
and peered through the fabric of the vertical blinds. “Motherfuckers are going
to pay for this.”


He pulled the borrowed cell phone from his
pocket and turned it on then redialled the last incoming number.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 18 - 11:10 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174880]


 


Captain Leblanc looked at the display of his
trilling cell phone and nodded at Addley before answering. “This is Leblanc. We
need to talk.”


“Really, Leblanc?” Bull yelled in response.
“You’re damned right, we need to talk. What the fuck are you doing with our
cars?”


“You’re obviously not going to leave in those
cars,” Leblanc replied in a matter-of-fact tone. “We’re just getting them out
of here so that they can be returned to their owners. As I said, we need to
talk.”


“No, Captain,” Bull shot back. “We don’t need to
talk. I need to talk and you need to listen cuz I’m the one calling the shots
here. Got that?”


“Okay, okay, I’ll listen,” Leblanc agreed, “But
what should I call you?”


“What?” Bull asked in confusion. “What the fuck
are you talking about, what should you call me?”


“You call me Captain or Leblanc,” the cop
explained. “What should I call you?”


“What the fuck is this?” the bank robber
exploded. “Call me Bull, asshole. Now shut the fuck up and listen.”


“Okay, Bull,” Leblanc replied. “What do you
reasonably suggest we do to fix this situation?”


“You’re something else, Leblanc, I’ll give you
that,” Bull laughed without humour. “Here’s what I reasonably suggest we do.
One; get the fucking tow-trucks away from the cars, now. Two; tell whoever you
have in here to give himself up. The fucker’s killed three of my people so far,
probably four. He surrenders to us now. You have one minute.”


“You know I can’t leave those cars there, Bull,”
Leblanc insisted. “If I do, you might decide to try to escape with them. And I
don’t have anybody inside. I don’t know what you’re talking about as far as
that’s concerned.”


“Forty-five seconds, Captain,” was Bull’s curt
reply.


“Okay, Bull. I’ll leave the cars for now,” the
captain yielded, signalling an aide to pull the tow-trucks, “But I can’t do
anything about an inside man because I don’t have one.”


“Thirty seconds, Leblanc,” Bull snapped. “You’re
wasting valuable time here.”


“Bull, you’re not being reasonable,” Leblanc
argued. “I said I’d leave the cars even if I shouldn’t but I can’t help you
with your second demand because I have nobody inside. You’re asking for
something that I can’t give because I don’t have it.”


“I’m afraid that your time’s just about run out,
Captain,” said Bull. “Stay on the line.”


 


* * * *


 


Louise Cyr, Customer Service Associate, was a
petite and attractive blonde of twenty-six years of age who had completed her
first year of service with the Imperial National Bank just two days earlier.
Her performance record was exemplary and had earned her an increased position
rating with a sizeable accompanying pay raise. She had also been informed that
her name had been submitted for the bank’s “Managers of the Future” programme,
an elite fast-track training and promotion system for promising employees.
Adding to the excitement in her life was her upcoming wedding on August 7th,
just over three weeks away, when she and her high-school sweetheart would
officially commence their adventure as husband and wife.


As she huddled in fear with her co-workers, the
bank robbers’ ringleader, Bull, they called him, stormed over and demanded,
“Whose phone is this?”


Unable to speak, Louise feebly raised her hand
in response.


“Come here,” Bull ordered, gesturing with the
large revolver in his hand.


“What do you want with her?” Simon Chase
challenged.


“You want me to blow your fucking brains out,
asshole?” Bull retorted as he pointed the gun as Chase’s face. “If that’s what
I have to do to shut you up, I’ll fucking do it.”


Louise took a deep breath and stepped timidly
away from the group and towards Bull.


“I’m not going to bite you,” Bull prompted with
impatience. “I want you to show me how the video thing works on your fancy
phone. Come over here.”


He walked back to where he had been standing
before, near the central counter where the pipe bomb lay and away from the
other hostages, as Louise followed timidly behind.


Raising the phone to his ear, he asked, “You
still there, Captain? Good, hang on.”


Turning to Louise, he asked, almost kindly, “Can
you send live video with this thing?”


Wordlessly, she nodded, reached for the phone
and activated the video application before handing it back to him.


 “Thanks,” he said as he guided her half dozen
feet away. “Now stand right here, facing me.”


He returned to his original position, turned on
the speaker and held out the phone to capture Louise’s image then resumed his
conversation with the captain. “Leblanc, can you receive video on your phone?
Good. Set it so that you can see what I’m sending. You got it? Perfect. This
pretty lady is one of our hostages. This is what happens when you bullshit me
and try to jerk me around.”


 


* * * *


 


From the ventilation grill, Chris watched as the
robber, still training the phone on the young blonde with one hand, raised his
revolver with the other and fired. All seemed to suddenly go into slow motion
as the slug made contact. A pinkish mist filled the air as the young woman fell
forever to the floor. Shouts and screams seemed muted and distorted as if even
sound had slowed to a crawl.


Below, the shooter was yelling at the phone in
his hand, his face flushed and his eyes wild as he paced around, waving his gun
in the air. His three cohorts stood motionless in stony silence, watching over
the small crowd of sobbing and frantic hostages as they hugged each other in
despair.


Chris fought the urge to shoot the killer below.
Though he did have a clear shot and was confident of his firearms abilities, he
feared for the remaining hostages and there was no way he could gun down the
other three without risking the lives of the innocent bystanders.


‘I’m not sure how yet,’ he thought as he stared
through the grill then started backing out in the duct once more, ‘But I will
take you bastards out. Each and every one of you.’







 


 


 


 


Chapter 19 - 11:13 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174881]


 


Captain Edgar Leblanc, his face ashen, put his
phone down and looked at Jonathan. “As you heard, our friend is unhappy with me
and needs to take a break. This has just taken a new direction, I’m afraid.”


“I can’t argue with you on that, Ed,” Addley
agreed. “And since we have no guarantee that it is a fake, that bomb concerns
me now, more than ever. Somebody who can kill as arrogantly as this animal just
did is capable of doing anything. He knows that he’s just signed his own death
warrant and he doesn’t seem to care. I’m suddenly much more concerned for the
people inside.”


“This is the kind of situation that I’ve had
nightmares about handling,” Leblanc confessed. “Nothing in the textbooks
explains any proven method of dismantling something like this.”


“We’ll keep on doing whatever we can to help,”
Jonathan reassured the officer. “On the positive side, we’ve got Chris in
there.”


Leblanc paused for a moment then said, “I know
that you’re with the Ministry of Defence and that François Duguay vouched for
you but, who exactly are you and Chris?”  


“As they say in the movies,” Jonathan replied
with a wry grin, “If I told you that, I’d have to kill you.”


 


* * * *


 


“But, what the fuck did you have to shoot her
for?” Shade demanded. “We had said, no killing hostages. We might as well just
blow our fucking brains out now cuz that’s what the cops are gonna do as soon
as they get the chance.”


The four remaining robbers were huddled some ten
feet from where the hostages now sat on the floor, lined up with their backs
against the customer service counter, as ordered by their captors. Though Juice
and Sparks had remained quiet to
date, they were obviously even more frightened and distressed by the recent
turn of events than they had been earlier.


“I had no choice, you idiot,” Bull hissed back.
“They’ve already killed three of the team, probably four. They were taking the
cars. If I didn’t react, the next thing we’d know is that they’d storm the
place and shoot us down.”


“Maybe we should just give up,” Juice mumbled.
“I don’t want to die, man.”


“You want to give yourself up, asshole?” Bull
retorted. “Go ahead. I’ll call the fuckers and tell them that you’re coming out
and you can take your chances with these fuckers and their justice. If they
don’t shoot you dead halfway across the parking lot, you’ll spend the next
twenty years getting fucked in the ass in jail. If that’s what you want, go
ahead, you moron. Get the fuck outta here.”


“Go fuck yourself, Bull,” muttered Juice. “You’d
probably shoot me in the back as I’m going through the door.”


“Okay, enough of this bullshit,” Sparks finally spoke up. “What
we need to do is keep our heads, guys. If we start freaking out and bitching at
each other, these people here might try to take advantage of that. If we lose
our cool and the cops find out, they might decide to rush in.”


“Sparks is right,” Shade agreed as he glared at Bull,
“Even if shooting that chick was fucking stupid. You start thinking of a plan B
to get us out of here and try to come up with something that’ll actually work.
I’m gonna go check the upstairs offices to see if I can find their goddamned
mole.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 20 - 11:19 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174882]


 


Chris was becoming quite adept at getting around
the bank within its walls, ceilings and ventilation system and had now made his
way back above the second floor conference room where it had all begun for him.
Still unsure of what he would do, he currently hoped to somehow further
neutralize the first robber he had met with in order to at least keep the odds
where they were.


Making his way to the corner which he knew would
be above the area behind the conference room door, he carefully lifted the
ceiling tile next to him a couple of inches, just enough to afford him a view
of the darkened room. Excluding the dead body of his first victim, the room was
unoccupied. Quickly lifting the tile further, he swung his feet through the
opening and dropped to the carpeted floor. As he straightened up, he heard the
whisper behind him.


“I’ve been looking for you, motherfucker.”


Chris slowly turned to find himself facing a gun
held by the black robber who stood in the corner, the only place he couldn’t
see when he had checked the room from the ceiling a moment earlier.


“Well, I-I guess you found me,” Chris replied as
he raised his hands on either side, standing at a slight angle to hide the
cardboard sheath on his thigh. “I was hiding because I was scared.”


“How scared could you be going around killing my
buddies like Goose here?” Shade gestured towards the body. “Or Ben out back?
You almost chopped his fucking head off. But worst of all, sticking my girl in
a locker and having me shoot her? I’m gonna take you out, you bastard, and it’s
gonna be slow and painful. You’re gonna pay for what you’ve done, especially to
Krystalle.”


“W-wait a m-minute there,” Chris stammered with
a look of panic. “I-I don’t know what you’re talking about but I didn’t kill or
chop up anybody or stick anyone in a locker. I’m a business man, on the bank’s
board of directors. I-I was in a meeting with Ian Howard, in here, when this
all started. I got scared so I hid in the ceiling. That’s all I did, I swear.”


“You expect me to believe that, Mister?” Shade
challenged though his expression now displayed a touch of uncertainty as he
examined Chris’ attire in the dim light. What the man was saying could be true.
“Cuz somebody’s been doing all this shit and feeding the cops with information
bout what’s going on in here.”


“Well, I tell you that it wasn’t me. Come on,”
Chris gave a nervous laugh. “Do I honestly look like a killer? And, how could I
be giving anybody information when I’m stuck up in the ceiling on the second
floor?”


“Well, I guess you might not be bullshitting
me,” Shade admitted and actually looked a bit more relaxed. “Have you seen
anybody else in here that don’t belong?”


“No. Like I told you, I’ve been up in the
ceiling, getting all dirty and dusty and nearly crapping in my pants,” Chris
insisted. “I heard people come in here a couple of times and was sure they’d
hear me up there but they didn’t.”


“How many times did you hear people come in
here?” Shade asked, looking to test Chris a bit further.


“Twice, I think,” Chris replied, hesitating as
if in thought. “Once, right after I climbed into the ceiling. I could hear
someone moving around, maybe looking for something, just for a minute or so
then it got quiet. Not long after, I heard the door open again and, almost
immediately, it sounded like someone was choking for a minute but it didn’t
last very long and it got quiet again.”


“That was probably Goose that you heard
choking,” Shade commented as he glanced at the dead man.


Chris gestured towards the body. “So, this guy’s
really dead?”


“That’s what I’ve been told,” Shade replied,
“But I probably should check for myself.”


He moved towards Goose and crouched by the body,
his pistol still trained on Chris. He turned his eyes for an instant, planning
to take the dead man’s pulse when he suddenly felt a sharp, searing pain in the
wrist of his gun hand. Turning his head sharply back, he was surprised to note
that his hand was gone, cut cleanly off at the wrist and laying on the carpet,
still clutching the pistol. He raised his eyes up to Chris, who stood above him
holding a twenty-four inch machete of sorts then promptly fainted.


 


* * * *


 


“I’m afraid that you won’t be pleased with what
I have to tell you gentlemen,” said Marc Chenier, Director of Security for the
Imperial National Bank.


“Any bit of additional information you can
supply us with might prove useful,” Captain Leblanc replied though he felt his
heart already sinking.


“I sincerely doubt it, Captain,” Chenier
insisted, shaking his head. “There’s absolutely no way to gain access to the
bank from the office tower above it. The bank itself is an independent
reinforced concrete block, top, sides and bottom. The ventilation system is
independent as well with all external exhaust and intake ducts narrowing to
four inches high and twelve inches wide. These exhaust and intake ducts are all
covered with half-inch slatted grills made of tempered steel which are welded
in place. A common mouse couldn’t get in by the ventilation system, much less a
human being.”


“What about the windows?” asked Jonathan.


“Shatter-proof and bullet proof,” was the
immediate reply. “A high level of explosives could probably pop them out but
that would be far from stealthy. You’d have more luck getting in quietly with a
crane and a wrecking ball.”


“Damn,” muttered Leblanc. “So, the only way in
is through the doors?”


“I’m afraid so,” the security director
confirmed. “However the opposite is also true, Captain. It’s the only way out
as well. There is no way in hell that those guys can sneak out from anywhere.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 21 - 11:25 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174883]


 


As a first order of business, Chris had cut off
a sleeve from the black man’s denim jacket which he had torn into strips,
making a tourniquet to stem the flow of blood from the severed hand. If a death
could be avoided, so be it. More strips from the jacket had been used to bind
the man’s ankles and arms with a final one serving as a gag. There was nothing
that he could really tie the man to but he believed, and hoped, that the blood
loss and shock from the wound would be enough to render him incapable of doing
much, if anything, if he regained consciousness.


He had then managed to walk the wooden cabinet,
which still held his first prisoner captive, partway across the room before
laying it face down, once again to block the door to the room, and also to
ensure that the man inside could not get out by any means. To add some
additional weight to the barrier, he had laid the dead man’s body on top of the
heavy cabinet.


Satisfied with his efforts, he picked up the
most recent addition to his growing handgun collection, climbed on the
conference table, pushed aside a tile above and disappeared into the ceiling
yet again as he muttered, “This is getting really old.”


 


* * * *


 


Juice glanced at his watch and frowned before
stepping back to get a better view of the mezzanine above.


“How long can it take Shade to check those
offices upstairs?” he asked as he sidled over to Bull and Sparks. “He’s been gone a
little while now.”


“I don’t know,” Bull replied, his tone
reflecting unease for the first time, “But we’re not going to look for him.
Every time someone goes off, they fucking disappear or get killed so we’re
staying right here from now on.”


“This might sound cold,” Sparks murmured after a
moment, “But if the others are all dead and we somehow get out of here, we’re
going to be looking at a much bigger chunk of change each.”


“That’s real fucking nice,” Juice scoffed,
“Except, how the hell are we going to get out of here?”


“I’ve been thinking of that,” said Bull. “How
about if we asked for a helicopter to get us out of here? We’d take a couple of
hostages and the money and fly somewhere.”


“Fly to where?” Juice challenged.


“Maybe some small airfield somewhere with
charter planes,” Sparks suggested, warming to
the idea. “We tie up the chopper pilot and hostages and leave them behind, hop
a plane, head somewhere else, grab a car and disappear.”


“You know,” Bull was nodding and smiling,
“Something like that could work. Do you know any small airfields in the area?”


“There’s one off the 640 in Mascouche,” replied Sparks as he pulled out his iPhone
to start some internet research.


“And there’s another one by the 20 in Les Cèdres,”
Juice pitched in, becoming a little more encouraged with the plan.


“Let me look into some charter possibilities,” Sparks offered. “Cuz this
could actually work.”


“Do that,” Bull agreed, suddenly more hopeful.
“Juice, keep an eye on our friends here. I’m going to have another chat with
the fine captain.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 22 - 11:31 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174884]


 


“This won’t be easy and will take some time but
I’ll do everything I can to work something out, Bull,” said Edgar Leblanc, “I’m
going to have to convince my superiors and, to do that, you’re going have to
give me something in exchange if you want them to even consider getting you a
helicopter.”


“How about if I don’t kill any other hostages,”
Bull riposted. “There’s an exchange for you. Their lives for a chopper and you
leave us the hell alone once we fly outta here. Get thinking about how you’re
gonna convince your guys, Captain, cuz that’s my offer. I’ll call you back in a
bit to check on your progress.”


The connection cut and Leblanc slid his phone
shut as he looked up at Jonathan. “Can you believe it? A helicopter?”


“Can you get him one?” Jonathan asked, “Because
if it’s a problem for you, I can look after it.”


“You actually think that we should give in to
his demands?” the captain shot back, his tone, incredulous, “A commercial
chopper with a civilian pilot and a guarantee that we won’t follow them?”


“I didn’t mention that I’m a pilot, did I?” said
Jonathan with a grin, “With a civilian license. I fly both choppers and
planes.”


“No, you hadn’t mentioned that, Mister Addley,”
Leblanc replied with the shadow of a smile which quickly vanished. “But you
aren’t really thinking of flying them out, are you? I understand that you have
expertise in dealing with people like this, Jonathan, but you’d still be
unarmed and outnumbered. It would be suicide.”


“I’m sure that I can find an acceptable
helicopter with appropriate spots to hide any required weapons,” Jonathan
reassured him, “And, I’m now also toying with the idea that Chris surrender, as
long as it doesn’t get him killed, so that he can end up being one of the
hostages taken on the chopper ride. If we can make that happen, I wouldn’t be
solo.”


“What are the odds of your little scenario
becoming reality?” Leblanc argued, “And even if we managed to make your dream
come true, you’d still be outnumbered and held at gunpoint by desperate men who
killed an innocent young woman less than half an hour ago.”


“Captain, you asked earlier who Chris and I
were,” Jonathan stated. “Let me tell you what we are. We are men who are
extremely capable and, when required, we can get very nasty, even when unarmed
against armed men. Why don’t you let me make a call about that bird we need and
then I’ll have a chat with Chris to see if my dream is feasible.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 23 - 11:39 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174885]


 


Located right off Montreal’s Trudeau International
Airport, HeliPro was a well run and well respected helicopter charter business
which catered to government and business executives alike as well as others who
qualified as rich and famous. Their fleet of sixteen birds ranged from a two
seat Robinson R22 Beta II to a Sikorsky S-76D with a seating capacity of
thirteen and everywhere in between.


Though a fully legitimate and profitable going
concern, reported as being a private company, HeliPro was different from other
similar firms in that it was secretly owned by the Ministry of Defence as part
of the ‘Discreet Activities’ sector overseen by Jonathan Addley.


Managing the operation was its president,
Catherine ‘Cat’ Connor, a former military officer and pilot who had left the
army for ‘private’ sector employment at Addley’s request several years earlier
when HeliPro had been founded. An attractive brunette of five feet, four inches
and barely over one hundred pounds, Cat, in addition to being a fair but shrewd
business professional, was also a highly trained killing machine. She, as well
as a handful of other pilots and employees of the firm, was also a ‘consultant’
with ‘Discreet Activities’, unbeknownst to their other co-workers.


Seated in her spacious and comfortably appointed
office, she completed the call she was on and immediately went off in search of
her chief mechanic and partner in life, Jeff Lloyd, who she found in the hangar
working on a Bell 427.


“That’s just the bird we need,” she smiled. “Are
you reading my mind again?”


“I plead innocent this time, Sweets,” the tall,
wiry mechanic replied, raising his hands in mock defence as he looked down at
the short and slender love of his life. “It was just due for some regular
maintenance. You can check the roster.”


“I’ll take your word for it,” Cat said. “Are you
almost done with it?”


“Yep, just finishing up,” Jeff confirmed. “Who
needs it?”


“Jonathan just called,” Connor lowered her
voice. “Get cleaned up and come to my office so that we can go over the specs.”


 


* * * *


 


Chris had been watching the activity below for a
few minutes, where the three remaining robbers had held a brief discussion
before breaking up. One of them, a short, skinny guy, had then gone off to one
side to fiddle with his phone, apparently browsing the internet, while their
ringleader had gotten busy on his phone as well to make a call. The third had
returned to what seemed to be his regular duty, keeping an eye on their
prisoners.


Chris’ phone vibrated and, noting that it was
Jonathan, he opened the line and slid back into the duct, away from the
ventilation grill.


“Hi there,” he whispered as he moved further
still. “I’ve been meaning to call but I was doing a bit of surveillance first.
All’s quiet for now but they seem to be planning something. By the way, I took
another one out so they’re down to three.”


“You always have to prove that you’re better,
don’t you,” Jonathan kidded. “Which one was it this time?”


“The black guy,” Chris replied. “He caught me in
a conference room upstairs but I managed to subdue him. As it stands now, he should
live, but I hope he wasn’t a pianist.”


“You broke his fingers?” asked Jonathan.


“I chopped his hand off,” Chris corrected.


“You’re a dangerous man, Mister Barry,” Jon
stated.


“That’s why you’ve kept me on the payroll,
Mister Addley,” said Chris. “What’s new on your end?”


“Well, you were right,” Jonathan replied. “They
are planning something. They’ve requested a commercial chopper big enough for
six passengers with a civilian pilot and a guarantee that they won’t be
followed or tracked.”


“How the hell will they know if they’re being
tracked or not?” Chris enquired.


“All we were told is that if they suspect that
they’re on the radar by any means, more people will die,” said Jonathan. “I’m
looking after getting the helicopter and I’ll be the civilian pilot.”


“I don’t like the sound of that, Jon,” Chris
argued. “You can’t go off with them alone.”


“I’m hoping that I won’t have to,” was Addley’s
response. “They plan to take some hostages and I’d like you to join the party.
Do you think you can arrange that?”


“Hmmm, I’ll have to figure out how,” Chris
replied. “With three of their people dead and two others missing, I think that
they’re a little annoyed with me right now. They just might shoot me on sight.
How long before you get the chopper?”


“Not for a few hours,” Jonathan responded.
“Edgar made it as clear as possible that getting a helicopter would require
some time and effort and even let on that it might not happen. We’re not in too
much of a hurry to accommodate these bastards.”


“I’ll work on a plan from my end and I’ll let
you know,” said Chris. “Once I surrender to them, we’ll be out of contact so we
have to plan this right from the get-go.”


“If you surrender to them, Chris,” Addley
warned.


“I’m sure we can make this happen, Boss,” said
Chris. “Let me mull this over for a bit and I’ll get back to you.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 24 - 11:49 a.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174886]


 


“Uh, excuse me, uh, sir?” Head Customer Service
Associate, Sara Bergeron said to Juice. “I-I’d really need to use the
facilities.”


“Uh, the what?” Juice replied, not expecting
that any of the hostages would address him.


“She needs to use the bathroom, you idiot,”
Simon Chase spat. “Even prisoners, like you’ll be in a little while, are
allowed to go to the bathroom.”


“I need to go too,” Annette Laurier timidly
announced before breaking into tears.


“What the hell is going on here?” demanded Bull
as he stomped over.


“Some of them need to go to the bathroom,” Juice
mumbled.


“Aw, Jesus Christ,” Bull muttered. “Can’t they
just hold it in?”


“I-I could take a leak myself,” Juice admitted.
“I’ll check out the can to make sure everything’s cool and then I can take them
one at a time, okay?”


“Oh, just go,” Bull barked, exasperated.
“Where’s the goddamned bathroom?”


“I know where it is,” said Juice as he hurried
to the opposite side of the customer service counter. “I saw it when we went to
the vault.”


“Fucking bathroom breaks,” Bull snorted as he
eyed the hostages in exasperation. “Next thing I’ll know is, they’ll be wanting
lunch.”


“I don’t know about the others, but I think
pizza would be good,” Chase called out then smiled as Bull glared at him.


 


* * * *


 


Chris sat on steel girder above the bank’s
vault, running through the ‘surrender’ plan he had formulated. It was a bit of
a stretch but, with his corporate experience in clinching big deals in the past
coupled with countless ‘Discreet Activities’ operations over the last thirteen
plus years, his acting skills were well enough honed that he believed he could
actually pull it off. A key element to his succeeding was that the robbers
were, in fact, as dumb and naïve as he gave them credit for to date.


He pulled his phone out and placed a call which
was quickly answered.


“Here’s my plan, Jon. It’s going to mean more
casualties but it should work so, tell me what you think…”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 25 - 12:03 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174887]


 


“Yes, Captain, I said pizza,” Bull shouted in
the phone. “Ain’t you never heard of pizza before? We’re all getting hungry in
here, it’s lunchtime and we can’t really go out so I’m ordering pizza for
everyone. Is that a problem?”


“Not at all, Bull,” replied Leblanc. “We can get
you pizza. That’s not a problem. How many people are we feeding?”


“Uh, let’s see,” said Bull as he counted,
“Eleven people.”


“Eleven, okay. Now what kind of pizzas would you
guys like,” the captain continued as he gestured three to Jonathan, confirming
that three robbers were left plus the eight remaining hostages.


“Christ, I don’t know,” Bull retorted. “I like
all-dressed so get some of that. Maybe some plain, some pepperoni and some
vegetarian. Get some fries too, the spicy ones. I like fries with my pizza.”


“Want anything to drink with that?” enquired
Leblanc.


“Shit, Captain, you should go work for Dominos,”
Bull laughed. “Yeah, how about a six-pack of Sleeman Red. Get some Coke and
Sprite too, I guess.”


“Hmmm, I don’t know about the beer, Bull,”
Leblanc replied. “I don’t think throwing alcohol into the mix is a good idea at
this time.”


“Aw, Jesus, gimme a break, will you?” Bull shot
back. “I’m having a crappy day here as it is, Captain. I don’t need your
goddamned preaching cuz I want to have a beer. Get me the fucking six-pack
already.”


“Alright, Bull, we’ll get you the beer,” Leblanc
conceded. “I’ll get this ordered and over to you as soon as possible.”


“Good,” Bull replied, “And, Captain, don’t try
to do any funny shit like doping up the food cuz if I start to feel funny or
see anyone going woozy, I guarantee that all the hostages will be dead before I
keel over. Got that?”


“Loud and clear, Bull,” said Leblanc. “Loud and
clear.”


“Good man, Captain,” mocked Bull. “I’ll leave
this phone on for now. Call me when the food gets here.”


 


* * * *


 


“So, what do you think?” asked Chris, having
finished the outline of his plan.


“You’re putting yourself at risk, Chris,”
Jonathan replied without hesitation.


“It’s not going to be the first time, Jon, and
it certainly won’t be the last,” Chris argued. “At least, I hope it isn’t. The
only chance we have of me getting on that chopper with you is if I’m a hostage.
There’s no getting around that.”


“You’re right but, what if they just shoot you
as soon as they see you?” Jonathan challenged. “Even if they do listen, what if
they don’t buy your story and decide that you’re the one who screwed up their
plans?”


“Hopefully, I’ll be convincing enough that
they’ll believe that I’m just a victim of circumstances,” Chris replied. “You
do agree that my story holds up, don’t you?”


“Yeah, it’s plausible and, knowing you, I think
you can sell it,” Jonathan admitted.


“And Ian Howard will vouch for who I am,” Chris
concluded. “So, do I go with it? Otherwise, there isn’t much I can do except
try to gun the three remaining bastards down which is dangerous with eight
hostages hanging around.”


“I agree, Chris. Go with it,” Jonathan sighed,
“And I’m looking forward to seeing you again, alive, in a short while. Anything
else before we roll with this?”


“I’ve been kind of busy and haven’t had time to
give Sandy a call so she’s unaware
of what’s going on,” said Chris. “Can you call her and let her know I may be
late for dinner?”


“Sure, have me do the dirty work,” Jonathan
laughed. “I’ll let her know and I’ll be seeing you soon.”


Chris cut the connection and started making his
way along the steel beams to return to the mezzanine conference room above,
hopefully for the last time. Simply put, this travelling within the walls,
ceilings and air-ducts was starting to get rather annoying. As he reached the
vertical beam which he intended to climb, he heard footsteps below him then a
door opening and closing a little further away, followed by muffled voices.
Remaining immobile, he strained to hear the conversation but was unable to make
out the muted words. Try as he might, all he could hear was the distorted
vibration of the sounds as they filtered through the walls and ceiling below
him.


 


* * * *


 


“This is not going as planned,” said Mistah B.
“Far from it.”


“I’m sorry, but we did everything like we were
supposed to,” Juice replied. “If we cut the wrong cables, that’s your fault
cuz...”


“You didn’t cut the wrong cables,” Mistah B
interrupted. “The communication systems, including the alarms, were all cut out
fine. I don’t know how the cops found out, and so quickly for that matter, but
this has fucked up big time with over half of you guys dead or disappeared. And
Bull, drinking and smoking dope, then shooting Louise? That was just stupid. I
never should have involved him in this.”


“I know, I know,” Juice agreed. “It’s making me
sick but, it’s done. Bull just lost it. You know how he is.”


“He’s an idiot, that’s what he is,” barked Mistah
B. “And, I also don’t appreciate getting roughed up or threatened.”


“Ah, come on,” Juice pleaded. “We’re just making
it look real.”


“Anyway, there’s not much that I can do about
anything now,” said Mistah B. “It’s in your hands so you guys just better
figure out a way to get the fuck out of here with the cash and lay low
somewhere.”


“Bull’s asked for a chopper,” Juice explained,
“And Sparks is looking into renting a plane.”


“Yeah, I heard about that,” Mistah B replied in
a sarcastic tone. “We’re all in the same room out there and discretion isn’t
Bull’s forte. I’ll believe that plan when I see it happen.”


“They think it will,” said Juice, trying to
appear optimistic.


 “Time will tell,” scoffed Mistah B, “But if it
does, don’t the three of you start getting ideas of disappearing on me because
I’ll make sure you all rot in prison.”


“Of course not,” Juice replied. “You know we’d
never do that.”


 “Maybe you wouldn’t but I wouldn’t put it past
Bull, so, you let him know,” warned Mistah B. “We’d better get back. I don’t
want anyone getting suspicious.”


As they left the washroom, Juice, trying to
sound convincing but failing, added, “We’re gonna get through this, Mistah B.”


 


* * * *


 


Chris heard the door opening and closing again,
followed by a voice saying, “We’re gonna get through this, Mister B.”


No response came as footsteps receded and all
went silent again.


Chris started climbing along the vertical beam,
on his way back to the mezzanine level as he soundlessly questioned, ‘Who the
hell was that? Who’s this Mister B.?’
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Chris once again pushed a ceiling tile aside and
peered down into the dimness of the second floor conference room. The Jamaican
was motionless but had moved from where Chris had left him earlier. A large,
dark pool stained the pale carpet by the man’s injured arm and Chris realized
that the tourniquet was no longer in place, no doubt having come loose as the
man had struggled to free himself. The wooden cabinet and the cadaver lying
atop it remained by the door where he had left them.


Dropping onto the conference table then to the
carpet once more, Chris moved cautiously to the Jamaican’s side and checked the
man’s pulse.


“Well, buddy,” he murmured to the corpse. “You
saved me some trouble because, as it turns out, I would have had to kill you
anyhow.”


He’d now left the handguns and loose bullets
from the .357 up in the ceiling above the conference room as he could have
nothing compromising on him if he was to sell his story. All he had left was
the machete which he presently un-taped from his leg. This weapon was required
as a prop to help convince the robbers of his innocence.


After having slapped as much dust as possible
off his suit, luckily, a pale grey one, he re-knotted his tie and hoped that he
looked reasonably like the business man he had been upon his arrival at the
bank that morning, if somewhat dishevelled. That done, he moved over to the
wooden cabinet and dragged the dead body off of it and out of the way. He then
flipped the cabinet over onto one side and then again so that it lay on its
back. After unravelling the Ethernet cord which secured the door handles
together, he pulled one door open, being careful to stand clear in case his
prisoner had regained consciousness and tried to kick at him.


His prisoner was awake but barely, his eyes
glazed over and his lids heavy as he tried to mumble something through the
balled paper stuffed in his mouth.


“Sorry to have to do this,” Chris whispered,
“But it’s the only way that I’m sure that you’ll cooperate with me.”


He then reached into the cabinet, took hold of
the man’s head and, with a sudden twist, broke his neck.


 


* * * *


 


The Barrys had met Captain Dave McCall and his
wife, Cathy, some thirteen years earlier when Dave, then a lieutenant heading
the special homicide team he still managed, was investigating the ongoing spree
of Vigilante murders. Chris, due to his in-depth computer expertise, had been
asked by McCall to help trace emails which were being sent by the Vigilante.
Once the case had been solved, they had remained close and, to this day, McCall
remained unaware that the real Vigilante had been the man he considered his
closest friend today.


Dave McCall had learned however of Chris’
involvement with Jonathan Addley and ‘Discreet Activities’ and in fact, had
even called upon them for assistance on a few occasions in recent years when
conventional police activity was deemed insufficient to obtain the desired end
results. The McCalls’ friendship with the Addleys had grown as well and three
couples now regularly got together for dinners, weekends and vacations.


When Sandy Barry returned to the terrace through
the patio doors, the telephone still in her hand, both Dave and Cathy immediately
saw that she was troubled.


“Everything alright, Sandy?” Cathy asked as she
observed her friend closely.


“Well, no, not really,” Sandy replied as she rejoined
them at the patio table.


“What’s wrong? Dave enquired with concern. “Is
it Chris?”


“That was Jonathan on the phone,” Sandy explained. “But yes, he
was calling about Chris. There was a bank robbery attempt this morning that’s
turned into a hostage taking. One bank employee’s been killed and several of
the robbers are dead too.”


“Where does Chris fit in?” Dave questioned,
always a cop, even when on vacation.


“This is all happening at the bank where Chris
was going for a meeting this morning,” said Sandy.


“Is Chris alright?” asked Cathy. “Is he a
hostage?”


“Not to date,” Sandy went on. “He was in a meeting when the
robbers came in and managed to hide. Since, Jon tells me that Chris took five
of the eight robbers out but the other three apparently don’t specifically know
that he’s in there. They know someone’s in there but they haven’t found him.”


“Did Jonathan give you any idea how they’re
planning to deal with this?” Dave asked. “I take it that he’s involved?”


“Yes, Jonathan is involved,” Sandy confirmed. “Chris
called him as the robbery was taking place. Jon called the police then headed
there. He’s been with the captain who’s overseeing the operation, acting as an
advisor. He didn’t tell me exactly what they were planning but mentioned that
he and Chris were hoping to work together to put an end to this.”


“Sandy, is there anything at all that I can do to
help?” Dave offered. He was not without his connections in the police world.


“I just want both of you to stay here with me,” Sandy replied with a brief
smile. “Jonathan assured me that Chris would be home in time for dinner.”


 


* * * *


 


“Hi, Chris,” Addley answered his phone. “What’s
up?”


“I wanted to let you know that I’m ready to
roll,” said Chris, “But I also wanted to mention that our guys may have someone
on the inside.”


“Really?” said Jon. “Do you have any idea who?”


“Not a clue,” Chris admitted. “I was on my way
back up to the mezzanine when I heard two people talking somewhere below. I
couldn’t hear a word they were saying, not even their actual voices, just a
buzzing murmur as they spoke. Once they were done, I heard a door opening and
someone, I’m guessing one of our robbers, said, ‘We’re gonna get through this,
Mister B.’. Unfortunately, the other person didn’t respond so I didn’t hear the
second voice.”


“So, presumably one of our male hostages?”
Jonathan suggested.


“That would be my best guess,” Chris replied.
“We’ve got three including Ian Howard. I wouldn’t think it’s him but, who
knows. I don’t know the other two by name. One is management, probably the
assistant director. He’s the one that Bull smacked earlier. The other one’s
younger, late twenties, dressed more casual, a little guy who looks kind of
nerdy.”


“So, now you may be dealing with an inside man,
but you don’t know who,” said Jonathan. “That could make your appearance
trickier, particularly if that person turns out to be Howard.”


“I don’t know that it does,” Chris mused. “Even
if it is Howard, it doesn’t make my story any less plausible. As far as he
knows, I’m a board member and that’s it. Why would he think that I killed those
idiots?”


“You’ve got a point,” Jonathan conceded then
added, “Except that you’re counting on Howard to vouch for you. Your story
won’t exactly jive with what really happened when you got to the bank this
morning. Howard will know that.”


“It’s a small chance that I’ll have to take,”
admitted Chris, “But Howard should simply think that I’m lying to protect him.
There’s no reason for him to get suspicious.”


“Makes sense, I guess,” Jonathan agreed. “So, I
take it that you’re going ahead with this? It’s not too late to back out.”


“To be honest with you, I’d rather go ahead with
this than climb up into that ceiling again,” Chris replied. “After this call,
I’ll be deactivating my phone and then, it’s show time, so, if you hear gun
shots in the next couple of minutes, you’ll know that I had misjudged my acting
abilities.”


“Enough with the defeatist attitude, buddy,” Jon
quipped to make light of the situation. “You have to have more confidence in
yourself. Anyway, you have to pull this off because I told your wife you’d be
home for dinner.”


“True,” Chris agreed. “I wouldn’t want to put
you in any position where Sandy’s gunning for you so, wish me luck.”


“Break a leg, Chris,” said Jonathan. “Go show
them boys that you should have been on Broadway.”


“This is more like an action flick,” Chris
replied, “So, I’m thinking Hollywood. See you soon, Jon.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 27 - 12:14 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174889]


 


All was rather quiet on the bank’s main floor
where, those who had needed to use the restroom, had, and all now waited with
varying levels of appetite for lunch to be delivered. While Sparks continued his search
for plane rental possibilities somewhere, Juice kept an eye on their hostages
and Bull leaned on the small central counter by his bomb, pondering over their
predicament with the occasional help of his flask.


All were startled when a door was suddenly heard
crashing open on the mezzanine overheard, followed by a man screaming, “You
won’t kill me too, you bastard!”


As Bull spun around to determine what was going
on, a body came hurtling down, landing a few feet from him with a sickening
thud.


“What the fuck?” he uttered, his adrenaline
pumping wildly as he recognized Wheels as the crumpled body on the hard
terrazzo floor.


An unknown man, dirty blond, five ten and fit,
clad in a well cut but dusty grey suit started down the stairs from one side of
the mezzanine and stopped in shock as he looked at Bull and the body sprawled
beside him.


“Oh my God,” the man said with a look of horror.
“Is he dead? I didn’t mean to kill him but he was trying to kill me like the
others.”


“Who the fuck are you?” Bull bellowed as he
pointed his heavy revolver at the man. “Get down here.”


“I-I’m Chris Barry,” the man stammered as he
descended the stairs on shaky legs. “I-I’m on t-the bank’s board of directors.”


“Stay where you are and spread your arms out,”
Bull ordered once Chris reached the ground floor. “What the fuck are you doing
here? How did you get in here?”


“I was here before the b-bank opened this
morning,” Chris explained. “I-I had a meeting with Ian Howard.”


“Howard knew you were in here?” snarled Bull as
he turned towards the hostages.


“N-no, he didn’t,” Chris denied. “I was here
before he arrived and a young lady let me in.”


“Which young lady?” Bull barked. “Point her
out.”


Chris made a show of studying the faces of the
hostages then gasped as he noticed the dead woman’s body lying on the floor by
the customer service counter.


“Jesus,” he whispered, looking as he might be
sick. “It w-was her. I remember the pink skirt.”


Bull eyed Chris for a moment and demanded, “Where
the fuck were you all this time?”


“Sh-she,” Chris gestured towards the body
without looking while gulping air, “She showed me to a conference room upstairs
to wait for Mister Howard. Th-then I heard some yelling around ten and realized
that it was a hold-up s-so I hid in the ceiling.”


“And then you called the cops, you motherfucker,
and turned this all to shit,” growled Bull as he raised his gun at Chris again.


“No. No I didn’t,” Chris argued. “I couldn’t
even if I had wanted to. My phone died on me yesterday afternoon.”


“Sparks, check this guy’s phone,” Bull ordered,
“And make sure the bastard’s not armed.”


Sparks sauntered over and quickly frisked Chris then
tried to turn on the defective phone without success. He checked to make sure
that the battery and SIM card were in place then handed the phone back to
Chris. There were advantages to getting one’s electronics through Jonathan.


“Nothing on him and his phone is definitely
useless,” Sparks confirmed.


Bull nodded then looked back at Chris as he
gestured to Wheels’ body on the floor. “Now, tell me what the fuck happened
with my friend here.”


“I barely had time to climb into the ceiling, I
was pushing the tile back into place, when he came into the conference room,”
Chris explained with a little more assurance. “I could see him because there
was still a gap of a few inches by the tile.”


“Yeah, yeah, go on,” said Bull with impatience.


“He looked quickly around the room, grabbed some
kind of computer cable then stood in the corner behind the door and just stayed
there,” Chris continued. “A few minutes later, another man came into the room,
a stocky guy, Latino maybe, and this one came up to him from behind and put the
cable around his neck and tried to choke him. The Latino tried to fight back
and this guy tripped him. The other guy fell and never got up again.”


“That explains what happened to Goose,” Juice
piped up, earning a glare from Bull.


“What happened next?” asked Bull, returning his
attention to Chris.


“What happened next is I nearly got a heart
attack,” Chris replied, “Because he got up onto the table, pushed a tile aside
and climbed into the ceiling where I was.”


“And he didn’t see you?” Bull challenged.


“No, thank God,” said Chris. “It’s dark in there
and I was about ten feet away from where he climbed up.”


“So, he just stayed in the ceiling with you all
this time and never saw you?” Bull asked, doubtful of what he was hearing.


“No, he didn’t stay there,” Chris explained. “As
soon as he was into the ceiling, he went towards the back and climbed down inside
the wall and was gone for a while.”


Bull glanced over at Sparks who was already eyeing
him. Had Wheels been trying to eliminate some of them? Perhaps all of them?
They hadn’t known the man very well. The car thief had been an acquaintance of Mistah
B’s upon joining the heist team.


Bull returned his attention to Chris once again.
“What happened after that?”


“He came back after a while, about an hour ago,”
said Chris. “By then I had moved as far back as I could into the corner to stay
in the dark. He went back into the conference room and a few minutes later, I
heard the door opening and some kind of chopping noise right after that,
followed by a thump like someone falling on the floor.







“I slid a tile over to see what was going on and
he was standing over a black man, cutting up a denim jacket with that thing.”
Chris pointed towards the dead man’s leg.


Bull leaned over and noticed something he hadn’t
seen before. Taped to Wheels’ thigh was a strip of folded cardboard out of
which protruded a sturdy plastic handle. He pulled on it to expose a sharp,
blood-stained, steel blade, about twenty-four inches long.


“Holy shit,” he exclaimed as he looked up a
Chris. “What did he do with this?”


“He chopped off the black man’s hand,” Chris
said, gulping air again. “The guy bled to death after being tied up.”


“Son of a bitch,” Bull replied, shaking his
head. “Where the hell did he even get this thing?”


“He didn’t have it when I first saw him,” said
Chris. “At least, I didn’t notice it. I only saw it when he came back because
he pulled it out before going back down through the ceiling.”


“Fucking Jesus Christ,” Bull muttered as he
gazed at Sparks then Juice. “Do you
believe this shit?”


“Ben nearly got his head whacked off,” Juice
replied. “That thing would do it.”


Bull returned his gaze to Chris. “What happened
next?”


“It got quiet for a while,” said Chris, “Long
enough that I thought he had left. I’d moved a tile just a crack and I couldn’t
see him anywhere, plus my legs were getting really cramped from crouching up on
the ceiling rafters for so long so I went back down into the conference room. I
went to check on the black man but he was already dead and then this guy came
out of this cabinet where he’d been hiding and attacked me from behind, trying
to choke me like he did with the first one.


“I’m in pretty good shape and I was scared so I
guess the adrenaline helped. Anyway, I fought him and knocked him down and
tried to leave the conference room. Just as I opened the door, he rushed me but
I saw him coming and swung him past me. That’s when he went over the railing
and fell down here. I didn’t mean to kill him but I’m sure that he would have
killed me like he did to the other two.”


“Lousy son of a bitch,” Bull muttered before
violently kicking the corpse at his feet. Gazing back up at Chris, he said,
“Well, Mister Director, it looks like you may have solved a big problem for us.
Pizza should be here soon so I invite you to join us for lunch. Why don’t you
go have a seat and meet our other guests over there?”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 28 - 12:27 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174890]


 


“Hi Cat,” Jonathan said into his phone. “What’s
the word?”


“We’re prepping a Bell 427 for you,” replied Connor. “It should be
ready by one. Where do you want me to deliver it?”


“You’re doing deliveries now?” Jonathan grinned.
“I know I like my managers to be hands on but aren’t you pushing it a bit too
far?”


“I carefully considered what you told me you
needed the chopper for and decided that you needed a co-pilot,” Cat replied.
“This is too big a job to handle all by yourself. Jeff’s installing the dummy
kit for me right now.”


“I can’t say I dislike the idea but your
presence might be a problem,” said Addley. “They specified one pilot. Anyhow,
I’m hoping that Chris will be on board so, if that works out, I won’t be
alone.”


“Chris Barry?” Cat questioned with surprise. She
had worked some missions with Chris in the past. “How the hell does he fit into
all of this?”


“Chris just happened to be in the bank when all
this started,” Addley explained. “The robbers didn’t know he was in there and
he’s managed to reduce their number from eight to three. Now he was planning to
expose himself, without getting killed in the process, in order to become a
hostage so that he could join me on the chopper when the time comes. That was
over ten minutes ago and we haven’t heard any gun shots to date so I’m hoping
that means he was successful.”


“If anyone can succeed in doing that, it’s
Chris, for sure, but there’s no guarantee that he’ll be chosen as a traveling
hostage which could mean that you do end up alone.” Cat argued. “Force the
co-pilot angle on them as a federal safety regulation. We’ll refuse to take off
without both of us on board. My being there also gives them an additional
hostage and, if I’m not there, they may decide to fill the extra seat with a
real hostage. Last of all, I can’t see any big, bad bank robbers being
intimidated by the likes of a cute, petite brunette like me.”


“I guess it’s Connor one, Addley zero,” Jonathan
threw in the towel. “Let me know when you’re taking off and I’ll meet you at
the Laval police headquarters.
Don’t forget to bring me a suit.”


“It’s already in the chopper, Boss. You don’t
pay me the big bucks for nothing,” Cat laughed before cutting the connection.


 


* * * *


 


With blaring siren and flashing lights, the
patrol car came racing up Daniel Johnson Boulevard and was quickly let through the road
block on its way to the mobile command post.


As it screeched to a halt, Captain Leblanc
looked at his watch and smiled at Jonathan. “We’re even faster than Dominos.”


He flipped open his phone and placed his call.
“We’ve got your food, Bull. How do you want us to get it to you?”


“Leave it by the front door,” Bull replied.
“Then have everybody back away. I’ll have a hostage bring it in so I don’t
suggest any of your snipers try taking a shot. Now, get that pizza over here
while it’s hot.”


 


* * * *


 


Bull ended his phone conversation and turned
towards the hostages to find one of them gazing at him.


“You,” he called out. “Come here. I’ve got a job
for you.”


The hostage got up and walked over hesitantly,
looking worried and frightened since the last person singled out had ended up
dead.


“W-what kind of job?”


“Any minute now, the cops are gonna dump a bunch
of pizzas and stuff by that door,” Bull explained. “Once they’ve moved off,
I’ll unlock the door and you’ll bring the food in. If you try to do anything
stupid, like run, I’ll shoot you. If I miss, I’ll shoot three of the other
hostages instead to pay for your mistake. Do you think you can handle that?”


“Uh, sure,” the hostage mumbled to the floor. “I
won’t try anything, okay. Just don’t hurt me or anyone else.”


“If nobody fucks around, nobody gets hurt,” Bull
snorted. “Just get that food in quick once they drop it off. I’m getting
hungry.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 29 - 12:30 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174891]


 


Jonathan and Captain Leblanc both watched from a
distance through binoculars as the two body-armoured cops climbed back into
their cruiser and drove away, having completed the food delivery without
incident. A moment passed then the bank’s front door opened and an attractive
man in business attire reached out and grabbed a first stack of pizza boxes
which he passed on to someone inside.


“Yes,” Jonathan exclaimed with a huge smile as
he looked on.


“What is it?” Leblanc asked, seeing nothing
particular to get excited about.


“That man you see taking the food in,” Jonathan
replied, “It’s with great pleasure that I visually introduce Chris Barry. Trust
me, Captain, when I tell you that things are looking a whole lot better than
they were a minute ago.”


 


* * * *


 


After having checked all of the pizza boxes and
bags to make sure that nothing undesirable had been included in there by the
cops, Bull, Sparks and Juice passed most of the food along to the hostages,
keeping a couple of pizzas, a large bag of fries, the six-pack and a few Cokes
for themselves.


“Don’t eat just yet,” Bull advised his two
associates as he popped open a beer. “Even if I warned the cops not to, they
may have spiked the food with something to knock us out. Let’s see if anything
happens to our guests first. Have a beer for now.”


“If I have a beer now, I’m gonna puke,” Juice
shuddered. “I don’t feel too good and I really need to eat something.”


“Would you rather get doped up by some shit the
cops put in the food, you moron?” Bull snarled. “I said wait, got it?”


Juice reluctantly closed the pizza box he had
just opened and watched the hostages with envy as they sat on the floor digging
into their lunch, the aroma of pepperoni and French fries wafting in the air.


“What about you, buddy?” Bull held out a can to Sparks. “Care to join me?”


“No,” Sparks shook his head. “I’m good for now.”


“Wusses,” Bull chuckled draining his can and
opening another.


“You might want to go easy on the drinking,
dude,” Sparks suggested. “We kinda
want to keep our heads for now, don’t you think?”


“Everybody’s my fucking mother today,” Bull
muttered as he glared at Sparks. “How are you coming
along with the plane?”


“I’m waiting for calls from both Mascouche and Les Cèdres,” Sparks replied, unfazed. “I
told them that I was looking for a plane for four passengers to fly us to Toronto sometime this
afternoon.”


“Why do you want to go to Toronto?” Juice whined. “That
city is so dead, man.”


“We don’t want to necessarily go to Toronto,” Sparks explained as Bull shook
his head condescendingly at Juice. “I just wanted a plane that can fly a decent
range with enough fuel to get us far enough or stay up long enough. Once we’re
in the air, we can tell the pilot where to go; could be fifty kilometres or six
hundred. Anyway, both places told me that there shouldn’t be a problem and that
they’d call me back by one.”


“Excellent,” Bull nodded. “When they do call
back, I want you to book something with both of them. That way, we’ll have more
than one escape option once we get the hell outta here.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 30 - 12:47 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174892]


 


Cat Connor made her way back into the hangar to
review the equipment additions Jeff had made to the Bell 427.


“Whoa,” said Jeff as he saw her approach. “I
didn’t know you were flying anywhere today.”


She had changed from the skirt suit she had been
wearing that morning to her well cut pilot uniform, complete with a
smart-looking captain’s cap.


“Jonathan begged me to deliver the chopper so
that I could join him in today’s antics,” she grinned. “You know how he can be
at times.”


“I’ll have to have a serious talk with that man
soon,” Jeff grinned back. “It’s just not right how he forces you to do these
jobs. You guys are going to be careful, right?”


“Always, sweetheart, just like you are when
you’re on a job,” Cat promised. “How are you coming along?”


“I just finished. Ready for inspection, mon capitaine,”
Jeff replied with a formal salute.


Cat walked over to the helicopter’s open front
passenger door and peered inside. The custom-made ‘dummy kit’ was in place and
had visually transformed the front left passenger area into a pilot’s cockpit,
identical to the real one on the right side of the craft, complete with cyclic
and collective sticks, pedals and full instrumentation panels. All of the dials
and gauges on the panels were connected to a miniature receiver to which was
relayed the correct information from the true instruments. Even a trained
helicopter pilot would be convinced that the left side cockpit was fully
operational, unless he or she tried to actually fly the chopper from that side.


The fake panels were hollow within and divided
into padded compartments which Jeff had stocked with tools of their clandestine
trade, including pepper spray, switchblades, nylon rope, plastic restraints and
two fully-loaded Colt .45 M1911A1 pistols with a spare magazine snug in the
elastic pocket on the side of each clip-on holster.


“Nice work, as usual,” praised Cat. “If you’d
get a third pistol, we’ll be all set. I learned from Jonathan that Chris Barry
is in the bank, hopefully now one of the hostages. If he ends up riding with
us, he’ll be even better off if he’s armed.”


“Chris is on this job?” Jeff chuckled. “I kinda
feel sorry for these bank robbers.”


“There were eight of them when this started at ten o’clock,” said Connor. “Chris
has apparently eliminated five so far.”


“Jesus,” Jeff replied, shaking his head. “I’m
sure glad that he’s on our team cuz I’d hate to play against him. Okay, I’ll
stick a gun in the hidey hole in back. Chris will know to check if he has a
chance. One last thing I wanted to show you. These were delivered this morning.
I had actually installed them before you asked for the bird and they might come
in handy.”


He picked up a heavy wrench, climbed into the
rear passenger compartment and wound up, smashing the wrench against the glass
privacy divider behind the pilot’s seat. Nothing happened. He repeated with
another blow to the divider behind the front passenger seat. Still nothing.


“Bullet proof and, as you just saw, wrench
proof,” he announced proudly. “If at any point, you guys think it’s necessary,
just raise the dividers and you’ll be guaranteed safe.”


“Excellent, sweetie. Thank you,” said Cat before
stealing a quick kiss. “I’ll call Jonathan and get going as soon as you get the
extra gun. Wish me luck.”


“Wish you luck?” Jeff laughed as he pulled
another pistol and spare magazine from a locked cabinet. “With you, Jon and
Chris on this, it’s those bank robbers who’ll need luck, and lots of it.”


 


* * * *


 


“Well, it’s been nearly twenty minutes and none
of these idiots have keeled over,” Bull decided. “Let’s eat cuz I’m starving.
Then I’ll check with Leblanc about that chopper cuz I’m getting tired of
waiting. I want us, and that cash, far from here and soon.”


“Do you really think that they’re gonna get us a
chopper?” Juice asked, already with a mouthful of pizza.


‘Damned straight, they’re gonna get us a
chopper,” Bull replied with confidence. “They’d rather do that than get a bunch
of body bags, right?”


“I guess,” Juice shrugged, unconvinced. “It just
seems too easy after everything’s gone wrong like it did.”


“You’ll see, little buddy,” Bull grinned. “We’re
in charge now and once we’re in that helicopter, we’re gone. There ain’t
nothing that’s gonna stop us.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 31 - 12:53 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174893]


 


“The helicopter’s leaving Dorval in a couple of
minutes,” Addley informed Leblanc after snapping his phone shut. “It’ll be at
your headquarters around one.”


“I’ll pass that on but everything is already set
up there,” the captain replied as he pulled his own phone out. “The chopper’s
expected. A spot’s been cleared in the south parking lot and somebody will be
out to direct it. You’re expected as well, of course.”


“Great,” said Jonathan, rising to his feet.
“I’ll head over there and wait for your word.”


“Okay,” Leblanc nodded. “I want to keep these
bastards in there as long as possible to wear them down. Their confidence can’t
be too high with only three out of eight left. Once they’re out and off with
you, it’ll be a whole other game and I still don’t like it.”


“You really don’t have to worry about us,
Captain,” reassured Addley. “Connor, who will be acting as my co-pilot, is a
veteran at this kind of thing and if we also end up with Chris on board, the
odds will be even more in our favour.”


“I admire your confidence, Jonathan,” Leblanc
replied with uncertainty, “But I would definitely prefer having this settled on
the ground with several dozen cops available to assist versus having you up
there, piloting a helicopter no less, while trying to bring this to an
acceptable conclusion. Please understand that this remains my operation.”


“It is your show, Captain,” Jonathan
acknowledged as he stepped down to the pavement, “And I’m here to assist you in
anyway I can with the final goal being to get the remaining hostages freed
without harm and to bring these guys down. We’ll be a minute away, if and when
you need the helicopter. Keep me posted.”


 


* * * *


 


Sparks looked at his vibrating phone and whispered, “Mascouche,” before walking out of
earshot of the hostages.


He returned a few moments later with a smile.
“We’ve got a Cessna Stationair, seats six including the pilot, booked as of two o’clock but I said that we
might be late. That’s not a problem as long as we pay for the extra booking
time.”


“I hope you didn’t give a credit card number for
the reservation,” said Bull as his eyes narrowed.


“Cloned card, Bull,” Sparks shot back. “I wish
you’d stop acting like everyone else is an idiot.”


His phone vibrated again and he stomped off to
take the second call. He was back after a couple of minutes to announce,
“Another six-seater, a Beechcraft Bonanza G36, is reserved at Les Cèdres, same
time, same conditions.”


“Good stuff,” commended Bull. “Sorry for
doubting you before, buddy. You are one of the smarter ones of the crew.”


“One of them?” Sparks grinned. “I’ve got us two planes, ready
and waiting. Where’s your goddamned chopper, buddy?”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 32 - 1:02 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174894]


 


“Good afternoon, Captain,” said Bull, his tone
mocking. “Thanks for lunch. It was delicious and nothing so far makes me think
that you tried to poison us.”


“I’m glad you enjoyed it, Bull,” Leblanc
replied. “And, it wouldn’t have been in my interest to try to poison anybody.
We don’t do things like that.”


“Yeah, right. Whatever,” Bull scoffed. “Now,
back to some unsettled business. Where’s my helicopter?”


“We’re working on that,” said the captain. “My
superiors were reluctant to agree, especially since you shot a hostage, but
they’ve given me the green light to locate an available chopper, which isn’t as
simple as you’d think. It’s not like there’s a ton of places that rent
helicopters in the area.”


“We just checked on the internet, just for fun,”
Bull countered. “By my count, there are more than fifteen businesses in the Montreal area that rent
choppers. We talked about this over an hour and a half ago. Either you found a
chopper or you didn’t. Which one is it, Captain?”


“You have to understand that we can’t force a
commercial helicopter company to participate in a situation like this one, Bull.”
Leblanc argued. “We have to consider the safety of the pilot and of the craft
as well.”


“Are you telling me that we just wasted ninety
minutes?” Bull growled. “Are you saying that you were just stalling and that
you won’t be getting us the helicopter I asked for?”


“No, that’s not what I’m saying,” Leblanc
replied. “We’re negotiating with a couple of charter outfits but this is taking
some time because safety is a definite issue. If I could give them some kind of
guarantee, some kind of show of goodwill on your part, that might really help.”


“What kind of show of goodwill are you
suggesting, Leblanc?” Bull enquired, knowing full well where this was going.


“I’m sure that if you released the hostages,”
Leblanc suggested, “That would go a long way.”


“Once you get a helicopter here, the hostages
will be released, Captain,” Bull responded as if speaking to a child. “In fact,
by this time, they could have already been free. Instead, you’ve been stalling
and now you are putting these people’s lives in danger because you’re really
starting to piss me off.”


“I repeat that I haven’t been stalling, Bull,
nobody has,” Leblanc stated. “You asked for a commercial chopper and we’re
working on it. Once I had the approval, we could have gotten you a police or
military helicopter a lot faster.”


“Sure, like I’d wanna have a cop-pilot in charge
of getting us out of here,” Bull laughed without humour. “That kinda doesn’t
work with my plan cuz I don’t trust you guys, I don’t trust your goodwill. But,
I’ll tell you what, Captain. I’ll do my goodwill thing. I’ll let one hostage go
and I’ll give you until one-thirty to have a chopper here as I asked. That’s my
best offer. One hostage, one-thirty. Get busy, Leblanc.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 33 - 1:07 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174895]


 


“Okay, people,” said Bull as he approached the
hostages. “Listen carefully because I have an announcement to make.”


All eyes turned to him, some reflecting fear,
some, animosity, others hopeful anticipation.


“We’ve been waiting for a helicopter which the
cops promised to us nearly two hours ago,” Bull continued. “I just informed
their captain that I would release one hostage in good faith and that I expect
the chopper to be here at one-thirty. Now, all I have to do is choose the lucky
winner.”


Flanked by Sparks and Juice, he eyed each of the hostages in turn
to finally rest his gaze on Head Customer Service Associate, Sara Bergeron.


“You,” Bull pointed at her. “Get outta here.”


“No,” Sara whispered, shrinking against the
counter behind her as tears started streaming down her cheeks. “Please, no.”


“What do you mean, no?” Bull snorted. “I’m
telling you to get the hell out of here.”


“You called Louise up before and then you shot
her,” Sara sobbed. “I don’t want to die.”


Bull looked at his counterparts and chuckled.
“Do you believe this one? I offer her the chance to get outta here and she says
no and cries about dying.”


Turning back to the group, he looked at Simon
Chase. “You, the mouth. You’re gonna make your yakking useful for once. Help
the lady up and explain to her that she’s free to go.”


Chase stared at Bull for a moment then stifled a
grin as he got to his feet and went to Sara. “Come on. I really don’t think he
will hurt you. Here’s your chance to get out of this so, take it and go.”


Sara looked up at him, took the hand he extended
and rose on shaky legs. “I’m scared, Simon. I think of Louise lying there and
I’m terribly scared.”


“Go on,” Chase urged as he hugged her. “Nobody
is going to hurt you. I just know it. The sooner you go, the sooner you’ll be
free.”


Bull gestured with his chin to Juice then
towards the front door. Her legs still wobbly, Sara slowly moved across the
floor as Juice held her arm with one hand, the ever present pistol in the
other.


“Wait,” Bull called out as they were halfway to
the door.


Sara froze and closed her eyes, as if expecting
to hear the explosion, the gunshot which would end her life. Instead she heard
Bull speaking.


“Captain, the front door will open in about
thirty seconds and one hostage will be coming out. Tell your people not to try
anything stupid and don’t forget, I expect my chopper at one-thirty.”


He closed the phone without waiting for a
response and barked, “What are you waiting for? Get the hell outta here.”


He watched as they reached the door where Juice
unlocked it and stood back. Sara hesitated for a moment, took a deep breath
then yanked the door open and rushed out to the army of cops waiting at the end
of the walkway.


As Juice relocked the door, Bull stomped back to
the hostages where he stood before Chase, glaring down at him. “What the hell
were you smirking about a minute ago, asshole? Were you laughing at me?”


Chase looked up at him and broke into a wide
grin while several other hostages averted their faces or covered them with
their hands to mask their smiles. Ian Howard chanced a glance at Bull and
suddenly let out an uncontrollable snort of laughter, causing others, even Sparks, to lose it as well.


“What the fuck is so funny?” Bull bellowed.


With tears now streaming down his cheeks as he
gazed at the hairy thing hanging on for dear life on its last shred of adhesive
under the robber’s nose, Chase sputtered, “Fix your moustache, Bull, or we
might recognize you.”
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Bull, now fully re-moustached, looked at the
time display on the cell phone then at his watch and muttered to himself in
disgust before placing the call.


“Captain, what the hell are you doing?” he asked
as soon as the connection was made. “I’m making all kinds of goodwill gestures,
making sure the hostages are comfortable, getting them food to eat, I even let
one go free, and you aren’t holding up your end of the bargain.” 


“I still need some time, Bull,” Leblanc
answered. “I promise to get the chopper here as soon as I can.”


“I gave you a hostage like you asked, Captain,”
Bull shot back. “In exchange, you were supposed to supply me with a helicopter
by one-thirty.”


“I asked for more than one hostage,” the captain
contested, “And you dictated the time for the chopper, Bull. I never agreed to
that because I still don’t know exactly when it’ll get here.”


“I still think that you’re jerking me around,
Leblanc, but I’ll give you the benefit of the doubt, for now,” said Bull. “Why
don’t you make a call to find out exactly when the chopper will be here? In the
meantime, I’ll go choose the next hostage who gets to leave. We’ll be talking
again soon, Captain.”


 


* * * *


 


Gina Tomasso had remained speechless with fear
ever since the little man, the one they called Sparks, had ushered her and Leslie out of the
kitchenette at ten that morning. The most communication she had managed since
was to shake her head twice, once when asked if she needed to use the bathroom
and once when Sara and Leslie had tried to coax her to eat a slice of pizza.


She could not understand how the others could
just sit there as the minutes dragged by, one leading to the next, and seem
relatively calm. Some, like Simon Chase and Leslie, maybe, because they strived
on conflict, nothing ever seemed to faze them, but even Annette and Erin didn’t
seem too concerned, under the circumstances


In comparison, she was certain that the terror,
the panic she felt, was slowly ripping bite after ragged bite within her, an
accelerated form of psychological cancer which would actually kill her if this
nightmare did not end soon.


She had almost screamed, in fact, she had tried
to, when Sara had been selected to be set free a little earlier but had found
herself unable to, as if the relentless, evil dread within her had left even
her vocal chords paralysed.


She watched with dead eyes as the head robber,
Bull, closed the phone and approached the hostages once again.


“Here’s the deal,” he announced. “I’m sure,
positive, in fact, that the captain out there is stalling with bringing in the
helicopter he promised me but I’ve decided to give him another hostage, just to
show him the kind of guy I am.”


Gina felt her heart lurch at those words and
prayed, ‘Me! Please! Please choose me!’


As before, Bull scanned the group, his eyes
roaming past the faces, past hers and onwards then back to her.


“How about you?” he asked, his tone almost kind
as he gazed at her.


‘Oh My God,’ thought Gina as she frantically
nodded and scrambled to her feet, almost falling back down in her haste.


“Just wait there for a second,” said Bull as he
pulled his phone back out and placed a call. “Leblanc, just to show you that
I’m a man of my word, I’m sending you another hostage. You tell your guys to
stay back.”


He closed the phone, looked at Gina and smiled.
“Let’s go.”


Juice took a step forward and Bull stopped him.
“I’ll let her out. You keep an eye on our other guests.”


He motioned Gina towards the front door with an
almost gallant gesture then followed her. Once there, he looked through a gap
in the vertical blinds to ensure that the coast was clear then pulled out a key
and unlocked the door.


“Thanks for being so brave,” he said to Gina as he
pulled the door open for her. “Don’t run, just walk.”


She smiled with relief and walked quickly down
the pathway leading to the street crowded with cops and their cars. Bull
watched her go from the partially open door and  when she was ten feet or so down
the path, he raised his gun and shot her twice in the back then closed and
relocked the door.
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Edgar Leblanc’s relief at seeing another hostage
freed turned to horror as he watched the young woman pitch forward a fraction
of a second before the dual gunshots echoed off the surrounding buildings.


Two officers in Kevlar vests hurried to the
prone body while others, similarly clad, rushed towards the bank with arms
drawn to cover their colleagues. The first two officers crouched over the young
woman and seconds later, one looked up and shook his head before they proceeded
to carry her lifeless body away at a run.


“Mother-fucking animal,” Leblanc whispered as he
stared helplessly at the scene from afar, his vision blurring with tears. “You
don’t deserve to live, you goddamned, sick bastard, and I’ll do what it takes
to make sure you don’t.”


 


* * * *


 


Chris, as well as the other hostages, stiffened
at the sound of the gunshots at the front door.


Ian Howard, who was seated on the floor next to
Chris, gasped, “Oh my God,” and buried his face in his hands.


Several others broke into sobs and Simon Chase
muttered something long and unintelligible under his breath which clearly
included a number of vicious expletives.


Chris watched Bull saunter back and thought, ‘I
will be responsible for your death and when it happens, I promise that it will
be horrible and extremely painful.’


 


* * * *


 


“Now, what the fuck did you do that for?” Sparks demanded as Bull
returned. “You really think that killing more people is going to get more
cooperation out of the cops?”


“We have to show them that we mean business,”
Bull snapped back.


“That we mean business?” Sparks questioned. “That we
mean business, you said? You’re the one who’s shooting people, not us. You’ve
lost it, Bull. You’ve gone fucking nuts. We had all agreed, everybody, yourself
included, that the plan was that nobody gets hurt. Worse case scenario was jail
time for attempted robbery if we fucked up somehow. Now, we’re accessory to
murder, you fucking moron.”


“I agree with Sparks, Bull,” Juice voiced in despair. “Are
you just going to kill them all if the chopper doesn’t show up? Then what? The
cops will storm the place and shoot us down, that’s what. We were doing this
for the money but, thanks to you, now we’re dead.”


“You know what your fucking problem is? You guys
have no fucking balls,” Bull muttered as he stomped off further to pace and
think.
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Jonathan was growing restless as he and Cat
waiting by the helicopter at the Laval police headquarters. Leblanc had promised to
call to keep him posted of any developments but he had yet to hear from the man
since he had left the bank almost forty-five minutes earlier.


His phone suddenly chirped and the display
confirmed that the call was indeed from the captain.


“Hi, Edgar. What’s the status over there?”


“They just killed another hostage,” Leblanc
replied, his voice weary. “Bull said he was letting a hostage go and once she
was ten feet out the door, they shot her twice in the back.”


“Aw, Jesus Christ,” Jonathan swore. “Have you
spoken to Bull since?”


“Not yet,” said the captain. “This happened two
minutes ago. I tried to reach him but the call went to voicemail. I’m hoping he
calls me soon. I’m worried now that they’ll just start shooting all the
hostages or worse, decide to detonate that goddamned bomb because I no longer
believe that it’s fake. You should be ready to take off at a moment’s notice
because I’m scared to think of what will happen if I stall them any longer.”


“We’re just a couple of minutes away, Captain.
Just say the word.”


 


* * * *


 


Chris sat quietly amongst the others but his
mind was racing at a furious pace, analysing every bit of information which
might give them an edge against the robbers. He had managed to question Ian
Howard as to the estimate take if the heist was successful and had learned that
the number was a little over two and a half million dollars, all in cash. With
five of the robbers out of the picture permanently, those remaining had a huge
payday to consider as an incentive to finish the job.


The two guys guarding the hostages, Sparks and
Juice, both visibly nervous and unhappy, were in a quiet conversation closer
by, while Bull paced and ruminated further away, near the central counter and
his bomb, the phone in one hand and his gun in the other.


Chris watched as Bull approached and his eyes
were drawn to the murder weapon in the killer’s hand, a nickel finished Colt
Python, identifiable by the characteristic stamp along its four inch barrel; a
.357 six round revolver with mean stopping power.


‘A six-shooter,’ Chris mused as he considered
the events to date. ‘Six shots.’


Leaning slightly towards Ian Howard, he murmured,
“I heard shots earlier when I was hiding upstairs. Did they shoot anyone else
besides the two women?”


Howard shook his head. “Thankfully not. He shot
the cameras out because he thought they might still be feeding images.”


“By he, you mean Bull?” Chris asked.


Howard nodded. “He’s the only one who’s fired a
gun in here. We also heard a couple of shots coming from the back offices
earlier when that one there, Juice, and the black man were back there.”


Chris fell silent as he mulled over this
information. He had heard three shots initially which would have been for the
cameras. Add one for the first victim and two for the second and the total was
six. Had Bull reloaded after the first three or four shots fired? He definitely
had not after shooting the woman minutes ago. Was the man now holding an empty
gun and, if yes, did he, or would he, realize it?


He considered questioning Ian Howard about any
reloading which might have been witnessed but decided against it. With the
snippet of conversation he had heard earlier, he was convinced that someone on
the inside was part of the job. Though Chris doubted it, based on the man’s
reputation and position with the Imperial National, he was taking no chances,
just in case Ian Howard was, in fact, Mister B.
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“This is Leblanc,” the captain said brusquely
into the phone. “Why the hell did you shoot that woman, Bull? She was an
innocent party to this whole thing. She had nothing to do with it and you shot
her dead.”


“Look, I’m sorry about that, Captain,” Bull shot
back just as sharply. “But it’s not like I’m having the best day of my fucking
life and I lost it a bit. If you’d played it straight with me about the
goddamned chopper, she wouldn’t be dead now so it’s not like this is all my
fault. Anyhow, what’s done is done so, enough with the fucking around with shit
we can’t change. Can you give me an answer about when the helicopter will be
here or not?”


“There are two police tow trucks heading for the
rear parking lot to move some cars right now,” Leblanc replied. “In ten
minutes, maybe less, they’ll have cleared a landing spot for the helicopter to
come down.”


“That’s great, Captain but, where’s the
chopper?” Bull insisted.


“Two minutes away,” was Leblanc’s curt reply.


“Finally,” Bull snorted. “I expect to hear the
chopper hovering in two minutes, Captain. Now, since I trust you and your team
as much as I’d trust a rabid Doberman, I’d also like three bullet-proof vests
and helmets to be left at the back door in the next couple of minutes. Last of
all, I want you to pull your guys out there far away, and I mean far. I don’t
want to see them cuz I get claustrophobic when I feel squeezed in by cops and
that makes me antsy. Got it?”


“Loud and clear,” said Leblanc.


He disconnected and immediately placed a call to
Jonathan.


“Our man wants to hear you hovering over the
rear parking lot in two minutes,” announced the captain. “I have tow trucks
clearing you a spot, I’m supplying the robbers with vests and helmets and I’m
pulling my people back.”


“We’re on our way, Captain,” Jonathan replied as
he signalled Cat. “Anything else?”


“Yes, Mister Addley,” Leblanc replied. “This
isn’t the police talking, this is me. Make the sons of bitches pay for what
they’ve done.”
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“They’re moving the cars alright,” Sparks confirmed from the back
door. “And the cops are getting into their cars and pulling out too.”


“And I can hear the chopper, dude. You see,” Bull
laughed. “I told you we’d get our way. Did they bring the vests and helmets?”


“No, not yet. Wait a second,” Sparks replied. “I see a cop
going into the trunk of one car and he just shouted something to another cop.
Yep, the other guy’s bringing over a vest and a helmet and the first one has
two of each out now. Okay, he’s coming over with a couple of other guys
covering him. Yes, vests and helmets are just outside the door now and the cops
are heading back to their cars.”


“Woohoo,” shouted Bull then turned towards the
hostages and looked at Chris. “You did such a great job getting our lunch in
that I’m gonna let you go get that stuff for us too.”


Chris climbed to his feet and made a little show
of stretching as if to get the kinks out of his cramped legs, then started
walking, a little stiffly, towards the back door where Sparks waited.


“Remember, Mister Director,” Bull reminded him
as he went. “Stupid means a bullet.”


“No worries to be had with me,” Chris reassured
the man as he continued.


Sparks unlocked the door and stood back, out of sight,
with his gun trained on Chris who pushed the door open just enough to pull in
the protective equipment. He returned a minute later carrying the Kevlar vests
and helmets and, as he bent down to deposit them on the floor, he let his gaze
casually fall on Bull’s revolver. It was hard to tell for sure, but the quick
glimpse he got of the darkened chambers furthered his belief that the gun had
not been reloaded.


“Thanks for all your help,” Bull gibed as he
gestured with the gun. “You can go back to your seat now.”


Chris joined the seven remaining hostages anew
while the robbers donned the vests and helmets, doing their best to properly
secure the unfamiliar apparel. Once they were done, Bull turned to address the
hostages once more.


“Okay, folks, it looks like our time together is
finally coming to an end. We weren’t planning for it to last as long as it did
and we ran into some unfortunate situations but I’m sure you understand that we
had a job to do. Now, there are seven of you left and I don’t want anyone else
to get hurt. Four of you are going to be free soon but we need three of you to
come with us as insurance until we’re sure that we got away.”


All seven stared back at him in silence for a
moment until Chris spoke up. “I’ll go with you.”


“You, Mister Director?” Bull asked, his tone
mocking. “That’s pretty brave of you for a big-shot businessman. I figured your
type would hide behind the others.”


“Then you don’t know me very well,” Chris
replied as he rose to his feet. “I’ve always believed that a leader should be
at the head of the pack. I’m the most senior bank representative here so I
should go with you. You’ve put these people through more than enough as it is.”


“Nice speech, real touching,” Bull nodded then
yawned. “You almost brought tears to my eyes. Okay, big cheese, you’re in. But,
I said I was taking three people with us so I need two more.”


“I’ll go with you too,” Ian Howard announced
from where he sat, spurred on by Chris’ comments.


“I’m in as well,” said Simon Chase as he started
to stand.


“Sit back down, Mouth,” Bull ordered as he
glared at Chase. “I’ve had enough of your crap and there’s no way in hell
you’re coming with us. I’ll shoot you if I have to.”


Chase stared at him for a moment then slid back
to the floor as he muttered, “Asshole.”


Bull turned his gaze to Ian Howard and smiled.
“I appreciate the offer but I’ve already got my big-shot hostage with Mister
Director here. You should probably stay here and work on improving your fucking
security cuz, frankly, it sucks.”


He let his eyes roam over the four remaining
hostages and stopped on Eric Robillard, the bank’s IT Coordinator. “We’ll need
to get the money bags out so how about you, buddy? You look like a strong,
little fella.”


Robillard glanced briefly at Bull then
wordlessly returned his gaze back to the floor.


“That wasn’t really a question, friend,” Bull
growled. “Get your scrawny ass off the floor cuz you’re coming with us.”


“I’m hurt,” Robillard complained. “I got bashed
in the head by you guys.”


“It’s hardly a scratch,” Bull scoffed. “Get up
now or somebody will have to stick you in a bag to take you outta here.”


Robillard grudgingly rose to his feet and
stepped over to Chris’ side.


“We’re down to the ladies,” said Bull, “But,
what’s a party without ladies?”


He pointed to one of them and said, “You’re
really cute. What’s your name?”


The attractive, slender redhead rose to her feet
and replied in a confident tone. “Leslie Robb.”


“Leslie, I like that,” said Bull. “What do you
do here, Leslie?”


“I’m an accountant,” she replied.


“That’s great,” Bull exclaimed. “Maybe you can
help me count up my share of the dough afterwards.”


“I don’t intend to help you do anything, you son
of a bitch,” Leslie shot back. “You’re an animal. I watched you kill two of my
friends today for no goddamned reason and I hope you’ll suffer for a long time
for what you’ve done.”


“Ouch, feisty too, aren’t ya,” said Bull before
gesturing with his revolver. “Get over with the two others here cuz you are
coming along.”


As Leslie moved over to join Chris and Eric, Sparks called out from the
back door. “Parking lot is clear and the chopper is landing.”


“Finally, things are starting to go according to
plan,” Bull grinned. “Give me a minute to make a phone call. I need to settle
some final details with the captain out there and then we’ll be on our way.”
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In the mobile command post, Captain Edgar
Leblanc had just received confirmation that the helicopter had landed behind the
bank when his phone rang.


“Good afternoon, Captain,” said Bull. “Do you
see how well things go when everyone cooperates?”


“What can I do for you, Bull?” Leblanc asked,
his tone neutral.


“I just want to review the last steps of our
departure plan with you,” replied Bull, “To make sure that we’re all on the
same page so that nobody else gets hurt.”


“There’s no reason for anyone else to get hurt,”
said the captain. “I’m listening.” 


“Good, listen carefully,” Bull started. “First,
I want you to contact the chopper pilot and tell him to turn off the engines,
get out and open all the doors. We’ll want to check him and the chopper to make
sure that there aren’t any weapons anywhere. Once he’s out, we’ll be heading to
the helicopter with three hostages. We’ve got vests and helmets but they don’t
so I strongly advise no sniper attempts. Anyway, if I hear one shot, another
innocent person dies.”


“I understand, Bull,” said Leblanc, “My team has
been ordered back because there’s been enough bloodshed as it is and I want
those people safe. In fact, why do you need the hostages? Why can you let them
go once you’re in the chopper?”


“That’s simple, Leblanc,” Bull replied. “Because
I still don’t fucking trust you. We let the hostages go and the pilot you got
us turns out to be some dare-devil with a suicide wish who crash lands us
somewhere surrounded by cops. The hostages are coming with us and that’s that.
Once I’m satisfied that we’ve gotten away safely, the hostages and the pilot
will be released. Not a minute before. Understand?”


“Understood, Bull. What else?” asked the captain.


“I’ll repeat that if we have any impression that
we’re being followed,” Bull continued, “The hostages will pay for your mistake.
I know you’ll probably be tracking us with some GPS crap and I can’t do
anything about that. In fact, I don’t really give a shit. Just let us get away
and stay the hell away from us and everything will be fine. In the end, it’s
only money and I heard that the bank’s insured so, everybody wins.”


“Except for those two women you killed, Bull,”
the captain interjected.


“Awww, don’t start up with that again,” Bull
replied, his tone annoyed. “What’s done is done, we can’t bring them back and,
anyhow, that really was your fault for screwing around with me. Don’t forget
that five of my crew were killed too. I don’t hear you crying about them.”


Leblanc paused for a moment, regaining his
composure then enquired, “What about the four people you’ll be leaving in the
bank?”


“Once we’re gone, you can go in and let them
out,” said Bull. “The doors will be locked so you’ll have to break in. I’ll be
leaving the bomb that we had with us but your guys should be able to deal with
it well enough. It’s nothing real complicated. I’ll be warning the remaining
hostages to stay away from it. Are we all clear?”


“All clear, Bull,” Leblanc replied in a dejected
tone.


“Good, Captain,” said Bull. “Now, call your
chopper pilot cuz I want to get outta here. It’s been a pleasure doing business
with you, even if we did have our differences. Have a nice day.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 40 - 1:54 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174902]


 


Bull ended the call and slipped the phone into
his jacket pocket as he turned to the hostages.


“We’ll be leaving any minute now,” he said to
Chris, Leslie and Eric, “So you three get those money bags and go join my
colleague by the back door.”


The three of them stepped over to the four bags
where Chris hauled one onto each shoulder while Eric and Leslie picked up the
two remaining before heading to where Sparks waited at the rear entrance.


Bull watched them go as he reached into a
pocket. Pulling out a key, he held it out to Juice and said, “Front door and
the mall door, go snap the keys.”


As Juice went off to jam the locks, Bull turned
to address the four remaining hostages. “I’ll be leaving the bomb here. What
you want to do is just leave it alone and you’ll all be fine. The cops will be
breaking into here once we’re gone to let you out and they’ll have somebody
trained to look after the bomb. Just stay where you are until the cops get in
and everything will work out just fine.”


 


* * * *


 


“Got it, Captain,” said Jonathan. “We’ll take it
from here.”


He ended the call which had been patched through
to his headset and turned to Cat as he started powering down the engines. “Not
surprisingly, they want to check us and the chopper out for weapons before
putting their lives in our hands. We’re shutting down and getting out, all
doors open.”


“Yay,” said Connor with mock enthusiasm. “Let
the fun begin.”


A moment later, as the rotors were slowing to a
stop, both pilots climbed out, and opened the passenger doors on their
respective sides then Cat joined Jonathan on his side of the craft where both
assumed a disciplined at-ease stance to wait for their passengers.
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“Okay, Bull,” Sparks called out. “Chopper’s powered down and
they got the doors open.”


“Adios, friends,” said Bull to the remaining
hostages as he and Juice backed away towards the rear exit, “And, remember,
just stay put and be good or, kaboom.”


As Sparks unlocked the door, Bull glanced out towards the
helicopter and stiffened. “Why the fuck are there two pilots out there? I told
Leblanc that I wanted one pilot.”


“How the hell should I know?” Sparks muttered. “And, what difference
does it make?”


“The difference it makes is that there’s one
more person we don’t know in the mix, you idiot,” Bull snarled. “We don’t even
know who the fuck these people are.”


Sparks turned and brought his face inches from Bull’s.
“Jesus Christ, this is your fucking idea. Did you think they’d find one of our
buddies as the chopper pilot? Were you hoping for someone that we could
goddamned trust? Who the hell is the idiot, Bull?”


“Anyway, if you only want one pilot, Bull,”
Juice spoke up, “Just tell one of them to back off. What’s the big deal? And,
having the second pilot gives us two people who can fly the chopper and an
extra hostage.”


“Okay, okay, enough of this crap. Come on, let’s
go cuz we’ve wasted enough time,” Bull growled and turned to Chris. “You out
first, not too fast, and I’m right behind you so continue being smart. Sparks, you walk behind me
with the chick to your left and Juice next to Sparks with the whiner boy to your right.”


Chris took the lead, pushing the door open and
headed at a modest pace towards the helicopter with the others following close
behind him, Sparks pausing briefly to lock the door and snap the key before
falling into step with the others.


When they were about ten feet from the craft and
pilots, Bull said, “Stop.”


Everyone ceased walking but remained in the
designated formation.


“Why are there two pilots?” Bull demanded. “I
specifically told Leblanc one pilot.”


“Canadian Aviation Regulation one forty two dash seven,” Jonathan
ad-libbed flawlessly. “Any aircraft destined to carry four or more passengers
must have two fully certified and currently licensed pilots on board at all
times.”


“That just doesn’t work well for me,” Bull
replied. “I don’t want to have the second pilot to deal with.”


“I’m sorry if this is an inconvenience to you,
sir,” Jonathan said, maintaining his at-ease stance, “But we will not fly out
of here without both pilots. That would be against the regulations and
whichever pilot was guilty of the offence could lose his or her license for
life.”


“That’s fucking stupid,” Bull argued. “What if I
shoot one of you?”


“Doing so would guarantee that this craft would
stay on the ground,” Cat took that one, her tone just as stoic as Jon’s,
“Regardless of the number of passengers.”


“Listen, it’s not like this is a regular flight
here,” Bull insisted, his temper rising.


Jonathan placed his hands on his hips and
assumed a more commanding stance. “Sir, we were requested by the police to
assist in ending this situation without any further bloodshed by transporting you
and your party out of here to the destination of your choice. Nine other
commercial carrier services have refused to do so. We agreed but we will be
flying according to the rules or not at all.”


“You guys are cops, aren’t you?” Bull
challenged. “I told Leblanc, no fucking cops and the bastard sent me cops.”


“No, we aren’t cops,” Jonathan’s reply was
blunt. “I’m the chief executive officer of HeliPro and this is Cat Connor, our
company president. We’re both licensed pilots and we both fly our customers regularly.
Would you like to see our business cards?”


“Yeah, show me your cards,” Bull demanded, “And
your pilot licenses too.”


Addley and Connor each extracted a small leather
wallet containing their pilot licenses and several business cards and handed
them over to Bull. He examined each of the documents for a moment, unsure of
exactly what he was looking for or what the documents really proved.


“I still don’t trust you,” said Bull as he
handed the wallets back. “Why did you agree to do this when nine others
refused?”


“For one,” Cat started with a slight smile, “We
demanded ten times our usual charter fee. Secondly, as Mister Addley already
mentioned, we wanted to help to avoid anyone else getting hurt.”


“But, aren’t you worried about getting hurt
yourself by doing this?” asked Bull, his aggressiveness being pushed aside by
puzzlement. “We’re armed, we’ve got hostages and we’ve already killed a couple
of people.”


“You killed a couple of people, dude, not us,” Sparks muttered from the back
which Bull ignored.


“As Ms Connor said,” Jonathan explained, “We’re
getting paid a much larger fee than we usually would for a regular charter.
I’ll also mention that we both are ex-military and probably have much more
tolerance to dangerous situations than your average pilot would have.”


“If you guys are armed,” said Bull, raising his
gun, “You better get those pieces out now.”


“Neither of us is armed,” Jon replied, as if
speaking to a child. “We’re commercial pilots.”


“We’re gonna have to frisk you,” Bull informed
them.


“You can frisk me if you want,” replied
Jonathan. “You won’t be touching Ms Connor.”


“Where would you expect me to hide a gun
anyway,” Cat scoffed, turning slowly and drawing attention to her snug fitting
uniform.


“Check him, Juice,” Bull ordered, gesturing towards
Addley.


Juice moved to Jon, aware of his increased
vulnerability for sniper fire but none came. He quickly frisked Addley before
reporting, “He’s clean.”


“Check the chopper,” Bull ordered, “Under the
seats, storage compartments, anywhere that they might have hidden weapons.”


“Be careful not to hit any controls,” Jonathan
growled as the young robber climbed into the open cockpit.


After a couple of minutes of searching, Juice
reported that the helicopter was arms-free as well and Bull ordered the hostages
to put the money in the open luggage compartment then instructed everyone to
board the craft.


“You three get in the seats facing backwards
behind the pilots,” Bull directed the hostages. “I want us to be facing forward
so that we can keep an eye on you and the pilots at the same time.”


The hostages climbed in and settled down with
Eric behind Jonathan, Chris in the middle and Leslie behind Connor. Juice sat
on the right across from Eric with Sparks in the centre and Bull facing Leslie.


“Everybody buckles in, no exceptions,” Addley
barked as he and Connor closed the passenger doors on both sides.


Jonathan and Cat climbed into the cockpit,
closing their doors and buckling up as well before proceeding to power up the
engines. Bull unbuckled his seatbelt, stood up and rapped on the privacy
divider behind Jon with the muzzle of his revolver.


“What is it?” Jon’s voice came through the
intercom.


“Where the hell do I talk?” Bull demanded. “Can
you hear me?”


“The passenger compartment is miked,” Jonathan
explained. “We can hear you. What do you want?”


“I want you both to put these dividers behind
you down,” Bull ordered. “We don’t need any privacy and you certainly don’t
need it either on this ride.”


 


* * * *


 


As soon as he heard the back door locking, Ian
Howard hastened to his feet.


“Quick, get up,” he urged the other three.


“I’m all for stretching my legs,” Simon Chase
replied, “But what’s the big hurry?”


“We can’t get out of here,” Erin Ramsey agreed.
“They jammed the locks and Bull did warn us to stay put.”


“I’m not taking any chances with that bomb,”
explained Howard, “And neither should you.”


“But, h-he said there was no danger if we didn’t
touch it,” said Annette Laurier with fear in her voice as Howard helped her to
her feet.


“He also shot and killed Louise and Gina after
telling us nobody would get hurt,” argued Howard as he pushed open the gate
leading to the opposite side of the customer service counter. “If that bomb
does go off for some reason and we’re here, we’re dead. We’ll be much safer in
the vault.”


“Ian does have a point,” said Chase as he
ushered the two ladies through the gate ahead of him.


“We can also lock ourselves in from the inside,”
continued Howard as he led them quickly down the corridor, “So should those
animals return for some reason, they won’t be able to get to us.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 42 - 2:03 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174904]


 


With the engines running and the rotors turning,
Jonathan pulled the collective lever and the helicopter slowly lifted off the
ground in a vertical direction, as if it was being raised by an invisible
hydraulic lift.


“Woohoo,” Bull exclaimed as he watched the
office tower seated atop the bank seemingly slide downwards as they made their
escape with two point five million dollars in cash.


Reaching into a pocket of his jacket, he pulled
out a small, black plastic box, much like a remote control device for a car
alarm system.


“And now, for the grand finale,” he announced
with a broad smile before pressing a recessed button on the device.


A dull roaring boom was heard as, eighty feet
below, the bomb exploded within the bank, blowing out windows and doors and
sending various debris flying hundreds of feet into the parking lot, damaging
cars as it went.


“What the hell was that?” Cat Connor cried from
the cockpit as Jonathan hovered and turned to get a better view.


“That was me showing that bastard, Leblanc, what
happens when people try to screw with me,” Bull replied with a grin.


“You just killed four more innocent people,”
Chris stated as he stared at Bull. “Why the hell would you do that?”


“I just explained why, Mister Director,” Bull’s
grin vanished. “Don’t you pay attention when someone’s talking? I liked you so
far but don’t start getting on my case cuz you don’t want to get on my bad
side. Got it?”


Chris kept his eyes locked on those of the
killer but refrained from further comment.


“Okay, show’s over,” snarled Bull after a few
seconds. “Get us the hell out of here, Pilot Man.”


 


* * * *


 


Edgar Leblanc watched the helicopter rising away
from the rear parking lot on a monitor, the image generated from a hand-held
cam operated by one of his men on the opposite side of the mall. As the chopper
reached the eighth storey of the office tower above the bank, a deep,
resounding yet muffled detonation was heard followed, quasi instantaneously by
a multitude of windows at the bank and mall blowing outwards in a powerful
storm of broken glass.


“Jesus Fucking Christ,” Leblanc murmured in
horror as he watched dozens of his officers dive for cover behind the barrage
of police cruisers lining the boulevard.


He returned his gaze to the monitor and saw the
camera’s images spanning the back of the bank and adjacent parking lot, now
littered with broken glass, before rising back up to the hovering helicopter.


“Make them pay, Mister Addley,” Leblanc
whispered. “Please make the goddamned bastards pay.”


 


* * * *


 


Simon Chase entered the open vault behind
Annette and Erin and, with Ian Howard’s help, slowly pulled the heavy, twelve
inch thick stainless steel door closed. As he turned the manual lever to
dead-bolt the vault from the inside, they felt, rather than heard the
shock-wave of an explosion.


“Oh my God,” shrieked Annette then turned pale
and sat heavily on the floor.


“It’s okay, dear,” Howard crouched down to
comfort her. “I told you we’d be safe in here. Are you alright?”


She took a deep breath and nodded before
whispering, “You saved our lives, Mister Howard.”


“Yeah, thanks, Ian,” murmured Erin before crouching to hug
him.


“Wow, boss,” muttered Simon, his skin colour
resembling Annette’s. “Am I glad that they didn’t take you for that chopper ride.
I would have waited for the cops out front because I never thought that thing
would go off. Those guys really are evil mother-fuckers.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 43 - 2:05 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174905]


 


“You’re fucking crazy,” Sparks hissed at Bull. “That
bomb wasn’t supposed to explode. That bomb wasn’t designed to explode. There
were no fucking explosives in it.”


“You think that you’re the only smart boy in
this crew, Sparkie?” Bull muttered under his breath. “I decided we needed a
contingency plan, okay? I made a bomb that worked, okay? The cops won’t dare
fuck with us now. They know we mean business.”


“I don’t give a fuck what you think or say,”
Sparks shot back. “Each time you killed someone today, you dug our grave a
little deeper. We are dead, man. They will track us down and they won’t be
taking prisoners. We are dead.”


“You’ll be eating those words later, buddy,”
Bull smirked, “And you’ll be wiping your mouth with hundred dollar bills.”


 


* * * *


 


Chris watched the three bank robbers seated
across from him through veiled eyes. The younger looking one to his left,
Juice, was stone-faced, quiet and so scared that he looked like he might throw
up at any time. The two others, though whispering, were clearly in a heated
discussion, no doubt about the latest blatantly stupid stunt which Bull had
pulled.


They were obviously not organized, running this
job by the seat of their pants with no clear plan of what they intended to do.
Moments earlier, when Jon had enquired as to where he should be flying to, Bull
had replied, “I don’t know yet. Go north for now and I’ll tell you later. Just
get us the hell away from here and stay away from any roads cuz I don’t want
nobody following us.”


It was a shame that so many innocent people had
died with this fiasco of a heist attempt and Bull was definitely the guilty
party in that regards. Though Chris did not feel that this day would be his day
of passing, he knew one thing for sure. If he was to die on this day, he was
taking Bull along with him for the ride.


 


* * * *


 


Though the information they had indicated that
only one explosive device had been brought into the bank, the bomb squad
commander took no chances and sent in an explosives detection robot for a first
sweep before allowing anyone on the team to enter the premises.


“Doesn’t seem to be anything else, chief,” his
tech specialist announced as he studied the data transmission.


“Alright,” replied the commander as he strapped
on his helmet. “Let’s go have a look, boys.”


Five men suited in full, heavy, body armour
followed their commander into the bank and fanned out, all bracing themselves
emotionally to see a variety of bits of body parts, bone and organs strewn
across the bank’s demolished customer service area.


“Any signs of victims?” the commander asked in
his mike after a moment.


A chorus of “Negative,” came back in response.


“Let’s go check the back offices for damage,
bodies or survivors,” ordered the commander. “Maybe, just maybe, they were
smart enough to take shelter in the vault.”


Three of the men headed through a doorway to one
side while the commander and the other two took another doorway on the opposite
side. Though the door had been pretty much destroyed by the blast, damage
beyond it was minimal. They looked into an empty bathroom then went through a
second door into an undisturbed corridor. At the close end, to their left, was
a solid door with a security keypad, probably leading to the service area for
the ATMs. At the far end of the corridor was the heavy stainless steel door
leading to the vault.


The commander approached and kicked the door a
couple of times with his heavy boot. Seconds later, they heard the sliding of a
deadbolt before the door slowly opened, revealing the four survivors of the
blast.


 


* * * *


 


“So, what’s your read on these guys?” Jon asked
Cat. They were speaking in near whispers via their headsets with no worries of
the robbers hearing them over the drone of the engines.


“Dangerous, especially their mouth-piece, but
not too bright,” Cat replied. “I wish we didn’t have the hostages back there.
If it was just us, this thing would be a no-brainer but anything we might try
with the hostages aboard could put their lives in danger.”


“After having seen that bomb go off,” said
Jonathan in agreement, “It’s pretty clear to me that their lives are already in
danger. I might go as far as saying that we might be in danger.”


“Now, you’re pushing, boss.” Connor kidded.
“Seriously, I can’t say that I disagree with you. I doubt Bull intends to let
us walk away when he’s done with our services. Are you coming up with any idea
of a plan?”


“Nothing clear so far except for getting us as
close to the middle of nowhere as fast as possible,” Jon answered. “That’ll
make them more dependent on us and might give us a bargaining chip to get them
to release the hostages.”


“We’ve got Chris,” Cat agreed. “Maybe we can
convince them to dump the two bank employees and keep the big shot.”


“If that happened, I could put this thing on
auto-pilot and take a nap,” Jon chuckled. “Poor bastards wouldn’t know what hit
them. In the meantime, we’re getting further and further away from civilization
which is putting the odds in our favour.”


“If they let us get far enough, we can fake
engine trouble and make an emergency landing,” Cat suggested, “In the middle of
nowhere.”


“That’s a definite possibility as well,”
Jonathan winked as he increased their speed a little more to get them further
from civilization.


 


* * * *


 


Leslie Robb sat quietly in the helicopter,
trying to pin down why she felt as she did. Here she was, a hostage held at
gunpoint and being taken to God knows where by dangerous men, one of whom had
senselessly killed six of her co-workers and yet, she felt no fear. In addition
to feeling strangely calm given the circumstances, the other emotion she knew
was already simmering steadily within her was a rage which would, at some
point, boil over. When that did happen, if there was the slightest chance at
all, she would kill Bull for what he had done and, for some unknown reason, she
not only sensed, but believed that Chris Barry, who sat beside her, was
planning exactly the same thing.


 


* * * *


 


Juice was desperately trying to control the vast
void of terror which was attempting to engulf him and was becoming more
convinced with each passing minute that it was a losing battle. Fear had been
the cause of his jitters as this day had approached, as the heist was being
planned, as it went from discussions around a table at the bar to moving from
the talk to the walk. Fear had consumed him that morning and its volume had
dramatically increased in leaps and bounds throughout the last few hours, first
when the cops showed up, then every time one of the crew had disappeared and
also, each time Bull had executed an innocent victim. However, his earlier fear
had been miniscule compared to the monster that was taking over him now as he
sat in this metal pod hurtling through the sky towards what he was certain was
his death.


 


* * * *


 


Eric Robillard touched the bump on the back of
his head and winced. The bleeding had stopped a while ago and, though he still
had a headache, his thoughts were clear so he was certain he hadn’t suffered a
concussion. He glanced briefly at Juice seated across from him and felt the
urge to stand up and kick the young thug in the head, just to show him what it
felt like. This, however, would serve no purpose at the present time and would
probably simply make a bad situation worse. It was better to wait and hope for
another occasion to seek his revenge, one when he could truly demonstrate his
lack of appreciation for getting slugged in the head with a wrench. His
thoughts turned to the explosion at that bank and he gazed at Bull for a
moment. Though the big, obnoxious bastard had detonated the bomb, which Eric
had not expected, he had also saved Eric’s life by insisting that he be one of
the travelling hostages. Maybe Bull wasn’t quite as bad as he had originally
thought.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 44 - 2:31 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174906]


 


Though the province of Quebec occupies an area of 595,391 square miles or
almost three times the size of France or Texas, the vast majority of
its nearly 7.9 million inhabitants live in the urban areas along the St-Lawrence River between Montreal and Quebec City. As a result, little
travel in distance or time is required to find oneself into extremely rural or
undeveloped country, much of which is heavily wooded and populated almost
exclusively by a variety of fauna.


Bull looked down out the window and was pleased
that all he could see for miles was forest and lakes. The occasional ribbon of
country road didn’t worry him as there was no way that any ground vehicle could
have managed to follow them. He had also been keeping an eye open to the skies
and had not spotted any planes or other choppers which might have been tailing
them.


As he had mentioned to Leblanc, he was well
aware that they were being tracked by radar or some GPS unit in the chopper but
that didn’t bother him. As long as there was a physical distance between them
and the cops, he couldn’t care less if they knew his current longitude and
latitude. Sooner or later, they would switch their method of transportation and
disappear from the grid.


He wasn’t sure yet if they would actually go
back for one of the chartered planes they had reserved. He might decide to have
the helicopter land somewhere where he and the others could get hold of a car
real quick and drive to safety. He still had to think about it but was
confident that an opportunity would eventually arise and that he’d recognize it
when it did.


“Where are we now, Mister Pilot?” he shouted
over the din of the throbbing engines.


“We’re about one hundred kilometres north-east
of where we left from, “Jonathan called back, “Roughly half-way between
Mont-Tremblant and Shawinigan.”


“Okay, that’s good,” Bull replied. “Start
circling slowly back towards the right until we’re heading west towards Montreal.”


“Where exactly are we going?” asked Jonathan.
“Just so you know, our maximum range is about five hundred kilometres so we’ve
used up twenty percent of that.”


“Just keep flying the damned chopper,” ordered
Bull, “And let me worry about where we’re going. I want to be sure that
nobody’s following us and then I’ll decide.”


He leaned forward and looked at Juice who was
seated on the opposite side with a blank expression on his face.


“Ground Control to Major Juice,” he gibed. “You
keeping an eye open on your side, dude? Making sure that the Air Force ain’t
zooming in on us about to blow us out of the sky with a missile?”


Juice turned his head towards Bull and gazed at
him with vacant eyes for a moment. He then turned his head back, brought up the
pistol still clutched in his right hand, slid the barrel into his mouth and
pulled the trigger.
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“Holy fucking Christ,” Bull shouted amidst
gasps, screams and mutterings from the others.


He climbed out of his seat and wrested the
pistol from Juice’s hand, handing it to Sparks before making a futile attempt at checking the
obviously dead man’s pulse.


“What the hell’s going on?” demanded Connor as
she unbuckled herself and turned to look into the rear compartment. “Oh, Jesus,
the kid blew his brains out.”


“And he just created a wonderful opportunity for
mechanical failure. Who knows what that bullet might have hit,” Jon murmured
via the headset. “Get us some weapons out, will you?”


Connor opened the fake instrument panel in front
of her and pulled out the two Colt .45s, passing one over to Jonathan which he
clipped onto his belt behind his back under the jacket he had donned just prior
to take off. Cat did likewise, re-secured the open panel and then nodded to
Addley.


Jon reached under the top instrumentation panel
and flicked a hidden toggle switch, yet another ingenious add-on by their chief
mechanic, Jeff Lloyd. The result was the activation of an intermittent fuel
cut-off system which caused the engines to sporadically buck and sputter as
they ceased to receive the required quantities of kerosene.


Though everyone’s attention in the passenger
compartment was on Juice’s suicide and the related mess, only seconds were
required for all to notice the sudden lurching of the engines.


“What the fuck are you doing?” Bull yelled.
“Don’t start screwing around now cuz I have enough shit to deal with as it is.”


“Shut up and listen,” Cat yelled back at him.
“Did the bullet stay in him or did it go through? Check for a hole in the walls
or ceiling behind him, now.”


Seconds later, Bull called out, “Yeah, there’s a
hole back here. What’s the fucking problem?”


“The bullet must have hit the fuel line,”
Jonathan shouted. “I’m going to have to take us down.”


“Take us down?” Bull cried. “We’re in the middle
of fucking nowhere.”


“You put us here, Mister,” snarled Cat as she glared
back at him, “So sit down, buckle up and shut the fuck up.”


Bull stared at her for a moment, fuming, and
then dropped back into his seat as the helicopter staggered downwards.


“Can’t you at least keep this thing steady?” he
yelled to the cockpit. “You’re gonna make me puke back here.”


“The rotors are slowing down, you idiot,” Connor
screamed. “The engines aren’t getting enough fuel. Do you want to come up here
and fly this damned thing? If not, shut the fuck up and let us concentrate on
what we’re doing.”


Bull fell silent as the chopper continued to
rock and sway in its erratic descent.


 


* * * *


 


Though seemingly concerned, even frightened on
the outside, Chris was actually smiling on the inside as Jonathan ‘struggled’
with the helicopter on his way to making an ‘emergency’ landing. Knowing that
the entire interior of this particular bird was enclosed in a bullet-proof
shell, it was impossible that Juice’s suicide shot had damaged a fuel line or
anything else for that matter, excluding the inside finish.


He had accompanied Jon on many test flights as
Jeff added special features to various choppers in the fleet and, having been
in this particular craft on missions several times in the past, he knew of its
extras, like the fuel cut-off switch, quite well. For example, he was also
certain that there was a handgun waiting for him in a concealed compartment in
the moulded ceiling above him. All he needed was the right opportunity to get
to it, a couple of seconds of distraction during which he could act. He’d been
in similar situations before and the moment always came. He just had to be
patient and wait for it to present itself.
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As they descended, Cat and Jonathan kept their
eyes peeled to the ground below, looking for an appropriate clearing within the
dense forest and hilly terrain.


They didn’t know how the hostages were faring
with the turbulent descent but a few recent glances at the two robbers
indicated that they were turning a little green around the gills.


“There, to the right,” Cat pointed to an open,
rocky tract on the edge of a small stream.


Jon inspected the spot which was well enough
concealed by the surrounding hills and heavy foliage and nodded. “Hang on.”


While maintaining the jerky, rocking motion,
Jonathan suddenly swung the chopper nearly one eighty degrees then back about
ninety, all while dropping about twenty feet.


Bull gagged but managed to choke back before
crying, “Can’t you take it easy? You’re killing me back here.”


“Sorry about that. It’s the turbulent air from
the hills,” Addley shouted, managing to mask a smile. “We’ll be down in a
minute or two.”


He continued to make a show of struggling with
the controls, swinging the helicopter sporadically amidst the trees which
surrounded the clearing and, when they were five feet from the ground, he
brought it down hard, crashing the reinforced skids onto the rocky surface.


“Jesus Christ,” Bull managed to mumble before
covering his mouth with his hand then vomiting through his fingers and onto
himself.


“Oh, gross,” muttered Leslie Robb as she stared
at him in disgust. “What kind of a tough guy are you? Goddamned wuss.”


Bull glared at her then attempted unsuccessfully
to get out of the helicopter as another wave of nausea washed over him.


“Unlock this fucking door,” he screamed.


An audible click was heard and he yanked at the
door handle, propelling himself outside just in time to lose the remainder of
his lunch. Encouraged, however involuntarily, by Bull, Sparks suddenly ejected
himself through the open door and executed a carbon copy of his colleague’s
actions. This led to Eric Robillard pushing open the door on the opposite side
and stumbling to his knees to throw up as well.


Chris hurriedly stood and pressed his hand
against a centre section of the moulded ceiling then released, popping open a
small hidden compartment. As he was about to reach inside, Bull stood up,
having completed his purging activities and turned back towards the helicopter.
Chris quickly pushed the compartment back closed, seeming to simply be
steadying himself with a hand against the ceiling.


“Where the hell do you think you’re going?” Bull
demanded as he wiped his mouth on his sleeve. “Where’d the other guy go?”


“He’s out puking on the other side,” Chris replied.
“I guess the pizza/chopper combo didn’t suit him either.”


“Shut up with the crap,” Bull growled, “And get
your butt back in your seat.”


He stepped through the passenger compartment and
climbed out the other side where he pulled Robillard up by his shirt collar.


“Nobody told you to go anywhere so get back in
the chopper until I tell you otherwise, capisce?”


Shoving Eric back into his seat, Bull then moved
forward to where Jonathan was opening his door while Cat was doing likewise on
the opposite side where Sparks, still green, was
searching his pockets for something to wipe his mouth and teary eyes with.


“Sparks, keep an eye on her,” Bull ordered then
addressed Addley. “You, move around the front and to the other side with your
partner.


Jon glared at him for a few seconds then made
his way to where Connor stood, held at gunpoint by Sparks.


“I don’t like this one bit,” Bull announced as
he stared at Jon. “This really fucks up my plans.”


“Tell your dead buddy in there,” Addley
retorted. “He’s the one who ruptured the fuel line, not me.”


“Never mind him, the goddamned loser,” Bull
snorted. “Can you fix it?”


“I’ll have to see what the damage is before I
can answer that,” said Jonathan. “We don’t have too many tools with us and we
have no parts at all so don’t expect any miracles.”


“Where are your tools?” Bull asked with growing
impatience.


“Baggage compartment,” said Jon, “Other side.”


“I know where it is. Go through here,” Bull shot
back then gestured to the open passenger compartment door before addressing Sparks. “Close this door
behind you and keep an eye on our guests inside. The last thing we need is for
one of them to run off in these fucking woods.”


Cat went first, climbing and stooping as she
walked beneath the low ceiling. Jonathan followed and as he hopped out on the
other side, he felt the muzzle of Bull’s gun press up behind his right ear.


“Up against the chopper, both of you, now,” Bull
hissed, “Arms and legs spread wide.”


Cat and Jonathan glanced at each other then
complied.


“Move an inch and you’re dead,” said Bull as he
relieved them both of the holstered pistols clipped on the back of their belts.
“What the fuck are these?”


“Looks like you caught us,” Jonathan replied.
“How did you know?”


“Looks like you caught us. How did you know?”
Bull mimicked before knocking Jon none to gently on the back of the head with
his gun butt. “Your gun pressed up against your jacket when you climbed in the
chopper, asshole. That’s how I knew. Getting guns was a really stupid move.”


“You’re right,” Jonathan admitted, wincing from
the blow. “But they were just for self protection.”


“Meaning that you’d have killed me if you had
the chance,” Bull scoffed. “Where did you get these from?”


“We had them under our seats,” Addley replied.


“That’s bullshit, Mister Pilot,” Bull
challenged. “Juice checked the chopper before we left. He would have found them
if they were there.”


“Considering that Juice blew his head off a few
minutes ago,” said Jonathan, “Maybe his heart wasn’t really into the job
because the guns were under our seats.”


“Do you have any other tricks hidden up front?”
Bull demanded.


“No, all we had were the guns,” Jon confirmed.


“Yeah, and I’m supposed to take your word for
it, schmuck,” Bull laughed. “Sparks, go check out the cockpit and make sure there’s no weapons
nowhere.”


As Sparks moved up to the cockpit to begin his search,
Bull turned back to the pilots. “Well, it’s too bad cuz these are nice pieces
but say bye-bye to them cuz they’re gone.”


He wound up with one gun and then the other,
holster and all, sending them spinning through the air down the hill and into
the dense forest below them. As an after-thought, he pulled out the Beretta he
had recouped from Juice and heaved it down as well.


“No sense keeping extra guns around since I
can’t trust you fuckers,” he sneered. “Now, fix the goddamned helicopter and
maybe I won’t kill you.”


He turned to Cat and said, “As for you, sit that
cute little butt on the ground right there and stay real still if you don’t
want to end up with a hole in your head.”


Jon bent down, opened the luggage compartment
and extracted a compact tool case after releasing the clamps which held it in
place.


“Where exactly do you think the problem is?”
Bull questioned, starting to consider the wisdom of letting Addley tinker with
the chopper or handle tools for that matter.


“I’ll start by looking in the engine compartment
up here,” Jonathan pointed, “To see where the bullet came through and what is
hit.”


“Hang on a second,” Bull said thoughtfully. “Put
that tool case down here and stand back.”


Jon placed the case on the ground and stepped
back to lean against the helicopter while Bull crouched down, opened the
toolbox and pulled out a claw hammer.


“Perfect,” he said. “We’re gonna save you some
time and trouble, Mister Pilot. Sparks, you wanna come over here?”


“Now what?” asked Sparks as he stepped out of the cockpit to
rejoin them.


“Why don’t you bust that plastic or whatever it
is around that bullet hole?” Bull suggested as he held out the hammer. “Make
the hole big enough so that Mister Pilot can see exactly where that bullet
went.”


Sparks accepted the hammer then frowned as he gazed at
Juice, still buckled in his seat. “We’re going to have to move him out of the
way.”


“So, move him already,” Bull retorted. “He’s not
gonna move by himself.”


“He’s dead, man,” Sparks grimaced. “I don’t deal well with dead.”


“Aww, Jesus,” Bull sighed and turned to Chris.
“Mister Director, pull the body out of there.”


“Where do you want me to put him?” asked Chris
as he rose from his seat.


“Bring him out here,” Bull replied. “We’re gonna
leave him here anyway.”


“You’re going to leave him here?” Chris stared
at Bull in shock. “What kind of funeral is that for a friend? He’s going to end
up being dinner for the animals out here.”


“He wasn’t a friend. He was a spineless moron,”
Bull screamed in frustration as he levelled his revolver at Chris. “Now pull
his fucking body out of there cuz there’s no use lugging dead weight. If you
don’t, we’ll be pulling your body out in a minute.”


While muttering under his breath, Chris proceeded
to unbuckle Juice’s seatbelt then grasped the lapels of the dead man’s
windbreaker and dragged him out of the chopper to lay him on the rocky surface
a few feet away.


“Aww, this is disgusting,” Sparks whined, turning green
again as he looked at where Juice had been seated. “There’s blood and brains
and…”


He bounded out of the helicopter and out of
sight, around the back, where they could hear him retching all over again.


“You guys are all gonna give me a fucking
stroke,” Bull raged. Turning to Chris, he ordered, “Get something to wipe that
crap out so that we can get moving here and don’t fucking argue.”


Chris gazed at him then looked around and went
back to Juice to remove the dead man’s windbreaker.


“He won’t be needing this anyhow,” he commented
to Bull as he climbed back into the passenger compartment and wiped down the
gore as best he could.


Sparks came back from behind the helicopter, breathing
deeply, the hammer still in his hand, and climbed back inside. After pounding
the moulded plastic around the bullet hole a few times, he inserted the claw
into the cracks he’d created and quickly ripped out a jagged hole the size of a
large grapefruit. Exposed beyond was steel plating on which he could see the
slight dent or nick which Juice’s fateful bullet had created.


“Whatever that mechanical problem we had was,”
he announced, “It had nothing to do with that gunshot. We’ve got armour plating
back in here so there’s no way that bullet made it to any fuel line or anything
else.”


Bull gazed at Sparks, then turned to Jonathan and finally to
Leslie Robb who was still seated in the chopper. “You, come here for a minute.”


“What do you want from me?” she challenged,
remaining where she was.


“Come here, now, goddammit,” Bull ordered.
“Don’t make me come and get you.”


She stared back at him defiantly but then rose
from her seat, stepped out of the craft and brought her face inches from his.
“What do you want? You want to kill me, big man? Go ahead. Shoot my fucking
brains out. I’m getting really annoyed with you, you fucking animal, so, just
put me out of my misery.”


Bull laughed then suddenly brought up his left
elbow, intending to crack her on the side of the head. She deftly leaned back,
avoiding the blow, then grasped the outside of his elbow, taking advantage of
his momentum to spin him around before slamming her shoulder into his back,
sending him face first into the open passenger compartment. Bull landed with a
grunt, his chest against the chopper floor, but quickly rolled onto his back, levelling
his revolver at the young lady’s chest as Sparks jumped to his feet, his pistol at the ready.


“You’ve got one minute to fix the chopper,
Mister Pilot,” Bull rasped, getting back on his feet as he attempted to regain
his breath and composure. “If you’re not done when the minute’s up, I’m gonna
grant this bitch her wish and kill her, although, it’s too bad. I was hoping to
have a little fun with her later cuz she’s a hot little thing.”


“In your dreams, you ugly fuck,” Leslie hissed.
“You’ll have to kill me first but you’re probably into that kind of sick crap.”


“You’ll be dead real soon if Pilot Man doesn’t
get his act together,” Bull promised. “Then we’ll see what kinda crap I’m into,
cupcake.”


“Okay, enough, you win,” Jonathan surrendered.
“Leave her alone and let’s get ready to go. We’ll be taking off in a minute.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 47 - 3:02 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174909]


 


“What’s the latest with the helicopter?” Captain
Leblanc asked Rémy Vaillancourt, one of the techs in the mobile command post.


“It took off again a couple of minutes ago from
where it had landed north of St-Gabriel,” the technician replied. He had been
tracking the Bell 427’s GPS unit since
the chopper had left the bank. “It started by heading east but now it’s heading
east south-east. I get the impression it’s tracking a big circle to head back
towards here.”


“Has Addley radioed in?” Leblanc enquired though
he knew the answer.


“Not so far, sir,” Vaillancourt confirmed.


“Which means those fuckers are still in
control,” muttered the captain.


“Also means that the pilots are still alive,
sir,” offered the technician.


“Well, at least one of them,” Leblanc agreed.


“A question, if I may, Captain?” said Vaillancourt.


“Sure, what is it, Rémy?”


“Why didn’t we send a chopper to keep closer
tabs on them?” asked the tech. “Letting a civilian pilot and craft leave with
the robbers and hostages aboard without any visual tracking isn’t standard
operations procedure.”


“The robbers insisted and the pilot agreed,”
Leblanc responded. “Let’s just say that Mister Addley isn’t quite your average
civilian nor is he a standard operations procedure kind of guy, though I
believe that once this is all said and done, the records will show that
everything was done by the book.”


 


* * * *


 


Before getting back in the air, Sparks had completed a
thorough search of the cockpit to ensure that no other hidden weapons existed
while Jonathan stored the tools under Bull’s watchful eye. Bull had also
revised the seating arrangements, with the hostages now occupying the rear seat
facing forward while he and Sparks alternated keeping an eye on their prisoners, both in the
cockpit and in the passenger compartment from the seats behind the pilots.


With both robbers currently half kneeling, half
standing as they looked into the cockpit and out the front windshield, Leslie
Robb, seated to the left, shifted her position slightly and leaned against
Chris in the centre.


“Don’t worry because I didn’t see anything
before,” she whispered as she kept her gaze on Bull and Sparks, “When you tried to get
something out of the ceiling. Your secret is safe with me.”


Chris casually turned his head to his right and
noted that Robillard was hunched forward, his head by the window as he looked
out, his posture no doubt partially due to the dried blood and brain matter
which remained on the back of his seat. Chris turned back towards Leslie,
watching their abductors through veiled eyes.


“That’s good to hear,” Chris murmured, “As there
really was nothing to see.”


“They deserve to die painfully,” breathed Leslie,
“Especially Bull. If I can make that happen or help in any way, I will.”


“You certainly did a good job at demonstrating
that a few minutes ago,” Chris replied. “You handled yourself very well with
Bull back there.”


“If he and his sidekick weren’t armed, he’d be
dead right now,” said Leslie. “And I’m sure that you’ll do the same, or better,
if you have a chance.”


 “Let’s just say that there’s no reason to
worry,” offered Chris. “Everything will be all right when this is over.”


Leslie’s eyes watered and she swallowed then
took a slow, deep breath to regain her composure before whispering a last
comment to Chris. “Things will never be all right again. Gina, the one he shot
outside the bank, was my lover, Mister Barry. So, like I said, if there’s
anything that I can do to help kill these bastards, just say so, and I will.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 48 - 3:11 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174910]


 


Cat sat in her dummy cockpit, well aware of Sparks watching over her
shoulder, obviously intrigued by the variety of controls, gauges, switches,
knobs and buttons on the frontal and overhead instrument panels.


“Pretty impressive, huh?” she said back to him,
inspiration striking her. “Ever been in a chopper before?”


“No, my first time, actually,” Sparks admitted, “But I love
anything that’s technical; computers, machinery, electronics, it’s all awesome
stuff.”


“I’m pretty much into technical myself,” Connor
replied in agreement, “But especially with flying machines. Understanding how
the whole ‘defying gravity’ thing works is what has always fascinated me, since
I was a child.”


“Do you fly planes too?” asked Sparks, relaxing as he got
into the conversation.


“Not for the company,” Cat replied. “We only
have choppers there but I have my own Cessna Skyhawk, a small single engine
baby that’s a blast to fly.”


“I’ve never been up in a small plane either,”
said Sparks, “Jets, a few times,
vacations to all-inclusives in the Dominican Republic and Cuba but no small crafts.”


“Small crafts are where you really get the
feeling of flying,” said Cat, “Especially when you’re the one behind the
controls. I flew CF-18s in the Air Force and that was nearly orgasmic.”


“I-I can imagine,” Sparks stumbled. After all,
the little brunette was cute. “H-have you flown any big jets?”


“I flew a CC-150 Polaris several times while in
the service, “Connor replied. “That’s an Airbus 310 in commercial planes. I
also flew the CC-130 Hercules, which is a big four engine turbo-prop cargo
plane. They are fun to fly but, like I said, the real rush is with smaller craft,
kind of like the flying equivalent of driving a sports car.”


“I really would like to try it some day,”
replied Sparks. “Are the controls the
same in a chopper and a plane?”


“Not quite,” Cat responded, conscious that Jon
was now paying close attention to their conversation. “One thing that is
similar is the anti-torque pedals that we use to steer which are like the
rudder pedals in a plane. Look down here.”


She moved her left leg inward and gestured Sparks closer for a better
view. Rising to a semi-standing position on his seat, Sparks leaned forward,
bringing his head then shoulders and upper torso into the cockpit over Connor.


With strength and speed which would have
surprised anyone, considering her small size, Cat reached up and backwards with
both arms, grabbed hold of Sparks’ jean jacket and yanked his short, slender
frame right over the seat, propelling him face-first into the floor at her
feet. As he struggled in the tight space to try to right himself, she kicked
him once in the head then in the throat, crushing his windpipe.


At that moment, Jon pulled the cyclic back hard,
causing the helicopter to decelerate rapidly as Connor pulled the door release
lever and shoved Sparks against the door with
both feet. Aided by the almost reverse motion of the chopper, the door whipped
open and Sparks was gone, heading in a
soundless freefall to the woods a thousand feet below.


“What the fuck is going on?” Bull yelled as he
was thrown forward against the back of the seat he knelt on, his vision blocked
by the floor to ceiling console between the two pilots.


Jonathan pushed the cyclic quickly forward
again, thrusting the chopper ahead once more and sending a bewildered Bull
crashing backwards onto Eric Robillard. As Bull scrambled to get back up, Chris
slapped both hands around the man’s face from behind and yanked his head back
down against his knee with a resounding crack.


Bull stumbled to the floor on his back, his gun
clattering to Leslie’s feet as Chris pushed himself out of the seat and landed
with both knees on the man’s ribs, producing more audible cracks. Leslie
scrambled for the revolver then stood and kicked at Bull’s head while Eric rose
to his feet and hovered over the melee. Chris got to his feet once again then
dropped one knee into Bull’s solar plexus before punching him a couple of times
in the face, leaving the robber battered, moaning and near unconscious.


Leslie, who now held Bull’s revolver firmly
trained on the bandit’s chest, exclaimed, “Wow, Mister Barry. You really know
how to handle yourself too.”


“It’s always good to stay in shape,” Chris
replied before turning towards the cockpit. “Cat, do we have anything handy to
tie this scumbag up with? Call me crazy but I don’t trust the bastard.”


Connor reached out and handed him a couple of
plastic restraints and within a minute or two, Bull’s ankles and wrists were
bound and he was propped up on the seat behind Addley.


“All done back here, Jon,” Chris called into the
cockpit. “What do you say we head back to town?”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 49 - 3:18 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174911]


 


“Thanks for your help, Leslie,” said Chris. “I’m
really pleased to have you on our side because you really can rise up to the
occasion.”


“I was just trying the hurt the bastard for good
measure,” replied Leslie as she glared at the trussed up, unconscious robber.
“But you didn’t need my help, Mister Barry. He’d be in the same condition even
if I’d just sat there.”


“Minus a couple of kicks to the head,” Chris
grinned. “You’re okay?”


“I’m happy this is over,” she replied with tears
in her eyes. “Yeah, I’m okay, or, I will be. Thanks.”


Chris turned his attention to Robillard. “How
about you, Eric?”


“Uh, yeah, I’m fine,” he answered. “My head
still hurts a bit from when they hit me this morning but I don’t think it’s
serious.”


“We’ll have you checked by a doctor when we get
back,” Chris suggested, “Just to be on the safe side.”


“Sure thing, Mister Barry,” Robillard nodded.
“Thanks.”


“Chris, you might want to be on this call,” Cat
suggested, handing him a headset.


Chris turned to kneel on the seat behind Cat
then donned the headset to participate in the conversation.


“Good afternoon, Ms Connor, Chris,” Leblanc
greeted them. “Jonathan tells me that you’re on your way back from, shall we
say, a successful outing. Congratulations.”


“Thank you, Captain,” said Connor. “We did what
was needed and had a bit of luck on our side.”


“Well, luck or skill,” replied Leblanc, “I’m
happy that none of them got away with it.”


“Were the other hostages injured in the
explosion, Edgar?” asked Jonathan.


“No, they weren’t,” said Leblanc. “Ian Howard
had the good sense to get them into the vault before the bomb exploded so,
they’re shaken but fine. The four of them are waiting for me in a conference
room as we speak. I stepped out to take this call.”


“Have you questioned any of them about Mister
B?” Chris enquired.


“Not yet,” Leblanc replied. “I have someone
doing some background checks and looking into priors for the three men right
now and we’ll proceed with questioning afterwards. Since you’re bringing Bull
back, maybe he’ll be willing to tell us who this Mister B is… Can you excuse me
for a moment? I was just given some preliminary reports about those background
checks.”


They waited as Leblanc reviewed the information
which he had just received and suddenly heard him say, “Oh, fuck.”


“What is it, Edgar?” asked Jon.


“Eric Robillard was suspected for involvement in
several convenience store hold-ups four years ago. There wasn’t enough evidence
to prove he did it so the case never got to court.”


“That skinny little thing?” said Connor. “Do you
really think he’d be our man? Wouldn’t he be doing something about all of this
if he was in on the job?”


“He might just be waiting for the right moment,”
Jonathan suggested. “We still have about thirty minutes to go. You might want
to keep an eye on him, Chris.”


“I guess I should get that gun out after all,”
Chris replied, “Just in case.”


He removed the headset then turned around and
smiled at Leslie as he pressed the hidden ceiling compartment and reached in.
His smile disappeared as he realized that the compartment was empty.


“Looking for this, Mister Barry?” Robillard
grinned from where he sat as he pointed the Beretta 3032 Tomcat at Chris. “I
must say that it’s a nice little piece.”


“Uh, we’ve found our inside man,” Chris called
to Jon and Cat before addressing Eric. “How did you find the gun?”


“I saw you opening the compartment while I was
outside puking,” Robillard replied, his eyes glued to Chris. “Then, I snagged
it while you were beating the crap out of Bull.”


“That was quite clever of you,” Chris nodded,
impressed. “But, why don’t you just give me the gun now. This thing is over and
I don’t want you or anyone else to get hurt.”


“Just shut up and sit down,” ordered Robillard.
“With two point five million dollars at stake, nothing is over.”


“Put the gun down, now,” Leslie commanded from
where she sat to Eric’s far left, her tone loud and firm. She held Bull’s Colt
Python firmly with both hands, the barrel aimed at Eric’s face.


Robillard turned his gaze to her but kept the
small pistol trained on Chris. “That gun was fired six times and never
reloaded, sweetie. Go ahead and pull the trigger if you think I’m
bullshitting.”


“He’s right, Miss Robb,” Chris confirmed as he
sat. 


Robillard turned his gun on Leslie who was
staring at him in rage. “Put that down, now, right there on the seat between
us. I wouldn’t want you to throw it at me and end up dead cuz I’ve always liked
you, Leslie, even if you are a dyke.”


“Go fuck yourself, Eric,” Leslie spat but laid
the gun on the seat.


Robillard took the revolver and stood to tuck it
into his waistband then moved toward the cockpit.


“Enough chit-chat, Mister,” he said to Jon. “Say
bye-bye to the cop cuz we’re not done yet.”


He waited for Jonathan to cut his connection
then continued. “Keep on heading back towards the city but slow down a little
and get us low enough for cell reception. I’ve got some calls to make and then
I’ll tell you where we’re going.”


Reaching into his pants pocket, he pulled out a
key chain on which he had a miniature Swiss Army knife. Crouching down, he cut
the plastic restraint at Bull’s ankles before turning to Chris.


“Lean my buddy here forward,” he ordered. “He
can’t be too comfortable with his hands tied behind his back.”


 


* * * *


 


Captain Leblanc returned to the small conference
room where the four surviving hostages waited, still in shock following the
tumultuous events of the day.


“I’m sorry to keep you waiting,” he apologized
as he resumed his seat at the head of the table. “I guess there’s no harm in
telling you that I went to take a call from the helicopter pilots who flew out
of here with the robbers and hostages earlier. Two of the three remaining
robbers are dead and the last one, Bull, no less, was overpowered by Mister
Barry and is not considered a danger in his current state.”


“That’s excellent news,” exclaimed Simon Chase,
“Though, I wouldn’t have cried to learn that the son of a bitch was dead too.”


The others murmured agreement with Chase’s
comments before Leblanc held up his hand to silence them then continued. “What
is unfortunate is that while I was on the call, one of the hostages, Eric Robillard,
commandeered the helicopter, apparently with the intent to get away with the
money.”


“Eric?” Ian Howard blanched amid gasps from the
Annette and Erin.


“What? That little bastard was in on this?”
Simon Chase snarled.


“It would seem so,” the captain confirmed. “We
thought that there might be someone on the inside involved since the robbers
seemed to have specific information about the security systems and so on.”


“Well, Eric would certainly have been in a
position to cut the cables.” stated Chase, “I hope the little son of a bitch
gets what he deserves.”


“But, it was two of the robbers who came in
early this morning pretending to be technicians for the A/C in the computer
room who cut the cables,” Annette pointed out. “They even attacked Eric.”


“Well, Eric would certainly be the one to book
any computer room maintenance,” Chase argued, “The little bastard must of had
them bash him in the head to make him look innocent.”


“I can’t believe that Eric would have got mixed
up in something like this,” said Erin, shuddering in disgust. “To think how worried I
was for him this morning when I saw he was bleeding.”


“It was obviously staged for our benefit,” Howard
concluded. “I’m simply shocked that Eric would turn to something like this.”


“If it helps you believe it more, Mister
Howard,” Leblanc announced, “Robillard had a run-in with the police about four
years ago. He was suspected for some hold-ups with another man. As bright as
criminals often are, they robbed a convenience store in Robillard’s neighbourhood
which he also frequented as a customer. Although the robbers wore ski-masks,
the store owner recognized his voice but friends subsequently provided Robillard
with an alibi and he was never arrested.”


 “Which would not even have shown up when the
criminal record check was done when he was hired,” Howard sighed. “Captain,
it’s been quite a day and this last bit of news comes as an additional shock to
all of us. Is it necessary to take our statements now or could that be done
later once we’ve had time to get this settled in our heads?”


“Absolutely,” Leblanc agreed, now that Howard
and Chase were off the hook. “We’ve got your coordinates. Why don’t you all go
home and try to relax, get a good night’s sleep and someone will call you to
set appointments in the morning. I would ask, however, that you not discuss
today’s events amongst yourselves and, if at all possible, that you each write
up what you remember of what took place while everything is fresh. And please,
I know that it’s been a very difficult day for all of you but do your best to
enjoy your evening.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 50 - 3:24 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174912]


 


Chris sat in the seat behind Cat, watching Robillard
sitting kitty-corner to him, speaking to someone on his phone in hushed tones
while holding the Beretta in their general direction. Minutes earlier, Robillard
had ordered Leslie to join Chris and the semi-conscious Bull on the rear facing
seats so that he could keep a better eye on them.


As Robillard spoke, he waved the pistol around
occasionally, giving Chris more than one opportunity to see what he had been
trying to determine since the IT coordinator, turned bank robber, had taken
charge. Robillard had yet to disengage the safety on the gun. All Chris needed
was a few seconds to put an end to this circus, once and for all. However, as Robillard
was on the phone, someone else was obviously involved so it was probably best
to wait to find out what their plan was and make sure that nobody got away.


 


* * * *


 


“… Yeah, that big lot where the buildings were
demolished,” said Robillard, “Just a bit west of the new Terrebonne water
station on the 640… I’m not sure how long but it can’t be more than half an
hour… Yeah, that probably makes more sense. Better that you stay out of sight…
Get moving on this now to be sure that I don’t arrive first… Once the chopper
is down, we’ll load up and disappear… I guess there’s no sense leaving anyone
around to blab. I certainly don’t want these bastards to alert the cops about
the location… Hmm, let’s say a hundred K… Okay, each… Yeah, sure, that’s a good
idea. I should have thought of that… Yeah, see you soon.”


 


* * * *


 


Though an openly gay couple and known by the
nicknames of Mouse and Cheese, there was nothing effeminate whatsoever about
Maurice Desrosiers and Christian Chiasson and smart people didn’t even think of
messing with them. Both were serious body-builders, they had met at the gym, in
fact, and, having grown up in the tougher neighbourhoods of Montreal, both were excellent,
street-experienced brawlers.


Their sizes, Mouse at five eleven and two hundred twenty
pounds and Cheese at an even six feet and two hundred forty pounds, coupled
with their well-honed abilities to handle themselves in physical altercations,
made them perfect candidates to work as bouncers, which is what they did. In
addition, they also freelanced, always as a team, when someone in their circle
of acquaintances needed a bit of extra muscle for a job.


Though they worked the six p.m. to three a.m. shift at the Kitty Klub
on Labelle
  Boulevard
in Laval, they generally tended
to head to the strip joint mid-afternoon right after their workout at the gym.
The food was decent and free and the girls loved them both like brothers, or
perhaps, sisters.


As they were enjoying their usual lunch of three
bacon cheeseburgers and a mountain of French
  fries,
Mouse’s phone rang. He looked at the display, answered the call and entered a
conversation which lasted a couple of minutes, though most of the talking was
done by the caller.


Once the conversation was over, he cut the
connection, put his phone on the table and grinned at Cheese. “That was Mistah
B.”


“Oh, yeah? Wha-bout?” asked Cheese through a
mouthful of fries.


“Needs us for maybe an hour or so to run an
errand,” Mouse replied, still smiling like a clam.


“What kind of errand?” Cheese asked with
interest. “Is this about that job they talked about doing?”


“Yep, the job went down today but things got
kinda fucked up,” Mouse chuckled and winked. “So now, Mistah B’s offering us
one hundred K each to help eliminate some problems and play taxi driver and
bodyguard for about an hour.”


“A hundred thousand, each?” Cheese dropped a
bunch of fries on his plate. “That’s what I call sweet. When and where?”


 “Right now,” Mouse replied, standing up. “Some
big old abandoned lot off the 640 in Terrebonne, just west of the pumping
station.”


“Ka-ching, ka-ching,” Cheese smiled, grabbing a
last handful of fries and his remaining cheeseburger as he left the table.
“Let’s go make some money.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 51 - 3:27 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174913]


 


Robillard got up, moved toward the cockpit,
leaned over Bull and addressed Addley. “Head towards Terrebonne.”


“Where in Terrebonne?” Jonathan asked over his
shoulder.


“Somewhere right off the 640. I’ll tell you
exactly where when we get closer,” Eric replied. “Oh, and I need you and the
lady to give me your headsets.”


“Like hell, we will,” Jon refused. “I’m flying a
helicopter and communication is an important part of it.”


“Sorry, buddy, but I don’t want you making quiet
contact with the cops to keep them posted on where we’re going,” Eric insisted.
“So stop arguing and just give me the headsets.”


“Over my dead body,” Jonathan retorted, “And,
trust me, you little shit, I really mean that.”


“Listen here, I’m in charge, so give me the
fucking headsets,” Robillard demanded.


He reached over the seat with his free hand and
was about to yank the headset off of Jonathan when he was suddenly shoved
against the side wall near Bull’s head.


“What the fuck?” he exclaimed, surprised and
enraged.


Regaining his balance, he turned to find Chris
crouching, no more than a couple of feet from him, arms hanging loosely at his
sides, while Leslie had slid over to the corner where Barry had been sitting.


“You want to die, asshole?” Eric threatened,
pressing the Beretta’s barrel against Chris’ chest.


Chris looked down at the gun for a second then
returned his gaze to Robillard and smiled. “Give me your best shot, kiddo.”


Robillard pulled the trigger but nothing
happened. Chris raised both hands and solidly clapped Eric’s ears before
wrenching the gun from his hand. He then smacked Robillard a couple of times in
the face with the gun and followed up with a knee to the groin. When Eric
doubled over, Chris grabbed him by the belt, one-handed and propelled him head
first into the opposite door. Robillard curled up in a foetal position,
retching, as he covered his head with one arm and held his groin with the other
hand.


Chris crouched down over him, recouping the
empty revolver from Robillard’s waistband before leaning in closer to the man’s
ear. “Where are we going, exactly?”


“Fuck you,” Robillard rasped.


“Look out,” Leslie cried as Bull suddenly rolled
forward from his seat and heaved himself at Chris, slamming into his back and
delivering a solid head-butt.


Standing in the crowded space, Leslie grabbed
Bull by the shoulder with one hand and rolled him onto his back before bringing
an elbow down, smashing his nose. As Bull tried to struggle to a seated
position, blood spewing from his broken nose, Leslie brought her hand back, a
hand which held one of her stiletto shoes, and swung down viciously at his
face.


Blood spurted from Bull’s mangled right eye as
he screamed in agony. Slumping to the floor, he began convulsing before passing
out from the pain.


Not yet satisfied, Leslie stomped at his ribs
with her bare heel a couple of times then dead-dropped her knee into his groin
as she muttered, “Die, motherfucker.”


Chris, now angrier than ever, pulled Robillard
to his feet, backhanded him in the mouth then slammed him into the wall. Eric’s
knees buckled and he fell back onto the rear seat.


Chris glanced down at Bull, no danger there
anymore, before turning back to Robillard. “Where is the rendezvous, Eric?”


“I told you to go fuck yourself,” Robillard
spluttered through bleeding, puffy lips.


“You’re a tough little fucker, aren’t you,”
Chris smiled then called out, “Cat, how high are we right now?”


“We’re back up to two thousand feet,” Connor
replied.


“Do you have any more of those plastic ties?”
asked Chris.


Seconds later, Cat handed a couple of restraints
to Leslie while Chris pulled Robillard from the seat before kicking his legs
out from under him. Eric crashed back onto the seat, face-down, where Chris
straddled the young man and jerked his arms behind his back. Seconds later,
Eric’s ankles and wrists were bound and he lay in a pile on the seat where
Chris had thrown him none too gently.


 “Now, Eric,” said Chris, almost kindly. “I want
you to tell me where we’re heading in Terrebonne and who we’re going to meet
there. This is over for you. I don’t see why you’d let anyone else get away
when you’re going to jail for a long time. They like little guys like you in
prison, you know.”


“I told you, fuck you,” Robillard moaned before
spitting out a tooth.


“Okay,” Chris sighed. “I guess that there’s
something to be said about loyalty.”


He stepped over the unconscious Bull to the
cockpit and leaned in to speak to Connor and Addley. “Do the two of you have
any particular attachment to Bull? I’d like to use him as an example.”


“I personally don’t like the man at all,” Cat
replied. “He’s very crude.”


“The bastard did kill two innocent people in
cold blood.” Addley added. “As they say, you reap what you sow.”


“Gotcha,” Chris nodded. “I’d need some more
restraints and a knife, if you have one.”


Connor opened the fake instrumentation panel and
retrieved several more plastic ties as well as a switchblade which she handed
to Chris.


“There’s nothing like having the tools you need
to get the job done right,” said Chris as he turned around to get to work. 


 He crouched down over Bull and checked the
man’s pockets, finding little of interest except for a six bullet re-loader and
a couple of loose rounds which is what he was actually hoping to find. Bringing
the unconscious man’s arms onto his stomach, he quickly bound his wrists
together before heaving him up and back onto the seats.


“I’ll need your help in a minute,” he said to
Leslie as he handed her the other restraints.


“Whatever I can do,” she nodded, her eyes alert
with curiosity.


Looking up at Robillard, he said. “Now, I want
you to watch what I’ll be doing very carefully, Eric. You must pay attention
because it’s very important.”


He leaned over and grabbed Bull by the front of
his jean jacket, pulling him to his feet and propping him against the left side
door, above which was an entry assist handle, much like those found in many
automobiles.


“Okay, Leslie, if you’d raise Bull’s arms up and
loop one of those restraints you have through the one on his wrists and through
this handle.”


Leslie got to the task and a moment later, Bull,
with sagging knees, was suspended from his wrists, his arms above his head.


“This next one may be a little more difficult,”
Chris informed Leslie, “Cuz we’ll be dealing with a live one.”


Leslie nodded again as Chris leaned over and
yanked Robillard from the seat by the ankles and raised his feet towards the
ceiling.


“Hey! What’re you doing?” Eric yelped as he
found himself hanging upside-down.


 “Same thing but by the ankles,” Chris
instructed Leslie, ignoring Robillard’s screams.


Another minute went by and, without too much
difficulty, as Eric was small and bound, they had him hanging from the same
entry assist handle by the ankles.


“I hope that handle is solid enough to support
their weight,” Chris commented.


“W-what are you doing?” Eric demanded, his head
turned sideways and shoulders leaning uncomfortably on the carpeted floor.


“Oh, will you shut up for a minute,” Chris
barked at him as he headed for the opposite sliding door.


He pulled the door open and examined the terrain
below; still heavily wooded. He slid the door shut and glanced down at Robillard
who was watching him very attentively, fear etched on his face.


“That’s good, Eric. Like I said, watch,” Chris
smiled at him before addressing Cat. “You’ll want to record some GPS
coordinates soon.


“I’m on it,” Connor confirmed. “Just say when.”


Chris moved back to the left side door and slid
it completely open. He got down on his knees and pushed Bull’s legs out,
leaving the man dangling outside the craft. Eric screamed as Chris turned to
him, placed his hands against his chest and pushed him out as well, hanging
upside-down.


Crouching down so that Robillard could hear him
in the rushing wind, Chris shouted, “Now comes the important part when you
really have to pay attention, Eric.”


He got back up on his feet and slapped Bull on
the cheek, hoping to revive him. “Can you hear me, Bull?”


The robber moaned something unintelligible, his
head lolling.


“Good enough. This is for the people you killed,
Bull,” said Chris as he pulled out the switchblade and sliced the man’s wrist
restraint.


“Oh my God,” shrieked Robillard as Bull suddenly
rushed past him, his elbow knocking Eric on the chin as he plummeted from the
helicopter.


Chris dropped to his knees and snarled in Eric’s
ear. “Watch him falling.”


After several seconds, Chris pulled Robillard
back into the chopper and slammed the door shut behind him. He pulled out the
switchblade once more and cut the restraint attached to the handle, sending
Eric crashing to the floor. Chris picked him up by his shirt front, threw him
into the corner seat and stared at the whimpering man.


After a moment, he sat next to Robillard and
asked, “Did that frighten you, Eric? I ask that because you pissed in your
pants.”


Still wide-eyed in shock, Robillard looked down
at his crotch then back up at Chris and nodded as tears flowed endlessly down
his battered cheeks.


“Are you still a tough guy who’s going to tell
me to fuck off whenever I ask a question?” Chris enquired.


Robillard shook his head emphatically.


“That’s good, Eric,” Chris smiled. “Talk to me. Now.”


Robillard talked.


 


* * * *


 


“So, what exactly was the fuck-up with the job?”
asked Cheese as they headed north on Autoroute 15 towards Autoroute 640.


“No clue,” Mouse shrugged from behind the wheel.
“All I know is that we meet the helicopter, tie up some loose ends and pick up
the cash and the man.”


“But where the fuck is everybody else?” Cheese
continued, “And I’d heard nothing about using a helicopter.”


“Can’t tell you that either,” Mouse replied. “I
don’t know but we’ll find out.”


“Cuz I’m thinking,” Cheese added, “If this
fucked up bad enough that most everybody’s outta the picture, we might be
taking on a bigger risk than we think. If that’s true, this might be worth more
than a hundred thou each. How much was the take?”


“Once again, sweetie, I have no idea,” Mouse
laughed, “But, don’t you worry your cute little butt. We’ll have the money in
just a bit and, depending on how much it is and what really went down, we might
be in a mighty fine position to up our share.”


“Ka-ching, ka-ching,” Cheese grinned.
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With the combination of a specific destination,
thanks to Robillard’s decision to open up, the Bell 427’s maximum speed of 225 kilometres per hour
put to use and the short distance actually remaining to get there, Jonathan
made it to the rendezvous location in just under six minutes. He set down for
seconds only, just long enough for Chris and Cat to jump out, then quickly
lifted up and away in the direction they had come, staying as low as possible
to remain out of sight.


The lot in question was large, perhaps
twenty-five hundred feet deep and two thousand feet wide, heavily wooded on all
four sides though slightly less at its northern limit along Autoroute 640. Some
industry had existed there in the past but whatever buildings which had once
housed an enterprise had long since been levelled.


Addley had landed as close as possible to the
tree-line at the north-east corner of the lot, close enough in fact that Chris
and Cat had already disappeared amidst the trees before the chopper resumed its
flight. From the air, they had noted the paved lane which led onto the
property, about midway along its northern edge, and they now headed west in the
direction of the road in question, knowing that it would be the point of entry
by the visitors whose arrival they expected shortly.


Though they were careful to keep their progress
as silent as possible as they moved forward, a steady flow of traffic along the
autoroute generated sufficient noise to cover what little sound they made.


They were some two hundred feet or so from the
entrance lane when they heard a vehicle moving along the service road which
paralleled the autoroute. The throb of the engine lessened and a slight squeal
of brakes indicated that the car was slowing. Within a moment, they could hear
the slow hum and crunch of the tires as the automobile approached on the old,
gravel strewn pavement of the lane. Seconds later, they spotted the vehicle
through the trees, a vintage, cherry red Chevy Blazer, circa 1990, back when
such vehicles were huge, with giant tires of the monster truck variety.


“They’re here,” Cat whispered as she and Chris
watched the 4x4 crawl forward then stop.


The occupants, two of them, scanned the
surroundings for a moment before the truck turned into the woods and slowly
made its way between the trees, away from the road and towards Chris and Cat.


“This way,” Chris murmured, gesturing to his
right.


They quickly crawled northward amidst the trees
and bushes and out of their visitors’ field of vision as the truck inched its
way deeper into the woods, its occupants obviously wishing their presence to
remain unknown.


The truck finally came to a halt, some one
hundred feet into the trees from the paved lane and fifty feet or so, directly
south of Cat’s and Chris’ new location. With the driver’s side facing them,
Chris and Cat saw the driver first as he climbed out of the truck and hurried
around to the back where he was joined by his partner.


“Huh, little guys,” Cat muttered, her sarcasm
unmistakable.


“Imagine what they’ll look like close up,” Chris
agreed. “Maybe we should just shoot the bastards.”


“Party pooper,” Cat replied. “Where’s the fun in
that?”


They continued to watch as the two goons
unfolded a camouflage car cover and quickly pulled it over the truck.


“Who says gorillas aren’t smart,” Cat commented.


“They can’t be that smart,” said Chris. “They’re
not armed.”


“What do you call those biceps they’re wearing,
Mister?” Cat laughed.


“Oops, looks like I spoke too fast,” Chris
gestured to where the passenger goon was handing one of two shotguns of the
sawed-off variety to his partner.”


“I guess he takes ‘riding shotgun’ literally,”
Cat murmured.


“They obviously like to play up close and
personal,” Chris replied.


 “Little Eric failed to mention their plan to
leave no witnesses,” said Cat. “So, are we ready?”


“Let’s get this done,” Chris replied as he
pulled out his reactivated phone to inform Jonathan that their guests had
arrived. “It’s time to party.”


 


* * * *


 


“You’re not really a pilot, are you?” Leslie
asked suddenly.


She was now seated in the faux-co-pilot spot up
front with Jonathan, leaving the trussed-up Robillard in the back, alone with
his pain and thoughts.


“I’m definitely a pilot,” Addley grinned. “Do
you think I’m just pretending to fly this thing?”


“That’s not what I mean,” Leslie laughed. “You,
Cat and Chris. You’re not what you’re pretending to be. I saw how Cat pulled
that guy, Sparks, over the seat and
threw him out the helicopter. You reacted in just the right way at just the
right moment so that she could get the door open. You had guns and knives and
tons of those plastic tie things. And the way Chris handled Bull and Eric; he’s
no fancy board member or, if he is, that’s not the only thing he does to keep
himself busy.”


“Yeah, Chris definitely knows how to handle
himself in sticky situations,” Jon replied, “And it seems to me that you helped
him back there, rather well, in fact.”


“Well, I’ve been into martial arts for years
now,” Leslie explained, “Mainly Aikido and Taijutsu. But really, I didn’t do
much back there. Bull was already beat up when I got involved.”


“You reacted well under pressure,” Jon insisted,
“Just like you did when you spun Bull around and tossed him into the chopper
back in the woods. You have a knack, young lady.”


“Well, thank you, but you’re changing the subject,”
said Leslie. “All I was saying was, the three of you obviously know each other
and work together. Just the way you talk to each other, for example, Chris
calls you and Cat by your names. He knows you. Also, he knew there was a gun
back there for him and he knew where it was. All I’m saying is that, uh, I just
really liked what I saw with the kind of work you do.”


“Okay, without going into detail,” Jonathan
replied, “I will confirm that the three of us do, in fact, work for the same
organization which is involved in, uh, let’s call it crime prevention.”


Leslie hesitated for a moment, took a deep
breath and blurted, “I don’t know who I’d have to talk to or what I’d have to
do to work for this organization, Mister Addley, but I would love to do what
you do. There, I said it.”


“I see,” Jonathan replied. “First things first,
we’ll have to discuss today’s events in detail later but, for now, suffice it
to say that anything that you were witness to today stays with you. You speak
of nothing to nobody, ever.”


“I already figured that,” Leslie nodded, “And
you have my word, no matter what happens. I just hope that you can help me get
involved with this organization the three of you work for. I’d appreciate
anything you could do, even if it’s just putting in a good word for me.”


“Well, to be honest with you, I do have some
influence with our organization,” Jon admitted with a smile. “I promise that
we’ll discuss this further in the very near future.”


A signal beeped in his headset, indicating an
incoming call. “Addley… Good, we’re on our way.”


He cut the connection and glanced at Leslie as
he grinned. “Show time.”
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“I think the chopper’s coming,” announced Mouse
before hopping down from where he sat on the hood of the Blazer.


Seconds later, Cheese could also hear the
distinctive whop-whop-whop of an approaching helicopter and both men started
making their way through the trees towards the open lot to get a better view.


“He’s supposed to get the pilot to land close
enough and make everyone get out of the chopper once they’re down,” said Mouse
as they moved closer to the clearing. “Once they’ve pulled the money out, we
head over fast and shoot. Then we grab the cash and head back to the truck.”


“How many?” asked Cheese.


“Four,” Mouse replied. “Two pilots and two
hostages. Two male, two female.”


“Hope nobody hears the shooting,” added Cheese.
“We don’t want to get snagged here.”


“Ain’t nobody gonna hear nothing with the
chopper still going,” Mouse reassured him. “These people think they’ll be
leaving in a minute, that they’re just getting out so he can keep an eye on
them and to help pull out the cash. Pilot won’t shut down the engines.”


As the sound grew louder, coupled with
increasing autoroute noise as end of day traffic increased behind them, Cat and
Chris hurried in a crouched run, keeping the 4x4 between them and the two
thugs. They reached the truck in twenty seconds or so and peered around it.
Both men continued towards the edge of the clearing, getting close enough now
that they too were crouching to avoid being seen by the occupants of the
helicopter when it would appear.


Chris nodded to Cat and, armed with Bull’s now
reloaded Colt Python and a sturdy broken tree limb as an improvised club, headed
off to the left of where the two men were now positioned. Cat, with a small can
of pepper spray in her left hand and the Beretta in her right, took off in a
crouched run on the opposite side.


The helicopter appeared over the trees to the
east and slowed to a hover above the vast lot before starting a gradual descent
a couple of hundred feet beyond Mouse’s and Cheese’s vantage point.


As the chopper’s skids touched the ground,
Cheese sensed, rather than saw or heard, a movement behind him, just slightly
to his right. He turned just in time to get hit full force by a blast of pepper
spray.


“Motherfucker,” he screamed as he clawed at his
eyes with one hand, firing a wild shot in the air before Cat wrenched the rifle
from him and flung it away.


His attention attracted by his partner’s scream
and shotgun blast, Mouse swung around, ready to shoot, but hesitated as Cheese
staggered directly in his line of fire. Leaping into the air, Cat hit the
blinded Cheese in the chest with both feet, sending him crashing into Mouse and
knocking the shotgun from his hands. Ignoring the gun, Mouse scrambled after
Cat as she rolled to her feet, grabbing her jacket as Cheese blindly stumbled
head first into the trunk of a large maple. Cat’s kick to Mouse’s knee seemed
to have little effect as he shook her like a rag doll with one hand while
throwing his other arm back, winding up to throw a punch that would most likely
kill her.


Unfortunately for Mouse, this all coincided with
the precise moment when Chris, the sound of his rushing approach drowned out by
the helicopter, was swinging his club, much like a baseball heavy-hitter, at
the back of Mouse’s head while Cat was bringing up the pepper spray.


The spray hit Mouse a fraction of a second
before the club did, allowing him to utter a loud but short “ARRG…” before
plummeting to the ground.


A few feet away, Cheese lay on his back,
moaning, in a daze and still clutching at his burning eyes. Emulating more a
pro golfer at the driving range this time, Chris swung the club once again,
encouraging the large man to take a nap.


Cat pulled out a handful of plastic restraints
from a jacket pocket and both men were properly secured in no time. While Chris
searched the goons, stripping them of the keys to the 4x4, their cell phones,
spare shotgun shells and a couple of high quality switchblades, Cat ran into
the clearing, giving two thumbs up to Jonathan and the helicopter roared off.


“What should we do with these?” she asked as she
returned carrying the two shotguns in her latex gloved hands.


“Leave them here,” Chris replied. “We’ll call
Jon and let him know so the cops can pick them up when they come by to collect
these boys.”


“Good enough,” Cat agreed as she gave the two
unconscious goons one last look. “These guys were a piece of cake.”


“Yeah,” Chris agreed as they started the short
jog back to the waiting truck. “Back when I signed up with Jon, I had thought
there’d be some challenge in this line of work.”
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The helicopter landed at the Laval Police
Headquarters where Captain Leblanc was waiting with several officers to take
Eric Robillard into custody and recoup the stolen money from the chopper’s
luggage compartment. Jonathan also supplied the captain with a report of the
GPS coordinates of the locations where the bodies of Juice, Sparks and Bull could be
found. The report also identified the loaded firearms which Bull had discarded
following their faked emergency landing up north. Q.P.P. officers had already
been dispatched to pick up Mouse and Cheese and their weapons at the abandoned
lot in Terrebonne.


“I’m happy that this thing is over,” said
Leblanc, “Though it breaks my heart that those two innocent ladies died on my
watch.”


“There was no way that you could prevent that, Edgar,”
Jonathan replied, “At least, the four hostages left at the bank survived.”


“You’re right,” the captain admitted. “It could
have been much worse.”


“On the plus side,” Jon added, “The bastards
responsible for all of this paid for it.”


“Uh, yes, about that,” Leblanc hesitated. “We’ll
have to get statements together about what exactly happened at the bank and
then, up in the helicopter. There will be questions from higher up and from the
press.”


“The short version is simple,” Addley smiled.
“Based on what Chris told us, we already know that the robbers who died at the
bank were killed by one of their own. Our best guess is that he eliminated them
for the money. As for what took place in the helicopter, the three robbers
realized that it was a losing battle and committed suicide. One of them shot
himself and the other two jumped from the chopper.”


Leblanc considered this and nodded. “It does
make sense, doesn’t it? But, who tipped off the police? Surely not the
murdering robber?”


“Of course not, Edgar,” Jonathan laughed. “Chris
did. He called me from the bank and I relayed the information to François
Duguay.”


“Where’s my head,” Leblanc replied with a look
of embarrassment.


“It’s been a pretty long and demanding day for
all of us, Captain,” said Jonathan.  “Why don’t you and I get together tomorrow
to get the paperwork lined up properly? I’ll get the required statements from
Cat, Chris and Miss Robb. If your superiors push for anything until then, have
them give me a call.”


“I appreciate your assistance, Jon,” Leblanc
agreed, “And I thank you and the others for your courageous efforts today. I
believe things would have turned out much worse without your involvement.”


“That’s what we do,” Addley replied. “I’ll give
you a little more input tomorrow about who we are, off the record. I think
you’ve earned it.”


 The captain nodded, turned and headed back to
the building a moment before Chris and Cat turned into the police headquarters
parking lot in the 4x4. Chris pulled up near the helicopter and he and Cat
joined Jonathan and Leslie.


“Before we discuss anything further, now that
Cat and Chris are here,” said Jonathan, looking at Leslie, “I want to repeat
once again, in their presence, that you were witness to events and discussions
today that are not usually destined to the general public.”


“Mister Addley, as I told you earlier when we
talked, I will never share what I saw or heard today with anyone. I would have
killed anyone of those bastards myself if I could have.”


“Jon, keep in mind that Leslie wasn’t just a witness
today. She was involved,” Chris reminded him, “First up north and then, twice
in the helicopter with Bull. When she went at him with her heel, she
practically killed him. I’m sure there was brain damage. She’ll keep this to
herself.”


“You know what we talked about, Mister Addley,”
Leslie added, somewhat angrily. “If I want that to happen, and I do want it to
happen, I know that you have to trust me so why would I do anything to
jeopardize that? This all stays with me the same way the three of you won’t go
blabbing about it to anybody.”


“Don’t get me wrong, Leslie,” Jonathan reassured
her. “I was just making sure that you understood the importance of discretion
as much as we do, okay? It’s a very important factor if we pursue what we’ve
discussed.”


Chris, who knew how Jon could be when he
identified a possible recruit, winked at Cat and said, “Hmm, I wonder what they
discussed?”


Cat smiled and shrugged. “Beats me.”


Leslie and I chatted about some inherent talents
she seems to possess,” Jonathan grinned, “And we intend to discuss those
talents further, okay? Now, moving along, how are we finishing this business?”


“We don’t need an army to attract attention.
I’ll look after it,” Chris replied. “Your car is here so you might as well just
grab it and go.”


Turning to Cat, he smiled, “Always a pleasure to
do business with you, Ms Connor.”


“Likewise, Mister Barry,” she replied as she
curtsied. “You obviously don’t need the chopper so I’ll head on back.”


Jonathan looked at Leslie. “I’ll give you a ride
to wherever you want to go.”


She hesitated then blurted, “Uh, I was wondering
if I could go with Chris, uh, to give him a hand?”


“I don’t know about that, Leslie,” Chris replied
as he glanced at Jonathan.


“I lost Gina today,” said Leslie, her voice
remaining firm while a single tear rolled down her cheek. “And I helped you on
the chopper with Bull and Eric. And Mister Addley and I have been talking.
Please, I need to do this.”


Addley gazed at the young woman for a moment
then turned to Chris. “Are you good with that?”


“That all depends on how deeply the two of you
chatted and discussed things earlier,” said Chris as he eyed Jonathan, “And how
much you trust Leslie.”


“As I mentioned before, I was impressed with how
Leslie handled herself today and we chatted somewhat about the future while you
and Cat were looking after the goons,” Jon replied then turned to Leslie, “And
I trust you.”


“Leslie, are you sure that you want to do this?”
Chris asked. “You might regret this later.”


“I will never regret it. Never,” Leslie replied
with vehemence. “I don’t only want to do this. I need to do this.”


Chris looked from Addley to Leslie and back to
Addley. “In that case, I’m good with that.”


Addley nodded again and said, “Keep me posted,
Chris. And, Leslie, like I told the captain, I’ll be looking after getting a
statement from you and, we do need to talk some more so I’ll be in touch
sometime tomorrow.”
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Though much of the farmland in Laval had been sold and
rezoned for residential and commercial use over the years, some agricultural
areas still existed and Autoroute 440 ended in one such area just west of
Autoroute 13. Some of the farms were still in operation, mainly family affairs,
often co-ops with larger agricultural firms. Other properties had changed
hands, either through sale or passed onto the next generation, to simply become
homes located on vast lots.


Though it had been where she had lived all of
her life, forty-two year old Sara Bergeron had acquired her property by the
latter method, her inheritance when her father, a retired farmer and widower
had passed away several years earlier.


Sara’s mother had lost a battle with breast
cancer when her daughter was thirteen and the young girl had seamlessly taken
over the household chores, cooking and cleaning, while her father operated his
small farm with a few hired hands. She had completed her high school, followed
by college studies in finance and administration after which she had secured
employment with the Imperial National Bank where she remained to this day.


Though she had dated over the years, she had
never been interested in settling down in a traditional man and wife
relationship as she enjoyed her independence and her solitude. This was not to
say that she wasn’t socially or physically active as she had a fairly wide
circle of friends, some platonic, some more intimate, both male and female and
from various walks of life.


Most often when stressed, she preferred being
alone without having anyone to disturb her thoughts as she worked her head
through one problem or another. However, the events of the day at the bank had
been far from minor annoyances, with her witnessing Louise’s cold-blooded
murder inside the bank and then learning of Gina’s death while still amongst
the police following her release.


Since her return to her home, approximately two
hours earlier, she had spent most of her time pacing back and forth while
wringing her hands, stopping occasionally to watch the updates regarding the
bank heist attempt on television or to answer the few phone calls she had
received. Needless to say, she had been shocked when she had seen the live
images of the bank’s windows blowing out, courtesy of modern-day sensationalist
media practices, thinking over and over how she could have been inside the bank
when it had happened. Subsequent knowledge that her four coworkers had
survived, thanks to the quick thinking of Ian Howard, had offered some relief
but the day’s events still left her feeling fragile and ragged. The terrible
day was nearly over now, however, and she was expecting company with whom she’d
be able to share the tragic events and hopefully mould them into something more
rational and positive.


She heard the muffled throb of an engine
outside, accompanied by the crunching of gravel on the long drive leading from
the road to the farmhouse. A quick glance through the lace curtains of the
living room confirmed the arrival of the company she expected. As she made her
way to the side door in the kitchen, guests rarely came in through the front door,
she heard a knock and quickened her pace. She reached the door, yanked it open
and looked upon her guests in silence.


“How are you, Sara,” asked Leslie, her voice
trembling with emotion.


“Leslie, oh my God, you’re okay,” Sara exclaimed
as she embraced her co-worker. “I was so worried about all of you after I was
released.”


“It’s been a hell of a day,” Leslie agreed as
she gestured to Chris. “You remember Mister Barry, I’m sure.”


“Of course, of course,” replied Sara, nodding at
Chris in acknowledgement.


“May we come in?” asked Chris.


“Uh, well, I’m expecting company shortly,” Sara
hesitated, “But, uh, sure, you can come in for a minute or two, I guess.”


They entered, Chris closing the door behind him
then stood in the kitchen without a word, the only sound, the droning of a
television located in another room somewhere.


“I certainly hope to never live through another
experience like today,” Sara spoke after a moment, breaking the uneasy silence.


“Gina’s dead,” said Leslie. “Had you heard of
that?”


“Yes, I was still with the police when it
happened,” Sara replied. “I’m so sorry, Leslie. I know that you and Gina were
very close.”


Another uneasy silence filled the room as Sara
looked from one visitor to the other, suddenly noticing that both wore clear
latex gloves.


“Gina is dead, Sara,” Leslie repeated, her eyes
boring into Bergeron’s.


“Uh, yes, Leslie, y-you just said that,” Sara
uttered with uncertainty. “Uh, w-why are you both wearing those gloves?”


 “Do you know why Gina is dead, Sara?” Leslie
asked as she pulled the Colt Python, Bull’s revolver, from her purse and levelled
it at Bergeron’s chest.


“Leslie, w-what are you doing?” Sara’s eyes went
wide. “Mister Barry, what is going on here?”


“Answer my question, Sara,” Leslie demanded. “Do
you know why Gina is dead?”


“W-well, of course,” Sara replied, her voice
shaky. “Because of that awful man, Bull. He killed Gina, and poor Louise too.
Did the police catch him?”


“Gina, and yes, Louise, are dead because of you,
Sara,” said Leslie.


“B-because of me?” Sara spluttered. “Th-that’s
ridiculous. Why would you say that? Why would you even think that?”


“Have a seat, Sara,” said Chris, gesturing
towards the kitchen table.


“I d-don’t know what you two are trying to pull
here,” Sara retorted, failing her attempt at indignant as she stayed put, “But
either you leave my house this instant or I will call the police.”


Chris smiled at her, not a pleasant smile, and
repeated, “Have a seat, Sara.”


Bergeron stared at him for a few seconds then
took the couple of steps required to reach the nearest chair and sat down.


“Like I told you, I’m expecting guests any
minute,” she stated again. “I don’t know what this is all about but there will
be trouble if you two don’t leave this instant.”


Chris moved to the table and leaned his hands
against the back of the chair to Bergeron’s left while Leslie stayed behind
her, the revolver still aimed.


“There won’t be any guests, Sara,” Chris
informed her. “They can’t get here because, one, as you may have noticed, that’s
their truck that we drove up in and two, they’re currently chatting with either
the Q.P.P. or the Laval police, unless they’re still unconscious or at the
hospital getting treated for probable concussions and pepper spray burns.”


“I-I’m not sure who you’re talking about,” Sara
argued, her tone unconvincing, “But whatever you’re trying to insinuate or
accuse me of, you have no proof of my involvement, of which there is none, of
course.”


“You may very well be right,” Chris nodded. “In
fact, I think you are. For example, your two goons might say something but, on
the other hand, they might just shut up about you and the bank heist and try to
explain why they were in the woods, armed with, most likely unregistered,
sawed-off shotguns, waiting for the chopper to land. Assuming that they have no
past record, they might end up with a suspended sentence for possession of
illegal firearms. Who knows, a smart prosecutor might manage to tie them in to
the heist and offer them a deal if they talk but, let’s assume that they
don’t.”


“Whatever you say,” scoffed Bergeron, gaining
confidence. “I still don’t follow you. What goons? What lot? I have no idea
what you’re talking about.”


“Hang on, I’m not done yet,” said Chris. “Pay
attention and I’m sure you’ll catch on quickly enough. Now, as for the robbers
themselves, they’re all dead. I killed four of them at the bank and the black
guy shot the female by accident after I had caught her, tied her up and locked
her in a filing cabinet. That’s five. Then, the one called Juice blew his own
brains out in the chopper, Sparks was thrown out of the chopper by one of my colleagues from
around fifteen hundred feet and I threw Bull out from about two thousand feet.”


He watched her expression slide from partially
confident to fearful to nauseated as he spoke. “That means there’s nobody left
to tie you to anything except for Eric Robillard and he’s the one who told us
about you. To his credit, he attempted loyalty but, after I beat the crap out
of him and forced him to watch Bull fall from the helicopter, he suddenly
became quite talkative. He told us about the fifty thousand you promised him
for simply showing you which cables needed to be cut in order to deactivate the
security and communication systems.”


“This is ridiculous,” Bergeron interrupted.
“He’s just making this up to lay the blame on me.”


“I really don’t think so, Sara,” Chris
disagreed. “The police have his cell phone and he did call here from the
chopper this afternoon. That’s when he told you he had gained control of the
situation and was willing to split the money with you since you had planned the
whole thing. You told him where to go and sent your big boys to pick him, and
the money, up. You even told him that the pilots, Leslie and I should be
disposed of. I’ll admit that the call wasn’t recorded so you could argue that
you and Eric were talking about anything else except what he told us but, I
wouldn’t believe you.”


“But, it’s still his word against mine,” Sara
scoffed. “I admit that Eric did call here this afternoon and asked me if I was
interested in splitting the stolen money. All I had to do was meet him wherever
the helicopter would be dropping him off. I told him he was crazy and that’s
the end of it.


“Then, why didn’t you call the police after Eric
called you?” asked Chris.


“The police were already involved. What good
would calling them have done?” Sara argued. “This is ludicrous. There is no
evidence against me whatsoever. I would win this in court and if this ever ends
up there, I’ll sue the bank after all my years of loyal service and the two of
you as well for that matter. I’ll have you both arrested. By your own
admission, Mister Barry, you are a killer and now the two of you come in here
and point a gun at me. Why don’t we see how the police react to that?”


“That’s all fine and nice but irrelevant at this
point,” Chris replied. “First of all, as far as the police are concerned, the
killings at the bank were committed just as I explained them to Bull when I
showed up. It’s one of your guys who murdered the others, planning to get more
of the take. Juice shot himself and, as for Bull and Sparks, they committed suicide
by jumping from the chopper. As far as Leslie and I being here, that’s a
non-issue because the police will never know we were here.”


He paused to let Sara comment but was met with
silence. “The problem you’re faced with is this, Sara. We know that you were in
on this. We know that you masterminded the whole thing. Everything that Eric
told us holds together. The heist was your idea. We know that you gathered your
crew at the Kitty Klub over time, which is where you met them and got to know
them. That’s where you’d generally meet with them as you were planning along
the way. That’s even where you got your nickname, Mistah B. It came about from
you being just one of the boys at the strip joint. It’s also where you met the
two monkeys whose truck we drove up in. We know that you called one of them on
his cell phone right after you spoke to Eric because your number is on the
phone’s log. So, Sara, that’s what we know. Unfortunately, what you didn’t know
was that I’d be at the bank today which completely screwed up your plan.”


“That’s a wonderful speech, Mister Barry, but
how does you’re knowing all of this change anything?” Bergeron sneered. “Your
problem is, you still have no evidence except for a couple of phone call
records and, as far as I know, receiving and making phone calls is not
illegal.”


“That’s where all of this becomes your problem,
Sara,” Chris replied, “Because we don’t need any evidence. All we need is to
know.”


“B-but, I don’t understand what you mean by
that,” said Sara, her tone suddenly filled with fear. “What are you going to
do? Torture me until I confess to your satisfaction?”


“No, Sara,” Chris shook his head. “That just
wouldn’t be good enough. What we need is for you to feel remorse for what
you’ve done.”


“Feel remorse for what I’ve done?” Sara stared
at Chris in puzzlement. “You want me to tell you that I feel bad? I still don’t
understand.”


“Perhaps, feel remorse isn’t quite right,” said
Chris, looking her in the eye. “I believe that show remorse is more
appropriate.”


“And what do you expect me to do to show
remorse, Mister Barry,” Sara sneered.


“I expect you to commit suicide, Sara,” said
Chris.


“You’re crazy,” Sara laughed. “If you think that
I’m going to kill myself, you are definitely crazy. I’ll take my chances with
the police. There’s no way this can be pinned on me. Get the hell out of my
house, now.”


She started to rise from her seat but Chris
grabbed her shoulders and pushed her firmly back down.


“Stay where you are, Sara,” he ordered, his tone
like ice. “You are going to commit suicide, just like Bull and Sparks did.”


“Y-you can’t d-do this,” Sara whimpered, her
tear filled eyes pleading to Chris.


He nodded at Leslie who took a step forward and
pressed the muzzle of the Python against Sara’s right temple.


“Because of you, Gina is dead,” she said and
pulled the trigger.


Chris went into a bedroom and returned with a
pillow, one of several spares he’d found in the closet. Taking a phonebook he’d
noticed on the counter, he laid it on a chair and folded the pillow on top of
it. He reached out a latex gloved hand and Leslie handed him the gun from which
he extracted the empty shell and replaced it with a fresh round.


Placing the gun in Sara’s dead right hand, he
pressed the barrel tightly against the pillow and slid his finger over hers on
the trigger.


“She was right-handed, yes?” he asked Leslie.


Yes. Otherwise I’d have shot the bitch on the
left side,” Leslie replied.


He pulled the trigger and let Bergeron’s arm
drop, the Colt still dangling from her index.


“How are you feeling now?” Chris asked, watching
her carefully.


“Sad about Gina,” Leslie replied, meeting his
gaze. “Satisfied that this one paid for what she did, like the others, and
grateful that you and Mister Addley allowed me to participate in delivering
their punishments. How am I supposed to feel?”


“Pretty much like what you just described,” said
Chris, “Which is pretty much how I feel now that the day is over and our job is
done.”


Gathering the pillow and phone book, he turned
back to Leslie and said, “And now, it’s time to get out of here.”







 


 


 


 


Chapter 56 - 4:35 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174918]


 


The 4x4 rolled into the parking lot behind the
Imperial National Bank and slowed to a stop. During the ten minute drive back
from Bergeron’s farmhouse, Chris had called Jonathan and given him an update on
the final chapter of the day’s saga and Addley, through a handful of closed
questions, had enquired as to Leslie Robb’s ‘consulting’ performance. Satisfied
with the results, he had already assigned someone to begin detailed background
verifications to thoroughly investigate the young lady’s past but was already
feeling quite confident that she would prove to be a worthy ‘Discreet
Activities’ candidate. So much so, in fact, that he had made some suggestions
to Chris during their brief conversation regarding Leslie for the coming days.


“Are we just going to leave this truck here?”
Leslie asked as Chris turned off the engine.


“Jon’s looking after it,” Chris replied with a
smile. “Somebody will be picking it up in a few minutes to bring it back to
where Cat and I took it. Presumably, the goons will find it there eventually,
since that’s where they left it.”


He opened the door and climbed out then removed
the clear latex gloves he was wearing, indicating to Leslie to do the same. He
stuffed both pairs into a garbage bag which already contained the pillow and
telephone book. After tossing the bag onto the back seat, he closed the door
using his elbow and Leslie automatically mimicked his action.


“You pick up very easily on what to do, don’t
you?” said Chris in approval.


“Thank you,” Leslie replied, blushing. “We’re
leaving that bag in the truck?”


“Whoever picks up the truck will make the stuff
in the bag vanish as well,” Chris informed her.


“You people have quite a team,” she replied,
hesitated then added, “I told Mister Addley that I want to join your
organization.”


“I’m aware of that,” Chris smiled. “Jonathan
didn’t agree to let you come with me for nothing. You’ve passed the first test
with very high marks. Next will come our getting to know you better and some
training but, after seeing how you reacted to situations today, I share Jon’s
opinion that you should prove to be an excellent asset.”


 “I’ve always been an ‘eye for an eye’ kind of
person,” said Leslie, “And I felt a certain vibe from you and then from Mister
Addley and Cat and I just knew those guys, the robbers, were in for it. When I
saw to what extent, instead of being shocked, I felt, I don’t know, not happy
but, content, satisfied, like I mentioned earlier.”


“I’d like to pursue this conversation, Leslie,”
Chris suggested. “My wife and a couple of friends are waiting for me for
dinner. Why don’t you join us? You and I can chat on the drive home.”


“I’d like that, but I wouldn’t want to be a
bother,” Leslie replied, unaware that this had been suggested by Jonathan as
another step in the recruiting process.


“Nonsense,” said Chris as they slowly strolled
in the direction of his car. “In fact, unless you have plans, why don’t you
spend a long weekend? We have more than enough room plus the pool and the lake.
We can stop at your place so you can grab what you need. After what you’ve been
through today, you could use a break.”


“That’s very generous of you, but I work
tomorrow,” Leslie replied, growing teary, “And there will be arrangements to
make for Gina with her family in Calgary. Gina and I were supposed to go camping this
weekend.”


Chris laid a hand on her shoulder in quiet
consolation then gestured towards the bank where workers were busy cleaning up
debris and boarding up windows under the watchful eye of police and bank
security personnel.


“Nobody is going to be working at the bank
tomorrow, Les,” he said, “And, we do have telephones at our place if you need
to speak to anybody. As I said, after what happened today, and also, looking to
the future, I think a weekend away would do you a world of good.”


“I don’t know,” she murmured. “I don’t want to
impose and I might not be the most cheerful of house guests.”


 “Completely understandable, Leslie, but we’re a
great bunch when it comes to cheering people up,” Chris replied as they reached
his car. “I might also mention that Jonathan and his wife will be showing up on
Saturday so it would be a great opportunity for you to discuss your interest in
working with us in further detail. Last of all, I can’t really take no for an
answer.”


“Okay, you’ve convinced me,” Leslie replied with
a shy smile.


“Well, let’s get going then,” said Chris as he
opened the door for her.







 


 


 


 


Chapter 57 - 4:42 p.m.[bookmark: _Toc350174919]


 


The drive to Leslie’s building, a condo-complex
one block from the bank, had taken less than a minute where she had dashed out
of the car saying, “Give me two minutes, three, max.”


True to her word, she came running back out a
couple of minutes later with small backpack slung over her shoulder which she
tossed on the floor by her feet.


“This is really an awesome car,” she said as she
slid in. “I hope it didn’t get scratched by any of that flying glass.”


“I’ll have a closer look tomorrow but it doesn’t
look like it,” Chris replied as they drove off. “That mini-van parked next to
me took the brunt of the hits. I have the people at VenTech to thank for saving
my car.”


“I guess,” Leslie laughed.


They rode for a moment in silence before Leslie
asked, “Did you let your wife know that you were bringing a guest?”


“Yes, ma’am, I did,” said Chris. “I called her
while you were inside and told her we should be there in about an hour.”


“Where exactly do you live?” Leslie asked as
they took the ramp onto Autoroute 15 and the Lexus rocketed southward.


“Knowlton,” Chris replied, “Right on the lake.
You’ll love it.”


“Knowlton? That’s what, a hundred kilometres
from here?” Leslie exclaimed. “We’ll never make it there in an hour.”


“It’s actually a hundred thirty kilometres,”
Chris grinned, “But traffic is light with all these people on vacation and I
asked Jon to make a call for me so the Q.P.P. will leave us alone. You’re buckled
up, right?”
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Vigilante


Book 1 of the Vigilante
Series


 


Montreal . . . the long, hot
summer of 1996. . . and in the dark of night, moving like a shadowy wraith, a
vigilante prowls the city's streets. The targets of his bloody rampage: the
worst of the worst. . . Murderers. Gangbangers. Rapists. Six months. Sixteen
murders. The harried police are still without a clue . . . until the day they
receive an email from the assassin himself. Lieutenant Dave McCall, head of Montreal's Special Homicide Task
Force, needs help to crack the secrets of the killer's taunting message. He
calls on an expert, Chris Barry, who runs a security firm specializing in
computer communications. Together, McCall and Barry launch a grim quest to
track down a man who preys on predators - an urgent quest to bring this
remorseless killer to justice. But whose justice will prevail: theirs--or the
vigilante's?


 


The Consultant


Book 2 of the Vigilante
Series


 


The
friendly takeover of CSS Inc. leaves computer
executive Chris Barry unemployed, very wealthy and pleased with the situation.
But the hiatus is short-lived. . . As a result of his involvement in the recent
‘Vigilante’ investigation, Barry is approached by Jonathan Addley and invited
to join ‘Discreet Activities’, a government agency of the clandestine variety.
Accepting, he promptly takes on his first assignment under the guise of an IT
consultant, to investigate possible links between a local import business and
the murder of its MIS director. As he discovers the firm is being used to
import narcotics, his cover is blown and things get personal, spurring him to
show that murderers, drug lords, biker gangs and kidnappers are no match for. .
. The Consultant. . .


 


Mind Games


Book 3 of the Vigilante
Series


 


Montreal is plagued by a string
of vicious sex slayings. . . Captain Dave McCall and his Special Homicide Task
Force are in a frustrated frenzy as they try to bring an end to the savage
butchery. . . Assisting officially is noted psychiatrist, Doctor Samuel Bowman
and unofficially, computer genius and multi-millionaire, Chris Barry. . . With
each passing day, McCall works his way closer to the truth. . . Unaware that
they are heading deep into the deadly core of. . . Mind Games. . .


 


The Homeless Killer


Book 4 of the Vigilante
Series


 


The
homeless of Montreal are dying at the hand
of 'Allan', a serial killer set on ridding the city of street people. . . As
the killer taunts the police about the increasing body count, Captain Dave
McCall calls on the services Jonathan Addley and Chris Barry, both operatives
with the government's clandestine 'Discreet Activities' team. . . All while
fighting the city's proposed by-law banning the homeless from downtown parks,
philanthropist and activist, William Enright, joins the law-enforcement crusade
to capture the assassin. . . But will the combined efforts of the law and old
money be sufficient to stop the Homeless Killer?


 


6 Hours 42 Minutes


Book 5 of the Vigilante
Series


 


Though
most of them dabbled in a variety of criminal activities, they weren't
experienced in this particular field and had never been involved in a job like
this before. However, with proper planning, careful organization and the inside
information available to them, they were certain that this bank heist would be
a piece of cake. Ten minutes, in and out, was all it would take and they'd be
sharing 2.5 million dollars. Nothing could go wrong as they had thought of everything.
. .How could they possibly know that a new member of the board was visiting the
bank that morning?How could they know that the new board member was Chris
Barry?


 


Discreet Activities


Book 6 of the Vigilante
Series


 


As
a result of information gathered via electronic surveillance by intelligence
agencies in the U.S. and Canada, a budding terrorist organization, the Army for
Islam or AFI, is suspected of planning an attack, its target possibly NYC,
Burlington, Vermont or even Canada's famed Montreal. . . When four foreign
students from Pakistan with known ties to the AFI's
Montreal cell arrive in the area
on New Year's Eve, Discreet Activities' head, Jonathan Addley, along with Chris
Barry and other DA consultants are more than willing to take on the additional
workload. . . After two of the DA team members die violently in an AFI related
suicide-bombing, the job becomes getting revenge on those responsible for this
Holy War...


 


Femme Fatale


Book 7 of the Vigilante
Series


 


Less than two years
earlier, Leslie Robb, an accountant in her late twenties working for the
Imperial National Bank, had seen her life-partner and co-worker, Gina, shot to
death during a bank heist subsequently foiled in part by Chris Barry,
millionaire and clandestine operative of the government's 'Discreet
Activities'.Taken as a hostage along with Chris by the remaining robbers onto a
helicopter secretly piloted by two 'DA' operatives, including 'DA' head,
Jonathan Addley, Leslie had played an integral role in helping bring the
offenders down. As a result, thanks to her sang froid, sense of moral justice
and martial arts affinities, Leslie left the world of finance to fight crime as
a member of the 'DA' team.Now, Leslie has a new partner in life, Dominique
Petit, a Canadian/French dual citizen who suggests Leslie visit Paris with her
while she is in the City of Lights on business. Less than twenty-four hours
after Leslie arrives, Dominique and her sister, Corinne, disappear, turning
Leslie's vacation into her own business trip of justice and revenge...


 


ASYLUM


 


As
Managing Director of the “Montreal Hospital for the Criminally
Insane”, Doctor Matthew Russell has always put his professional
responsibilities ahead of all else. That is, until he one day realizes he is
losing his wife, Cassidy, and his two children, Stuart and Jennifer. . . With
only his family in mind, Russell takes an adventure-filled, impromptu vacation
of indefinite duration, leaving all else behind and stopping at nothing to show
how much he cares for his loved ones in an effort to win them back. But, will
he succeed . . Or, will it prove to be all too late in the end?
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